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PREF1\CE. 

1'HE preYious numbers of the FAITH-PRO)IOTING SERIES 

have consisted largely of the personal narrath·es of men of 

God living in these days, in which it has been shown how the 

Lord preserves, protects, guides, inspires and directs His ser­

vants in this dispensation, and re,eals His word and will to 

them after the manner and by like methods to those by which 

He manifested himself to the righteous in the ages of the past , 

demonstrating His unchangeab]enE ss and the validity of our 

claim that we are His acknowledged people. " .,.ith feelings of 

intense joy, deep devotion and profound gratitude to Him , the 

previous num hers of this Series have been read by thousands 

of Latter day Saints. This little volume takes a somewhat 

new departure. It treats of a book-a divine record, the t.rue 

story of its disco-very and translation , and of the falsehoods 

that have been invented, nourished and sown broadcast through­

out Christendom to blind men's eyes to its real import. For 

the Book of l\Iormon being true then Joseph Smith is a prophet 

of God and ' 4 l\Iormonism'' is the everlasting gospel of our 

Lord Jesus Christ; but if it were a forgery, as our enemies 

assert, then would all our hopes be Yain and our faith worthle::;s. 

'rhe so-called "Spaulding story" has been for many years 

past the last refuge of those who have undertaken to prove 

that the Book of l\Iormon is not what it claims to be. All 

other hypothesis have long since been committed to limbo as 

too silly, too outrageous or too inconsistent ev-en for a gullable 
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anti- L '~Iormon'' public. In this short treatise we have endeaY­

ored to prove the utter untenability of this theory. ,v e have 

shown that the upholders of this myth are not only at variance 
with each other, but that all their assertions are inconsistent 

with the well-known fact s associated with its discovery; and 

when we proceed further to examine the internal evidence of 

the b)ok we very soon discover that the conglomeration of 
conjectures, guesses, suppositions, etc., of which this "Spauld­

in~ story" is formed is ''as unstab]e as water" and utterly 

unworthy of belief. 

The individual teEitimonies of the three witnesses gathered 

from many authentic sources are an important feature of this 

little work. ,Vith true Latter-day Saints they must inevitably 

be a source of joy and consolation, and none who are hone~t, 

be they '' ~Iormons'' or not, can rise from the perusal of their 
simple statements without realizing a marked effect there­

from . They bear the impress of truth, sincerity and genuine­

ness in every paragraph. 

In conclusion we dedicate th ese pages to God, to IIis people 

and to all who Jove the right, trusting that their mission will 

not be without effect in the spread of His righteousness and 

the disscmin&.tion of His truth. 

SALT LAKE CITY, 

August 7th , 1883. 

G. R. 
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THE MYTH OF THE J\tIANU-

SCRIPT FOUND . 
. . •---

CHAPTER I. 

THE HISTORY OF THE MANUSCRIPT. 

T I~IE and again, at recurring intervals of unequal length, 
the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints is 

assailed with a rehash of the notorious "Spaulding story, ' ' which 
from frequent repetition has become as familiar in the mouths 
of many of the Saints as household words. True, the story in 
its details is not always identical, it is altered, re-arranged, or 
"cooked" to suit the necessities of the story teller, but in its 
essential particulars it remains the same. Its burden is that 
a certain " reverend" gentleman of Conneaut, Ohio, named 
Solomon Spaulding, in the early part of the present century, 
wrote a historical romance which he entitled the " )fanuscript 
Found,'' that in some unexplained and unexplainable way, but 
generally imagined to have be€n through Sidney Rigdon, the 
youthful Joseph Smith obtaine<l access to this manuscript and 
from its scanty pages elaborated'. the Book of l\Iormon, which 
he afterwards palmed upon the world as a divine reYelation. 

This is the substance of the " Spaulding story. " It is a 
frantic effort to prove the Book of l\Iormon a forgery and a 
fraud, for it isvery evident that if the Book of l\Iormon is not 
of God then the whole superstructure of ''l\Iormonism is.of nee 

l 
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cssity a gross imposture, the cruelest of religious deception that 
for many centuries has misled humanity. All other theories 
advanced to prove this record false having long since failed, 
the ''Spaulding story'' is the last and only resort of those who 
oppose the divine mission of Joseph Smit'h, and though many 
a time refuted and proved an impossiblity, yet, it is that 
or nothing; and the malignant hatred of the wicked not per­
mitting the Book of ~Iormon to stand on its own intrinsic 
merits, or be judged by its own internal evidences, this story 
has to be again and again revamped as the last hope of a hope­
less cause which perceives in the triumph of "Mormonism" 
the seal of its own destruction. To consider this story, its 
origination and history, its claims on the credulity of mankind, 
and the weight of evidence for and against it, will be topic of 
the following pages. 

Attention has been drawn and interest created anew in Mr. 
Spaulding and his unpublished romance by the appearance in 
the public prints of articles and affidavits by members of his 
family, in which the story of the "l\Ianuscript Found" is 
given, and efforts made to connect it with the Book of Mor· 
mon. Among the most important of these papers is an affida­
vit of l\irs. McKinstry the daughter of l\lr. Spaulding, which 
gives a history of the manuscript from the time it was written 
until it passed out of the hands of the family. We will first 
draw attention to the various points made by l\Irs. McKinstry 
from her actual knowledge, leaving out those reflections, sup­
positions and vain imaginings in which she indulges when she 
wanders from the path of her actual knowledge; but lest it 
should be asserted that we have not fairly represented her 
statements, we insert the affidavit in full as an appendix to this 
little volume. 

According to ~irs. l\Icl(instry' s affidavit she resided with 
her father, Mr. Solomon Spaulding, at Conneaut, Ohio, in 1812, 
she then being a child in her sixth year. 

About this time her father was very much interested in the 
antiquities of this continent, and wrote a romance on the sub­
ject, which he called the 4 '1\Ianuscript Found," in which she 
believes the names of Mormon, Moroni, Nephi and Lamanite 
appear. 



MANUSCRIPT FOUND. 11 

This was not the only work of ~Ir. Spaulding, he was a 
man of literary tastes and wrote a num her of tales. etc., which 
he was in the habit of reading to his family, to his little 
daughter, now l\Irs. l\lcKinstry, among the rest. 

From Conneaut the family remo,ed to Pittsburg, Pennsyl~ 
vania, where they had a friend named Patterson, a bookseller. 
To this gentleman, her mother states, the "}Ianuscript Found'' 
was loaned and by him read, admired and returned to the 
author. 

The stay of the family in Pittsburg was very brief, for they 
shortly removed to A1nity, Pennsylvania, where )Ir. Spaulding 
died in 1816. Immediately afterwards she and her widowed 
mother paid a visit to the latter's brother ~Ir. ,villiam H. 
Sabine, at Onondaga ,r alley, Onondaga Co., Xew York. A 
trunk containing all the writings of the deceased clergyman 
was taken with them and in this trunk was the " ~Ianuscript 
Found.'' " 'hile here }Irs. )lcI{instry saw and handled the 
manuscript and describes it as closely written and about an 
inch thick. 

Afterwards her mother went to reside with her father (l\Irs. 
l\IcKinstry' s grandfather) at Pomfret, Connecticut, but she did 
not take the trunk of manuscript with her. In 1820 she again 
married and became the wife of a i\Ir. Davison, of Hard­
wicks, near Coopertown, New York. After her marriage she 
sent for her things left at her brother's, among the rest the 
old trunk of manuscript. These reached her in safety. 

In 1828, l\Irs. ~Icl{instry was herself married, and resided 
in Monson, Hampton Co., )lass. 1/ ery soon after her 
marriage her mother joined her there, and was with her most 
of the time until the latter' s death, which took place in 
1844. 

Mrs. Davison when she went to reside with her daughter 
left the trunk of manuscript at Hardwicks, in care of nir 
Jerome Clark. · 

In 1834, one Hurlburt visited her. He bore a letter from 
her brother, l\Ir. Sabine, and requested the loan of the ")Ian­
uscript Found. '' She reluctantly gave him a letter addressed 
to l\Ir. Clark~ at Hard wicks, to deliver him the manuscript; 
Hurlburt having made repeated promises to retnrn it. 
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The family afterwards heard that Hurlburt received the 
manuscript from l\Ir. Clark, but from that time the Spauld­
ing family never again had it in their possession, though they 
tepeatedly wrote to Hurlburt about tbe matter. 

In the above we have the history of the notorious manu­
script from the time it was written until it fell into the hands 
of D. P. Hurlburt, who was the first man who endeavored to 
connect it with the Book of )formon. Its history may be 
thus summed up: 

Written in 1812 at Conneaut, Ohio. 
Taken to Pittsburg shortly after. (1814.) 
Thence to Amity, where it was in the possession of its 

author when he died in 1816. 

In 1816 taken to Onondaga Valley, New York. 
In 1820 removed to Hardwicks, New York, where it 

remained until 1834, when it was handed to Hurlburt. 

Here we have an unbroken history of its wanderings until 
years after the Book of l\1ormon was published. 

How then is it presumed that Joseph Smith obtained pos­
session of it? 'fhis is an unanswered question. \Vas Joseph 
in any of those places at the time the manuscript was there? 
No, there is not the least proof that he ever was, all the testi­
mony and evidence is directly to ·the contrary. Was Sidney 
Rigdon ever in these places? Not at the same time as the 
"l\Ianuscript Found," as we shall presently ~how. 

The Prophet .Joseph Smith was born in ·v ermont, Decem­
ber 23rd, 1805, and was consequently in his sixth year when 
the romance was written. He was only fifteen when it was 
taken to Hardwicks.. It would be preposterous to imagine 
that before that age any such labor as the changing of the 
"Manuscript Found" into the Book of ~Iormon could be 
accomplished by one so young, so inexperienced, and withal 
so ignorant. For all admit, both friend and foe, that his 
education at that time was very limited. In 1820, he received 
his first vision , and began his prophetic work, being then a 
resident of )1anchester, New York. 

In 1823 he still resided with his parents at l\Ianchester, and 
it was in that year that he first began bearing testimony with 
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regard to the coming forth of what we now call the Book of 
~f ormon, and that he had seen the plates from which it 
would be translate<l. l\lanchester is from 80 to 100 miles from 
Hardwicks in a direct line, and in the last-named place the 
"Manuscript" still remained hidden in an old trunk in a 
garret, no one knowing or expecting tha.t recourse would be 
had to it for such a base purpose. 

Joseph continued to live with his father's family. It is 
not until 1825, that we have any account of his leaving home 
for any length of time; until then, when not employed on 
the farm, he hired out by the day to his neighbors in l\Ian­
chester and vicinity. 

---- ..... - ~ ·--+41~----• 

CHAPTER II. 

THE ORIGINATOR OF THE SPAULDING 
STORY. 

DOCTOR PHILASTUS HURLBURT was the origina­
tor or inventor of the ''Spaulding Story." 

He was not a doctor by profession, but his mother ga,e 
him that name beoouse he was the seventh son, a very com­
mon custon1 in some parts at the time he was born. 

Those who adopt his fabrication with regard to the author­
ship of the Book of :\Iormon would have people believe that 
he really was a doctor. It gives an air of respectability to 
their tale, and tends to make the public think that he must 
have been a man of good education, though be really was 
not. 

We will now give some statements with regard to his life, 
and the causes that led to the invention of the desperate lie, 
regarding the Book of l\Iormon, which has tended to deceive 
so many people. These statements are, for the most part, 
abridged from the writings of one who was intimately 
~cquainte4 wit~ him. · 
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Hurlburt embraced the gospel in 1832. Previous to this he 
had been a local preacher in the }lethodist church, but had 
been expelled therefrom for unchaste conduct. Soon after 
his baptism he went to Kirtla11d, where he was ordained an 
Elder. In the Spring of 1833, he labored and preached in 
Pennsylvania. Here his self-importance, pride and other 
undesirable traits of conduct soon shook the confidence of the 
members of the Church in him as a man of God; and before 
long his unvirtuous habits were so plainly manifested that he 
was cast off from the Church, and his license taken from him 
by the conference. 

Some may here ask, '~How is it that men who leave the 
Church of Christ and come out in opposition to its truths are 
so often proven to have previously been men of immoral 
lives?" The answer is plain and simple: pure, honest, virtu­
ous men do not apostatize and turn against the pri1miples of 
the gospel. They remain faithful. But men who have been 
wicked, and who do not sincerely repent when they enter the 
Church, though they may profess to do so, are very apt to 
turn aside and fight against God's cause. It is for this reason 
that so many men of Hurlburt's stamp have, unfortunately 
for them, been proven to have led very wicked lives before 
their baptism. Had their repentance been sincere, their after 
lives would have been different. 

II urlburt went to J(irtland, t'he seat of the government of 
the Church, and appealed to the general conference. His 
case was there reconsidered, and because of his confession and 
apparent repentance his license was restored to him. 

On his way back to Pennsylvania he stopped in Ohio. 
There he attempted to seduce a young lady, but his design 
was frustrated. For this crime he was expelled from the 
Church. Finding he would be tolerated by the Saints no 
}onger, he determined to be revenge<l by injuring them to the 
utmost extent of his power. He went to Springfield, Penn­
sylvania, and commenced to preach against "l\iormonism." 
Here he was received with open arms by those who were vainly 

• 
endeavoring to stay the progress of God's work in that regfon, 
and churches, chapels and meeting houses were 9rowded ~o 
bear him.. 
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He was now dubbed the Rev. l\Ir. Hurlburt, and was 
petted and patronized by priest and people ; but for all that 
he did very little in staying the progress of the truth. As 
an anti- ' 'l\lormon" lecturer he was a failure. 

During his stay in Pennsylvania, Hurlburt formed many 
acquaintances, and mingled with all sorts of people. While 
in a small settlement called J ackson, be became familiar with 
a family of the same name, (possibly the persons who had 
given the name to the settlement). Some of this family had 
been acquainted with the now widely-known ~Ir. Solomon 
Spaulding, and from them H urlburt learned that that gentle­
man had once written a romance called the ' 1l\Ianuscript 
Found," which professed to recount the history of the ancient 
inhabitants of this continent. 

Hurlburt had now given himself up to the work of oppos­
ing "Mormonism." He quickly perceived that th is romance 
could be used as a weapon to carry on the warfare. If he 
could obtain possession of it and find any points in common 
between it and the Book of ~lormon he could exaggerate 
those seeming resemblances and falsify other statements. If 
he found no agreement between the two he could contrive to 
have the ~ '~Ianuscript Found'' accidentally (?) destroyed and 
then claim that its contents were alm.ost ident ical with the 
record of Mormon. He found it necessary to pursue the 
latter course. 

In carrying out his design he repaired to K irtland, and 
there made an appointment to deli"er a lecture, calling upon 
all who were opposed to ''lllormonism" to attend. They did 
so in force. At this lecture Hurlburt told his audience that 
in his travels in the State of Pennsylvania, lecturing against 
"Mormonism," he had learned that one :\Ir. Spaulding had 
written a romance, and the probability was that it had by 
some means fallen into the hands of Sidney Rigdon, and that 
he had transformed it into the B ook of ~Iormon. Hurlburt 
further stated that he intended to write a book, and call it 
"Mormonism Unveiled," in which he would reveal the whole 
secret. 

His anti-"Mormon" hearers were delighted. One mobo-
crat, a Campbellite, advanced the sum of $300 towards 
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the prosecution of the work. Others contributed for the 
same purpose, and Hurlburt, beiug thus provided with funds, 
at once proceeded to hunt up the manuscript. 

With this view he journeyed to New Salem or Conneaut 
Ohio, the p]ace where l\Ir. Spaulding formerly resided. 
There he called a meeting and made known his intentions. 
His harangues created quite a stir. He told the same story 
a bout the manuscript and Sidney Rigdon that he had told in 
I(irtland. The idea was new to his hearers, but as it was 
something which was to destroy ''l\formonism," they did not 
object to it, and some helped him with more money. He was 
here advised to visit l\Irs. Davison, formerly the wife of Mr. 
Spaulding, who now resided at l\Ionson, l\Iassachusetts. This 
he determined to do. 

It should here be mentioned that. the gospel had already 
been preached with considerable success in the neighborhood 
of New Salem ; and though it was the place where the 
"Manuscript Found'' was written, the Spaulding story was 
never dreamed of there until Hurlburt mentioned it. But 
it was too good a thing for those who bad rejected the truth 
to ~et pass. It afforded them some slight excuse for not 
receiving the doctrines of ''Mormonism.'' Such persons 
clutehed at it eagerly, as drowning men are said to grasp at 
straws. Nevertheless the work of the Lord did not stand still 
iu those parts. NumQer~ were afterwards baptized in that 
very section, so little effect had Hurlburt' s fabrication upon 
t be minds of the people. 

Hurlburt at once carried out the advice given to him py 
his New Salem acquaintances. He proceeded to Monson, 
called on l\1rs. Davison, and by representing his wishes in 
his own unscrupulous and untruthful manner obtained frOJll 
her the writings of her former husband. Further she told 
him that there was a trunk somewhere in the state of ~ ew 
¥ ork that also contained papers which he might have, if they 
were found to suit his purpo5e, and according to the latest 
version of the story it was from that trunk that Hurlburt 
obtained the "l\fanuscript Found." 

Mrs. Davison positively asserts that she gave Hurlburt 
th~ origin~l of th~ "l\lanuscript Fo~nd,"' ~ither dire~tlr, or 
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through her order to ~Ir. Clark, and that he promised to 
publish it, which however he never did. He claimed that 
it did not read as he expected, or be found nothing that would 
suit his p11rpose. In this he for once undoubtedly told the 
truth. Quite lately, however, he has made the following 
affidavit. 

.January 10th, 1881. 

"To all whom it may concern : 

"In the year eighteen hundr€d and thirty-four (1834), I went 

from Geauga county, Ohio, to ~onson, H ampden county, )lass., 
where I found iirs. Davison, late widow of the Rev. Solomon 
Spaulding, late of Conneaut, A shtabula county, Ohio. Of her 
I obtained ·a manuscript, supposing it to be the manuscript of 
the romance written by the said Solomon Spaulding, called the 
'Manuscript Found,' which wa~ reported to be the foundation of 
the ~Book of M ormon.' I did not examine the manuscript till 
I got home, when upon examination I found it to contain nothing 
of the kind, but being a manuscript upon an entirely different 
subject. This manuscript I left with E. D. H owe. of Painsville, 
Geauga county, Oh io, now Lake county, Ohio, with the under­
standing that when he bad examined it he should return it to 
the widow. Said H owe says the manuscript was destroyed by 
fire, and further the deponent saith not. 

(Signed) 11D. P . HURLBURT." 

l\'Irs. Davison says Hurlburt obtained the "~Ianuscript 
Found." He, in the abo,"e, says it was nothing of the kind, 
but was a manu.r~cript upon an entirely different .~ulv'ect. What 
was that subject? Hurlburt in his original statement says, 
( these are his own words,) ,~ It is a romance, purporting to 
have been translated from the Latin, found on twenty-four 
roIIs of parchment, in a caYe, but written in modern style­
giving a fabulous account of a ship being driven upon the 
American coast, while proceeding from Rome to Britain, a 
short time previous to the Christian era ; this country then 
being inhabited by the Indians.'' 

Such is his description of the. manuscript be received. No 
wonder it did not suit his purpose. No work treating on the 
~ncient inh~bitants of 1\.merica could be more unlike th:-
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Book of Mormon than this. But l\frs. Davison says this was 
the original of the '' l\ianuscript Found.'' We regard it 
altogether more probable that this was the plot of Mr. Spauld­
ing' s romance than the ten tribe version, which we consider 
to be a later invention, manufactured by some ignorant 
anti- "l\Iormon, " who really imagined that the Book of Mor­
mon conYeyed that idea. We have nothing more than unau­
thenticated gossip for the assertion that l\'.lr. Spaulding ever 
believed that the American Indians were of Israelitish 
descent. In fact, it is stated that during the later years 
of that gentleman's life he was strongly inclined to infidel­
ity. 

If the papers given to Hurlburt contained the ''Manuscript 
Found," as stated by l\Irs. Davison, we know what became 
of it, if we can believe D. P. Hurlburt. It was burned so 
that it might never be brought up to confront those who 
claim that in it is to be found the origin of the Book of 1.\'Ior­
mon. If Hurlburt did not receive it, l\Irs. Davison must 
have retaine<l it. Then what became of it? Solomon 
Spaulding's family could have no possible motive for not 
publishing it. To them it would have been a mine of 
wealth ; at least they thought so, as evidenced by the agree­
ment between ~Irs. Davison and I-Iurlburt, that she was to 
have half of the profits accruing from its publication, as 
hereafter shown in her interview with ~fr. Haven. 

There is another fact that strongly bears out l\lrs. Davison's 
statement. It is this, that it is highly improbable that l\Ir. 
Spaulding would write two entirely distinct and varying 
romances on the ancient inhabitants of America. "\Ve never 
hear of him writing more than one on this subject. If then 
the Roman story was not the nl\Ianuscript," what was it? 
It certainly in many particulars agrees with the statements of 
those who profess to know Homething about Mr. Spaulding's 
writings. Both (if there were two) are said to have been 
written in the Latin language ; both were found, supposedly, 
in a cave near Conneaut, Ohio. This is altogether unlikely. 
The evidence, we believe, to be overwhelming that Hurl­
burt did receive the '"l\lauuscript Found," and not find­
ing it what he wanted, he destroyed it or had it destroyed. 
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We have previously referred to the Jacksons of Jackson 
settlement, Pennsylvania, from whom Hurlburt first heard of 
l\Ir. Spaulding's writings. In justice to )Ir. Jackson it must 
be stated that on one occasion Hurlburt called on him and 
asked him to sign a document which testified to the probabil­
ity of l\Ir. Spaulding's manuscript having been con\-erted 
into the Book of ~Iormon. This he indignantly refused to 
do. He had read both books and knew there was no likeness 
between them. He then and there stated that there was no 
agreement between the two ; adding that ~Ir. Spaulding's 
manuscript was a very small work in the form of a novel, 
which said not one word about the children of Israel, but 
professed to give an account of a race of people who origin­
ated from the Romans, which l\Ir. Spaulding said he had 
translated from a Latin parchment that he had found. The 
Book of l\Iormon, ~Ir. Jackson continued, purports to be 
written by a branch of the house of I srael ; it is written in a 
different style, and is altogether different. For this reason he 
refused to lend his name to the lie, and e:xpressed his indigna­
tion and contempt at Hurlburt's base and wicked project to 
deceive the public. 

Mr. Ja_ckson's recollection of the plot of the "1'Ianuscript 
Found" tallies exactly with Hurlburt's description of the con­
tents of the manuscript he received from .i\Irs. Davison, and 
is confirmatory evidence of the truth of her statement, that 
she gave the work to Hurlburt. It is also the strongest kind 
of testimony in favor of the theory that Spauldwg's romance 
had nothing Israelitish in its narrative, but was Roman from 
beginning to end, in detail, incident, language, writing, parch­
ment and all. 

To return to Hurlburt's work ; those who were anxious that 
it should be published, discovered that it would be better that 
it should not appear in his name, his reputation having grown 
too bad. The manuscript was therefore sold to )Ir. Howe of 
Painesville, Ohio, for $500 and was published by him. It 
did not prove a financial success, its circulation was but small. 
l\Ir. Howe eventually offered the copies at half price, but they 
would not sell even at that reduction. Hurlburt rapidly spent 
his ill-gotten gains in drink, and for many years bore a most 
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undesirable reputation. He is now an o1d man, residing at 
Gibsonburg, Ohio. 

The following remarks regarding D. P. II urlburt, are 
from the writings of the late Elder Joseph E. Johnson. 

"In the year A. D. 1833, then living in Kirtland, Ohio, I 
became acquainted with a man subsequently known as Dr. 
Hurlburt. He was a man of fine physique, very pompous, 
good looking and veriy ambitous, with some energy, though 
of poor education. Soon aft€r bis arrival he came to my 
mother's house to board, where he remained for nearly a 
year. 1Vhi]e there he made an effort to get into a good practice 
of medicine, sought position in the Church, and was ever striv­
ing to make marital connection with any of the 'first fami­
lies.' 

''Finally in 183-l, he was charged with illicit intercourse with 
the other sex; was tried and cut off the Church. He denied, 
expostulated, threatened. but of no use, the facts wePe too 
apparent, and he at once vowed himself the enemy of the 
Church-threatened to write a book that would annihilate 
'l\Iormonism,' and went to Painesville, ten miles, and allied 
himself to a publisher there, who agreed to print bis book if 
he would furnish the matter. A fund was raised by the antip 
"l\Iormons" in the village around, and enough means raised 
to send Hurlburt east to hunt up and obtain the writings of 
Solomon Spaulding, called the 'l\1anuscriptFound' , which had 
already become famous as the alleged matter from which the 
Book of l\Iormon was written. 

"Hurlburt went east and was absent some two or three 
months-and on his return public]y declared that he couul not 
olAain it, but instead brought ~everal affidavits from persons 
who claimed to have beard Solomon Spaulding read bis 
~l\lanuscript Found' in 181~, and believed, as well as they could 
remember, that the matter and story were the same as printed 
in the Book of l\Iormon. And these were published in his 
book of '~lormonism Exposed,' in that or the subsequent 
year, but not a sentence from the 'l\lanuscript Found,' which 
it appears that he did really outain, but finding no similarity 
between the two, suppressed the Spaulding manuscript, 
while he publicly announced in his book that he had entirely 
failed to obtain it. Hurlburt proved himself to be a man of 
gross immorality and was untruthful and unreliable.'' 
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CHAPTER III. 

THE B OGUS AFFIDAVIT. 

TH E next noteworthy person who entered upon the cn1sade 
against the Book of ) Iormon was a Congregationalist 

minister of H olliston> )Iassachusetts, named Storrs. 
This man was greatly annoyed at the loss of some of the 

best members of his congregation through the preaching of 
the everlasting gospel, and in his anger published to the world 
wha t he asserted was the affidavit of the widow of Solomon 
Spaulding, but which she afterwards repudiated, as shown from 
the following article published in the Quincy (Illinois ) H.,}dg 
shortly after the appearance of the bogus affidavit: 

" A CUN"NING DE\-ICE DETECTED. 

' ' I t will be recollected that a few months since an article 
appeared in several of the papers, purporting to gi,·e an account 
of t he origin of the B ook of ~Iormon. How fa r the writer of 
that piece has effected his purposes, or wh at his purposes were 
in pursuing the course he has, I shall not attempt to say at this 
time, but shall call upon every candid man to judge in this 
matter for h imself, and shall content myself by presenting 
before the public the other side of the question in the form ~f 
a letter, as follows: 

"Copy of a letter written by ~Ir. John Haven, of Holliston, 
Middlesey Co. , nlassachusetts, to his daughter, Elizabeth 
H aven, of Quincy, Adams Uo., Illinois. 

" Your brother Jesse passed throup:h )Ionson , where he saw 
l\I rs Davison and her daughter, ~Irs. )Icl(instry, and also 
Dr. Ely, and spent se,eral hours with them, during which time 
he asked them the following questions, viz. : 

Question.- 'Did you, ni rs. Davison, write a Jetter to John 
S torrs, giving an account of the origin of the Book of ~Ior­
mon ?' 
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Answer.-'! did not.' 
Q.-'Did you sign your name to it?' 
A.-'I did not, neither did I ever see the letter until I saw 

it in the Boston R ecorder, the letter was never brought to me to 
sign.' 

Q.-'What agency had you in having this letter sent to Mr. 
Storrs?' 

A.-'D. R. Austin came to my house and asked me some 
questions, took some minutes on paper, and from these minutes 
wrote that letter.' 

Q.-' Have you read the Book of l\Iormon?' 
A.-'I have read some in it.' 
Q.-·Does :\Ir. Spaulding's manuscript and the Book of 

l\Iormon agree?' 
A.-'I think some few of the names are alike.' 
Q.-'Does the manuscript describe an idolatrous or a reli-

gious people ? ' 
Q.-'An idolatrous people.' 
A.-',Vhere is the manuscript? ' 
A.-'D. P. Hurlburt came here and took it, said he would 

get it printed and let me have one half of the profits. ' 
Q.-'Has D. P. I-Iurlburt got the manuscript printed?' 
A.--'I received a letter stating that it did not read as he 

expected, and he should not print it.' 
Q.-'How large is ~Ir. Spaulding's manuscript?' 
A.-'About one-third as large as the Book of l\formon.' 
Q.-To l\Irs. l\IcKinstry: 'How old were you when your 

father wrote the manuscript? ' 
A.-'About five years of age.' 
Q.-'Did you ever read the manuscript? ' 
A.-'When I was about twelve years old I used to read it 

for diversion.' 
Q.-'Did the manuscript describe an idolatrous or a reli­

gious people ? ' 
A.-'An idolatrous people. ' 
Q.-'Does the manuscript and the Book of ~Iormon 

agree?' 
A.-'I think some of the names agree.' 
Q.-'Are you certain that some of the names agree?' 
A.-'I am not.' 
Q.-'Have you read any in the Book of l\iormon?' 
A.-'I have not.' 
Q.-'Was your name attached to that letter, which was S·ent 

to Mr. John Storrs, by your order?' 
A.-'No, I never meant that my name should be there. ' 
'You see by the above questions and answers, that Mr. 

Austin, in his great zeal to destroy the Latter-day Saints, has 
asked 1\-Irs. Davison a few ouestions, then wrote a letter to Mr. 
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Storrs in his own language. I do not say that the above 
questions and answers were given in the form that I have 
written them, but these questions were asked, and these 
answers given. l\Irs. Davison is about seventy years of age, 
and somewhat broke.' 

"This may certify that I am personally acquainted with ~Ir. 
Haven, his son and daughter, and am satisfied they are persons 
of truth. I have also read ~fr. Haven's letter to his daughter, 
which has induced me to copy it for publication, and I further 
say, the above is a correct copy of ~Ir. Haven's letter. 

A. BA DLA)[.', 

Notwithstanding the above r€futation and expose the oppo­
nents of "l\Iormonism" have continually from the time of its 
publication, copied, re-published and harped upon this forged 
affidavit of Mrs. Davison. Their ears have been ever deaf and 
their eyes blind when the refutation of the slander has been 
presented to them. They did not then, and do not now want 
it; they prefer the lie which one of their number has concocted 
and spread broad-cast through the world. 

We must now turn to Sidney Rigdon who by many is 
regarded as the agent or go-between by and through whom 
Joseph Smith came into possession of the '~}Ianuscript 
Found,'' and who was, in fact, the chief instrument in con­
verting that romance into the :Book of ~Iormon. It is urged 
that Joseph had neither the learning, ability nor industry to 
perform so arduous a literary work, but that Rigdon had the 
audacity, cunning and education necessary to perpetrate such a 
fraud, and that Joseph Smith was his willing tool, whom he 
used as a screen to protect himself from public observation and 
through whom he palmed his imposture on the world. None 
of those who accept this theory have yet been able to explain 
what possible motive Rigdon could have had in taking such a 
course, were such an arrangement possible ; but we have most 
trustworthy and reliable testimony that it could not be so for 
two altogether sufficient reasons: 

First : Sidney Rigdon never was at Pittsburg or any other 
place at the same time as l\Ir. Spaulding' s manuscript was 
there and therefore he could not have seen or read it, it being 
remembered that it never was out of the possession of the 
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author's family only during the short time it is said to have 
been in the hands of l\Ir. Patterson. 

Second: Sidney Rigdon never saw Joseph Smith until years 
after the latter received the sacred plates, indeed, not until 
after the Book of l\Iormon had been· printed and the Church 
of Jesus Christ organized. 

Let us consider the first of the above propositions. Mr. 
Spaulding resided in Pittsburg only for a short time between 
1812, when he lived at Conneaut, and 1816 when he died a 
Amity. The general opinion is that he moved to the last 
named place in 1814. It was then, between 1812 and 1814, 
that, if ever , the manuscript was in the hands of l\Ir. Patter­
son ; Sidney Rigdon was then a youth of not more than twenty 
years of age, residing on and working his deceased father's farm 
at St. Clair, Pennsylvania. To make this point more clear, 
we will here give a short sketch of Rigdon's early life: 

Sidney Rigdon was born in St. Clair township, Alleghany 
Co. , Pa. , on the Hlth of February, 1 i93. In his twenty-fifth 
year he connected himself with a society, ,11i' hich in that country 
was called Regular Baptists. In l\Iarch, 1819, he received a 
license to preach in that society, and in the following May be 
left Pennsylvania and went to Trumbull Co., Ohio, where he 
was afterwards married. In 1821 he was called to the pastoral 
charge of the first Baptist church of Pittsburg, which invita­
tion he accepted early in the following year, and soon became a 
popular minister. After ministering in that position for two 
and a half years he withdrew from that sect, because he consid­
ered its doctrines were not altogether in accord with the scrip­
tures. ,vith i\Ir. Alexander Campbell he founded the "Camp­
bellite" or " Disciples" church ; but having retired from the 
ministry he for two years worked as a day laborer in a tannery; 
after which he removed to Bainbridge, Geauga Co., Ohio, 
where the people solicited him to preach. He complied with 
their request and soon grew quite popular. He 
advocated the doctrines of repentance and baptism for the 
remission of sins, and baptized numbers from all the country 
round. During t his time he removed from Bainbridge to 
l\Ient-Or, some thirty miles distan~,, and it was there that Parley 
P. Pratt and other Elders found him, in the Fall of 1830. 
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We will now give the testimony of a num her of persons who 
were most intimately acquainted with Sidney Rigdon during 
his youth. These testimonies we copy from a work lately pub­
lished by l\I r. Robert Pattersou, of Pittsburg, son of ~Ir. Pat­
terson, the printer, to whom the Spaulding romance is said 
to h ave been taken. He is the person called ~' the present 
writer " in th ese extracts, which in his work follow a short 
account of Sidney's early life : 

"I. Rigdon' s relatives at Library, Pa. , Carvil Rigdon (bis 
brot her) and Peter Boyer ( his brother-in-law), in a written 
statement dated Jan. 27th, 1843, certify to the facts and dates 
as above stated in regard to his birth, schooling, uniting with 
th e church, licensure, ordination and settlement in Pittsburg 
in 1822. 1'I r. Boyer also in a personal interview with the present 
writer in 1870 positively ailirrned that Rigdon had neYer lived 
in P ittsburg preYious to l."'2~, adding that they were boys 
together and he ought to know. )Ir. Boyer had for a short 
t ime embraced ~Iormonism, but became conYinced that it was 
a delusion and returned to his ruember~hip in the Baptist 
ch urch. 

'~2. Isaac I(ing, a highly-respected citizen of Library, Pa., 
and an <,Id neighbor of Rigdon , states in a letter to the present 
writer, dated June I-1th, 1879, that Sidney liYed on the farm 
of h is father until the death of the latter, in ) l ay, 1810, and 
for a number of years afterwards, farming with Yery indifferent 
success; 'it was said he was too lazy and proud to make a good 
farmer;' received his education in a log school-house in the 
vicinity; 'began to talk in public on religion soon after his 
admission to the church, probably at his own instance, as there 
is no record of his licensure; ' went to Sharon, Pa , for a ti1ne, 
and was there ordained as a preacher, but soon returned to his 
farm, which h e sold (J une ~8th, 182~) to James }leans, and 
abou t t he time of sale removed to Pittsburg. 

"3. Samuel Cooper , of Saltsburg, Pa. , a veteran of t hree 
wars, in a letter to the present writer, dated J une 14th , 1S79, 
stated as follows: 'I was acquianted with i\Ir. Lambdin, was 
often in the printing-office ; was acquainted with Silas Engles, 
the foreman of the printing-office; he never mentioned Sidney 
Rigdon's name to 1ne, so I am satisfied he was never engaged 

t• 
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there as a printer. I was introduced to Sidney Rigdon in 1843; 
be stated to me that he was a l\Iormon preacher or lecturer; 1 
was acquainted with him during 18-13-45; never knew him 
before, and never knew him as a printer; never saw him in the 
hook-store or printing-office ; your father's office was in the 
celebrated l\Iolly l\Iurphy's Row." 

"4. Rev. Robert P. Du Bois, of New London, Pa., under 
date of Jan. 9th. 1879, writes: 'I entered the book-store of 
R. Patterson & Lambdin in l\Iarch, 1818, when about twelve 
years old , and remained there until the Summer of 1820. The 
firm had under its control a book-store on Fourth Street, a 
book-bindery, a printing-office ( not newspaper, but job-office, 
under the name of Butler & Lambdin), entrance on Diamond 
Alley, and a steam paper-mil] on the Allegheny (under the 
name of R. & J. Patterson ). I knew nothing of Spaulding 
(then dead ) or of his book, or of Sidney Rigdon. '' 

" 5. l\Irs. R. W. Lambdin, of Irvington, N. Y., widow of 
the late J. Harrison Lambdin, in response to some inquiries as 
to her recollection of Rigdon and others, writes under date of 
Jan. 15th, 18X2: 'I am sorry to say I shall not b~ able to give 
you any information relati\e to the persons you name. They 
certainly could not ha Ye been friends of l\lr. Lambdin.' ~Irs. 
Lambdin resided in Pittsburg from her marriage in 1819, to 
the death of her husband: Aug. 1st, 1825. l\Ir. Lambdin was 
born Sep. 1st, l 798. " 

In addition to this we have the testimony of Sidney Rigdon 's 
mother. She informed one gentleman, who published her 
statement years ago, long before the S paulding story was con­
cocted, and therefore with no design to mislead on that matter, 
that her son lived at home and worked on the farm until the 
twenty-sixth year of his age; and was never engaged in public life 
until after that period, either J)olitically or religiously. Thus, 
according to his mother' s statement which is sustained by these 
other testimonies, he did not ]€ave home until 1819. He did 
not go to Pittsburg until 1822 ; eight or nine years after the 
manuscript of Spaulding's romance had been returned to its 
author (if, indeed, it had ever been out of his hands), and that 
author had removed from Pittsburg an<l died. 
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Again it is asserted that Sidney Rigdon was associated with 
the printing-office of P atterson and Lambdin during his stay 
in Pittsburg. The testimony abo,e given is very strong evidence 
to the contrary. In addition to which we haYe Rigdon's own 
refutation of the falsehood, made at the time that ~Irs. Davi­
son's bogus affidavit was first given to the world. He asserts 
in effect, most positively, that when he went to P ittsburg he did 
so as a minister of the gospel at the call of a religious congre­
gation, and was never in any way directly or indirectly connected 
with any printing office during his stay there; and if he h ad 
been associated with a Pitt.;burg printing office nobody claims 
that the "l\lanu~cript Found" was in that city at that late date 
(1822). According to Jlrs. ~[cK.instry's already quoted affi­
davit it was then hid up in an old trunk at a small village 
called Hard wicks, in the state of N cw York, hundreds of miles 
from Pittsburg. To tide oYer this difficulty some one has sug­
gested that probably Spaulding made a copy of his romance 
for the printer, and it was this copy that Rigdon afterwards 
found. But this is a baseless supposition; until lately such an 
idea was never thought of, and it loses all its force from the 
fact that those best acquainted with the history of that manu­
script say that the copy Spaulding gave to Patterson was 
returned to him ; it was not left iu the office to be found by 
Rigdon, or any one else in after years. 

It may be asked, is there no conflicting testimony? Do not 
some persons assert that R.igdon was in P ittsburg and 
acquainted with Patterson and Lambdin years before 1822? 
Yes, but their testi1nony js of little value for many reasons. It 
is, in the first place, almost in variably second hand. They do 
not testify of what they themselves actually knew on these 
points, but of what somebody else knew, or said, or told them. 
In the second place, they are made, as a rule, by very aged per­
sons, whose memory, when we consider the mass of trash that 
has been published on this subject, cannot be trusted. They, 
where desiring to be truthful, have mixed up what they really 
knew and what they have since beard and read. A third class 
are "divines,' ' men with "reverend" tacked on their names, 
whose testimony, it is a sad fact but it is a truth, can scarcely 
ever be trusted on anything pertaining to ".Mormonism. " One 
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very aged lady, whose father and husband kept the post office 
from 1804 to 1833, says that Rigdon and Lambdin used to come 
together to the post office for mail matter as early as 1815, if 
not earlier, and that as youths they were very intimate. But 
it must be remembered that there was a difference of six or 
seven years in the ages of these two young men, Rigdon 
being the elder, and Mr. Lambdin's wife asserts of him and 
others that ''they certainly could not have been friends of l\Ir. 
Lambdin." Again it is altogether inconsistent to believe that a 
young man of Rigdon's ambition would associate with a boy so 
many years his junior; the supposition is altogether more consist­
ent that this lady has mixed her names and dates, and that young 
Lambdin having a companion who came with him for letters, 
she has in the course of many years confused this companion 
with Rigdon who doubtless often visited the post office at a 
later period, and at a time when his name would be well known 
through all Pittsburg. 

But it is an open question whether l\fr. Patterson ever had 
the "l\ianuscript Found" in his possession. The Spaulding 
family say that he had, he asserts that he had not. On being 
interrogated on the subject, soon after the publication of 
l\Irs. Davison's bogus affidavit, he said that he knew nothing 
of any such manuscript.* E-ven Hurlburt states that ''he 
called on i'Ir. Patterson who affirmed his entire ignorance of 
the whole matter.'' Here is evidently a grand mistake or a 
gross falsehood. To us, it seems from the evidence, that the 
story of l\-Ir. Patterson having received the manuscript was first 
invented by Priest Storrs on purpose to connect Sidney Rigdon 
with the ''Manuscript Found'' and the ladies of the Spaulding 
family have heard it so often reiterated that in their old age they 
have imagined that they have some recollection of such .an 
incident, when, in truth. it is only the confused remembrance 
of what has been ding-donged into their ears by over-anxious 
opponents of '' l\Iormonism' ' for the last forty years. It is a 
well-known fact that the human mind is so constituted that 
after brooding over imaginary circumstances for a lengthened 

•-The gentleman to whom he made this statement is under­
stood to have been Mr. Ephraim S. Green, of Philadelphia. 
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period it will frequently grow to regard such fables as facts. 
This peculiarity of the human mind has often been commented 
upon. A laughable incident, in this connection is related 
regarding King George IV., of England. He got it into his 
head that he was present at the battle of Waterloo, and w,l.S 

especially fond of referring to the circumstance in the presence 
of the Duke of Wellington, a11d then requiring the aged war­
rior to back up his state1nent. I t is said that the duke, with 
the true instinct of the courtier, would rep]y on such occasions, 
"I have heard your majesty mention that circumstance 
before.'' So l\Irs. Davison and her daughter have so frequently 
heard the statement that the Book of }Iormon was taken from 
the "l\lanuscript:Found," that the " )Ianuscript Found" related 
to the lost ten tribes, that ~Ir. Patterson borrowed it in Pitts­
burg, and that Sidney Rigdon had something inexplicable to 

do with it, that these ladies actually came to believe that th ese 
assertions were all truths, and in their old age were willing to 
make affidavit to their belief in many things about which in 
earlier days they were nothing like so sure. 

With regard to the second point, as to when J oseph Smith first 
saw Sidney Rigdon, we draw attention to the two following 
extracts from the writings of Elder Parley P. Pratt: 

"THE )IOR)IO~ITES. 

"To the Editor of the .flew Tork Era : 
" Sir.-In yours of the 20th inst. , there is an article copied 

from the B oston R ecorder, headed, '~Iormon Bible, ' and 
signed, 'l\'Iatilda Davison,' which, justice to our society and to 
the public requires me to answer, and I trust that a sense of 
justice will induce you, sir, to give your readers both sides of 
the _guestion. 

"I am one of the society who believe the Book of }1ormon, 
and as such I am assailed in the statement professing to come 
from l\Iatilda Davison. 

\'In the first place, there is no such thing in existence as t he 
'l\iormon Bible.' The L~Iormons,' as they are vulgarly called, 
believe in the same Bible that all Christendom p_rofess to believe 
in, viz. : the common version of the Old and New Testament. 
The Book of ~! ormon is not entitled a Bible, except by those 
who misrepresent it. It is entitled the LBook of l\Iormon.' 

''The reHgious sect alluded to in your paper, are there 
accused of knavery and superstition. Now we are not sensible 
of being guilty of knavery, and we do not know wherein we 
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are superstitious, but very much desire to know in order that 
we may reform. If son1e good minister or editor will condescend 
to particulars and point out our superstitions, we will take it as 
a great kindness, for we are the declared enemies to knavery and 
superstition. 

11If a firm believer in the gospel of a crucified and risen 
Redeemer, as manifested to all nations, and as recorded in their 
sacred books, amounts to superstition, then we are supersti­
tious. If preaching that system to others and calling them to 
repentance is superstition, then we are superstitious. If refus­
ing to fellowship the modern systems of sectarianism which 
are contrary to the pure doctrines of tho Bible be superstition, 
then we are superstitious, for we hereby declare our with­
drawal from all the mysticism, priestcraft and superstitions, 
and from all the creeds, doctrines, commandments, traditions 
and precepts of men, as far as they are contrary to the ancient 
faith and doctrine of t he Saints; and we hereby bear our testi­
mony against them. 

" \Ve do not believe that God ever instituted more than one 
religious systcn1 under the same dispensation, therefore we do 
not admit that two different sects can poss ibly be right. The 
Churches of .Jesus Christ, in any age or country, must be all 
built upon the same faith, the same baptism~ the same Lord, 
the same H oly Spirit, which would gui<lc them into all truth, 
an<l conse(1uently from all error and superstition. The Book of 
l\Iormon has neYer been placed by us in the place of the sacred 
scriptures, but, as before said, the sacred scriptures stand in 
their own place, and the Book of )lormon abundantly corrob­
orates and bears testimc,ny of the truth of the Bible. Indeed 
there is no society; within our knowledge, whose membe1:s 
adhere more closely to the Bible than ours. For proof of this 
we appeal to the ruultitudes who attend our religious 
meetings in this city and in all other places. 

HThc piece in your paper states that 'Sidney Rigdon was 
connected in the printing office of l\I r . Patterson' (in Pitts­
burg), and that ' this is a fact well known in that region, and 
as Rigdon himself has frequently stated. Here he had ample 
opportumty to become acqainted with :\Ir. Spauldinis manu­
script (romance) and to copy it if he chose.' This statement is 
utterly and entirely false . ~Ir. Rigdon was never connected 
with the said print ing establishment, either directly or 
indi rectly, anrl we defy the world to bring proof of any such 
connection. Now the person or persons who fabricated that 
falsehood would do well to repent and become persons of truth 
and veracity bcf ore they cxpresq such acute sensibility con­
cerning the religious pretensions of others. The statement 
that Sidney Rigdon is one of the founders of the said religious 
sect is also incorrect. 
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"The .sect was founded in the state of New York, while 
Mr. R igdon resided in Ohio, several hundred miles distant. 
l\1r. R igdon embraced the doctrine through my instrument­
ality. I first presented the Book of ~Iormon to him. I stood 
upon the bank of t he stream while he was baptized, and 
assisted to officiate in his ordination, and I myself was unac .. 
qu ainted with the system until some months after its organ­
ization, which was on the 6th of April, 1830, and I em braced 
it in September following. 

"The piece further states tbat 'a woman preacher appointed 
a meeting at New Salem, Ohio, and in the meeting read and 
r epeated copious extracts froru the Book of )lorrnon., ~ ow, 
it is a fact well known, that we have not had a female preacher 
in our connection, for we do not believe in a female priesthood. 
It fur t her says that the excitement in New Salem became so 
great that the inhabitants bad a meeting and deputed D octor 
P hilastus Hurlburt, one of their n1embers, t o repair to 
S paulding' s widow, and obtain from her t he original manu­
script of the romance, etc. But the stateu1ent does not say 
whether he obtained the manuscript, Lut still leaves the 
impression that be did, and that it was eompared with the 
Book of ~formon. Now who ever will rcarl the work got up 

• by said Hulburt, entitled: · )Iormonism U n,eiled,' will find 
that h e there states that the said manuscript of Spaulding\; 
romance was lost and could nowhere be found. But the 
widow is h ere made to say that it is careful1y preserved. H ere 
seems to be some knavery or crooked work; and no wonder, 
for this said Hurlburt is one of the mo~t notorious rascals in 
the western country. H e was first cut off from our society 
for an attempt at seduction and crime, and secondly he was 
laid under bond in Geau~a county, Ohio, for threatening to 
murder JoEeph Smith, Jr., after which he laid a deep design 
of the Spaulding romance imposition, in which he has been 
backed by evil and designing men in different parts of the 
country, and sometimes by thrse who do not wish to do wrong, 
but who are ignorant on the subject. Now what but false­
hood could be expected from such a person? N ow if there is 
such a manuscript in existence, let it come forward at once 
and not be kept in the dark. A gain , if the public will be 
pat ient, th ey will doubtless find that t be piece signed ')Iatilda 
Davison' (Spaulding's widow) is a base fabrication by Priest 
Storrs, of Holliston, l.\Iass. , fo order to save his craft, after 
losing th e deacon of his church, and several of its most piou~ 
and intelligent members, who left his society to embrace what 
they considered to . be truth. At any rate, a judge of 
literary productions, who can H-wallow that piece of writing as 
the production of a women in private life, can be made to 
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believe that t.he book of l\Iormon is a romance. For the one 
is as much like a romance as the other is like a woman's 
composition. 

''The production signed 'l\lat ilda Davison,' is evidently 
the work of a man accustomed to public address, and the 
Book of l\Iormon I know to be true, and the Spaulding story, 
as far as the Book of l\Iormon is connected with it, I know to 
be fal se. 

"I now leave the subject witl1 a candid public, with a sin~ 
cere desire that those who have been deluded with such vain 
and foolish lies, may be undeceived. 

''Editors, who have given publicity to the Spaulding story, 
will do an act of justice by giving publicity to the foregoing. 

" P. P. P&ATT. 
'~New York, Nov. 27th, 1839." 

The following explicit statement is also copied from the 
earlier writings of Elder P arley P. Pratt : 

"About A. D. 18i7, l\1e8srs. A. Campbell, W. Scott, and 
S. Rigdon, with some others, residing in Virginia, Ohio, etc., 
came off from the Baptist, and established a new order, under 
the name of Reformed Baptist, or Disciples. And they were 
termed by their enemies, Uampbellites, Itig<lonites, ei.c. This 
reformation as to its doct.rine, consisted principally of the bap­
tism of repentance, for the remission of sins, etc. And l\1r. 
Rigdon in particular held to a Iiteral fulfillment, and applica­
tion of the written word, and by this means he was an instru­
ment to turn many from the fal8e notions of sectarianism, to 
an understanding of the prophecies, touching the great restor· 
ation of Israel, and the mighty revolutions of the last days. 
l\lany hundred disciples were gathered by his ministry, through­
out the lake country of Ohio, and many other preachers stood 

. in connection with him in these principles. I was then pursu­
ing agricultural life, and mostly occupied in converting the 
wilderness into a fruitful field. But being a member of the 
Baptist church~ and a lover of truth, l became acquainted with 
~Ir. Rigdon, and a bE1liever in, and teacher of the same doc­
trine. After proclaiming those principles in my own neighbor­
hood, and the adjoining country, I at length took a journey 
to the state of New York, partly on a visit to Columbia county, 
N. y·_, my native place, and partly for the purpose of min­
isterin&. the word. This journ€y was undertaken in August, 
1830; l bad no sooner reached Ontario county,N.Y., than 
I came in contact with the Book of l\1ormon, which had then 
been published about six months, and h

0

ad gathered about fifty 
<lisciplcs, which were all who then constituted the church of 
Latter-day Saints. I was greatly prejudiced against the book, 
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but remembering the caution of P aul, 'Prove all things, hold 
fast that which is good, ' I sat down to read it, and a lter care­
fully comparing it with the other scriptures, and praying to 
God, He gave me the knowled~e of its truth, by the power of 
the Holy Ghost, and what was I , that I could withstand God? 
I accordingly obeyed the ordinances and was commissioned by 
revelation, and the laying on of hands, to preach the fulness 
of the gospel. 'Jhen, after fin ishing my visit to Columbia 
county, I returned to the bretbren in Ontario county, where, 
for the first time, I saw ~Ir. J oseph Smith, J r., who had just 
returned from Pennsvlvania to his father's house in )I anchcster. 
About the 15th of October, 18:-30, I took my journey in com­
pany with E lders 0. Cowdery and Peter " 'hitmer, to Ohio. 
We called on Elder S. R igdon, and then for the fi.1.·st time his 
eyes beheld the Book of ) Iorrnon. I , myself, had the happiness 
to present it to him in person. H e was much surprised, and 
it was with much persuasion and argument. that he was pre­
vailed on to read it, and after he had read it, he had a great 
struggle of mind, before he fully believed, and embraced it ; 
and when finally convinced of its truth, he called together a 
large congregation of his friends, neighbors and brethren, and 
then addressed them very affectionately for ne:uly two hours 
during most of which time, bo! h himself and nearly all the 
congregation were melted into tears. He asked forgiYeness of 
everybody who n1igh t haYe had occasion to be offended with 
any part of his former life ; he forgave all who had persecuted 
or injured him in any manner, and the next morning, h imself 
and wife were baptized by E lder 0. Cowdery. I was present. 
it was a solemn scene, most of the people ,,ere greatly affected, 
they came out of the water o,·erwhelmed in tears. i\I any others 
were baptized by us in that vicinity, both be!ore and after his 
baptism, insomuch that during the Fall of 183U, and the fol­
lowing ,vinter and Spring, the number of the disciples w-as 
increased to about one thousand, the Holy Ghost was mightily 
poured out, and the word of God grew and multiplied, and 
1nany priests were obedient to the faith. Early in 1831, )lr. 
Rigdon having been ordained under our hands, ,isited Elder J. 
Smith, Jr. , in the state of .New York, for the first ti1ne, and 
from that time forth rumor began to circulate that he, Rigdon, 
was the author of the Book of ~lormon. 

"The Spaulding story neYer was dreamed of until several 
years afterwards, when it appeared in ~~Iorrnonism Unveiled'­
a base forgery, by D. P. Hurlburt and others of s imilar char­
acter, who strove to account for the Book of )Iormon in some 
other way than the truth. In the west , whole neighborhoods 
embraced ~Iormonism, after this fable of the Spaulding story 
had been circulated among them: indeed, we never conside1·ed 
it worthy of an answer , until it was converted. by the ignorant 
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and impudent religious editors of this city, into something said to 
be positively certain. and not to be disputed. Now, I testify that 
the forgers of the Spaulding lie (concerning S. Rigdon and 
others), are of the same description as those who forged the 
lie against the disciples of old, accusing them of stealing the 
body of Jesus, etc." 

"'vVe also insert, at this point, the affidavit of the only surviv­
ing sister of ,J oscph Smith, which conclusively shows that 
Sidney Rigdon had no communication with the Prophet or any 
other of the family until months after the Book of l\lormon 
was published. 

"SrATE OF ILLINOIS, } 
l{endall county. ss. 

'~I. I{atherine Salisbury, being duly sworn, depose and say, 
·that I am a resident of the state of Illinois, and have been for 
forty years last past; that I will be sixty-eight years of age, 
,July 28th, 1881. 

That I am a daughterof ,Joseph Smith, Senior, and sister to 
,Joseph' Smith, Jr. , the translator of the Book of l\'.Iormon. 
That at the time the said book was published, I was seventeen 
years of age; that at the time uf the publication of said book, 
my brother, Joseph Smith, Jr. , lived in the family of my 
father, in the town of Minchester, Ontario county, New York, 
and that he had, all of his life to this time made his home with 
the family. 

"That at the time, and for years prior thereto, I lived in and 
was a member of such family, and personally knowing to the 
things transacted in said family, and those who visited at my 
father's house, and the friends of the family, and the friends 
and acquaintances of my brother, Joseph Smith, Jr., who 
visitE:d at or came to my father's house. 

"That prior to the latter part of the year A. D. 1830, there 
was no person who visited with, or was an acquaintance of, or 
called upon the said family, or any member thereof to my 
knowledge, by the name of Sidney Rigdon ; nor was such per­
son known to the family, or any member thereof, to my knowl­
edge, until the last part of the year A. D. 1830, or the first 
part of the year 18::Sl, and some time after the organization of 
t he Church of .Jesus Christ, by J oseph Smith, Jr., and several 
months after the publication of the Book of Mormon. 

,:That I 1·emember the time when Sidney lligdon came to 
my father's place, and that it was after the removal of my 
father from \Vaterloo, N. Y. , to I{irtland, Ohio. That this 
was in the year 1831, and some months after the publication of 
the Book <,f niiormon, and fully one year after the Church was 
organized, as before stated herein. 
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"That I make this statement, not on account of fear, favor , 
or hope of reward of any kind ; but simply that the truth 1nay 
be known with reference to said matter, and that the foregoing 
statements made by rue are true, as I verily belie,e. 

''l(ATHERINE 8ALISBURr. 
"Sworn before me, and subscribed in ruy presence, by the 

said Katherine Salisbury, this 15th day of April, _.\. D. 18~1. 
"J H J ,- J:>. 1·1 • '' . • ENKS, .... oto.ry llU l C. 

Has it ever entered into the thoughts of our opponents that 
if Sidney Rigdon was the author or adapter of the Book of 
~lormon bow -vast and wide spread must have been the con­
spiracy that foisted it upon the world ! '\Vhole families must 
have been engaged in it. 1'Ien of all ages and Yarious conJi­
tions in life, and living in widely separate portions of the coun­
try must have been connected with it. First we must inclutle 
in the catalogue of conspirators the whole of the Smith family, 
then the Whitmer's, ~!art.in Harris and Oli,er Cowdery ; fur­
ther, to carry ou tthis absurd idea, Sidney Rigdon and Parley P. 
Pratt must have been their active fellow-conspirators in arrang­
ing, carrying out and consummating their iniquitous frau<l. To 
do this they must haYe tra,·eled thous:inds of miles and spent 
months, perhaps years, to accomplish-what? That is the 
unsolved problem. ,v as it for the purpose of duping the 
world? They, at any rate the great majority of them, were of 
all men most unlikely to be engaged in such a folly. Their 
habits, surroundings, station in life, youth and inexperience all 
forbid such a thought. ,vhat could they gain, in any light 
that could be then presented to their minds, by palming such a 
deception upon the world? This is another unanswcra ble 
question. Then comes the sta,ggering fact , if the Book he a 
falsity, that all these families, all these diverse characters, in all 
the trouble, perplexity, persecution and suffering through which 
they passed, never wavered in their testimony, never changed 
their statements, never "went back'' on their original declara­
tions, but continued unto death (and they have all passed away 
save a very few), proclaiming that the Book of l\Iormon was a 
divine reve:lation, and that its record was true. ,vas there 
ever such an exhibition in the history of the world of such 
continued, such unabating, such undeviating falsehood ? if 
falsehood it was. ,v e cannot. find a place in the annals of their 
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lives where they wavered, and what makes the matter more 
remarkable is that it can be said of most of them, as is else­
where said of the three witnesses, they became offended wii-h 
the Prophet Joseph, and a number of them openly rebelled 
against him ; but they never retracted one word with regard to 
the genuineness of l\lormon's inspired record. Whether they 
were friends or foes to Joseph, whether they regarded him as 
God's continued mouthpiece or as a fallen Prophet, they still 
persisted in their statements with regard to the book and the 
veracity of their earlier testimonies. How can we possibly 
with our knowledge of human nature make this undeviating, 
unchanging, unwa\Tering course, continuing over fifty years 
consistent with a deliberate, premeditated and cunningly-devised 
and executed fraud! 

.... 
CHAPTER r-v. 

MRS. DICKENSON'S SPECULATIONS. 

WE next invite attention to one of the latest vers: '>ns of the 
"Spaulding story." It appeared in Scribner's 1;fagazine 

for August, 1880, and purports to be written by l\f rs. Ellen E. 
Dickenson, a grand-niece of 1'fr. Spaulding. It is conspicuous 
for its inexactness, but is 'Valuable as containing the affidavit of 
~Irs. l\L S. l\lcKinstry already considered. 

lleferring to the discovery by l\lr. Spaulding of bows and 
other relics in a mound near h is home at Conneaut, l\frs. 
Dickenson writes : 

" This discovery suggested to him the subject for a new 
romance, which he called a translation from some hieroglyphi~ 
<·ol writing exhumed from the mound. This romance pur­
ported to be a history of the peopling of America by the lost 
triues of .Israel , the tribes and their leaders having very 
singular names, among them ~Iormon, 1''1oroni, Lamanite, 
Nephi. The romance the author called ':Manuscript :b"'ound. ' 
This all occurred in 1812, when to write a book was a distinction, 
and l\lr. Spaulding read his manuscript from time to time to a 
circle of ad1niring /tiends. He determined finally to publish 
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it and for that purpose carried. it to Pittsburg, Pennsr h·ania, 
to a µrinler by the name of Patterson. After keeping it awhile, 
l\1Ir. Patterson returned it, declining to print it. 1 here u;,u~ at 
this time in this printing office a young m an ncnnecl S idney 
Rigdon, who twenty years later figured as a preacher among 
the Sa1nts. " 

In the above extract we have printed in italics those state­
ments to which we wish to draw special attention. 

l\Irs. Dickenson says ~Ir. Spaulding called his romance " a 
translation from some hieroglypbical writing." This is an 
entirely new version of the old fiction. According to the 
original story it was written in Latin, but now after fifty years 

. the writing is changed to hieroglyphics to make the theory 
agree better with the Book of ~Iormon which was translated 
from plates engraved in reformed E gyptinn. ,v e are told by 
earlier writers, before the matter was so entirely befogged as it 
is now by anti-"l\Iormon" speculations, assumptions and 
hypothesis, that the author's idea was to palm off his romance 
as a reality, and when he wrote it he expected the masses would 
believe it ,vhen published. Xow it would be quite consistent 
for a graduate of Dartmouth College (as was Jlr. Spaulding) to 
translate a Latin parchment-th~t would appear to be an 
every-day matter for a recog nized clergyman of an orthodox 
sect, but to translate hierogly ph ics would be entirely another 
thing; for it must not be forgotten that it was not until nearly 
thirty years after l\Ir. Spaulding wrote his " }Ianuscript F ound" 
that the first dictionary and first grammar of E gyptian hiero­
glyphics were published.* Egyptiology being now a science, 
l\1rs. Dickenson has outraged all consistency by claiming that 
Mr. Spaulding pretended to translate from hieroglyphics of 
which none at that time had any definite understanding. )Ir. 
Spaulding as an educated man who wished his work to receiYe 
credence would know better than to start off with an evident, 
tell-tale impossibility. 

1\1rs. Dickenson calls the names in the Book of ~Iormon 
"very singular." 'fhis is because she has not read the book. 
A large number of the names in l\Iormon's sacred record are 
also found in the Holy Bible; as examples : Jacob, Joseph, 
Aaron, Noah, Jeremiah, Isaiah, Ishmael, Lemuel, Timothy, 

*-Those of M. Champolleon published between 1836 and 18+:l, 
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Shem, etc. Are these singular? .Another large percentage finish 
with the IIebrew termination: iah (lah) an abbreviation of 
,Jehovah. One scribbler asserts that " the real author of the 
Book of l\Iorn1on was well acquainted with the classics; the 
names of most of hiB heroes have the Latin termination of i, 
such as Nephi, Lehi, ::M.oroni." This ignoramus was evidently 
not himself acq~ainted with the classics or he would have 
known that the mc,st frequent termination of the mascu­
line singular in the Latin language is us not i; and of 
names ending iu us there are but very few in the Book of 
)Iormon, probably half a dozen. ~irs. Dickenson gives an 
example of some of these "singular nan1es :" "Mormon, 
)Ioroni, Lamanite and Nephi." Sure~y neither Laman or 
l\I oroni are singular names. There are, at any rate, more than 
one river of this name in South America running through the 
region where, according to Book of :rt1ormon history, the 
X epbite general, .Moroni, carried on his campaigns and held 
military control. Nephi is an ancient Egyptian name, and a 
title of Osiris, one of the gods of that people; its meaning is 
''the benevolent one." That it was common among the Israel­
ites of the age of Nephi (B. 0. 000) is ·shown from the fact 
that the wonl N ephites in the original Hebrew plural fonn 
occurs twice in\he Bible, in Ezra ii., 5U, and Nehemiah vii. , 52. 
Leni is also a Bible proper name. 

l{egarding the circle of "admiring friends" who heard the 
" }lanuscript Found" read by its author, is it not a little singu­
lar that they so loudly praised it when the Book of ~Iormon, 
which is said to have been copied from it ''word for word, ' ' is 
berated as uninteresting, dull, dry, stupid and everything else 
that is not commended or ad mired in literary productions? 
X either is the style of the Book of .i\lormon that of a man 
educated in modern }:nglish ; it is incomprehensible that a 
stu<lent in the literature of this age would express himself in 
the phraseology an<l style of this record. And again it is not 
written in the language of either ,Joseph Smith or Sidney 
Rigdon. If we compare the revelations given through Joseph 
Smith at the time the plates were being translated,. we find an 
altogether Jifferent diction; or let us compare it with the 
Lectures on Faith in the Book of Doctrine and Uovenants auq 
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then with the acknowledged writings of Sidney R.igdon, and 
we shall find there is nothing common in any of these with the 
peculiaritjes of grammatical construction and Yerbal idiosyncra­
cics of the Book of }Iormon. Judging then by the usual 
and accepted methods of criticism on which some rely so 
strongly, and thro wing out the direct eYi<.lcnc:e as to its origin, 
this book could not be the creation of either S0lon1on Spanld 
ing, Sidney Rigdon or .Joseph S111ith. L\..gain, how is it tl1at 
when the manuscript of the Book of )Iormon was presented 
to the printer (see l\Ir. Gilbert's statement) it was mi~spelled 
and without punctuation. Did neither the graduate of Dart­
mouth College nor the 1ninister of a tlouri::;hing reli_!!iou~ con­
gregation, who, by the way, ac(·ording to son1e aceounts, had 
formerly worked in a printing office, know anything of punctu­
ation '! This is the extreruc of folly. But if they di<l, what 
conceivable reason could there be for lea,ing the punctuation 
out of the copy taken to the prir.iter. :'\Ir. Gilbert's stateinent 
of the great care shown by Ilyrnm Smith to have the book 
printed exactly as written, his es:treme solicitude regarding 
the manuscript, his ignorance of the use of c01umas, coluns, 
etc., and his one unwaYering and unchanging te:;timony regard­
ing the discovery and translation of the plates are all strong 
corroborative evidence that no educated man ha<l anything to 
do with the production of the book; and how inconsistent with 
the stories of Joseph Smith' s confirmed laziness is the idea that 
he would go to the trouble of copying out a manuscript which 
makes more than six hundred pages of closely printed matter! 
The promoters of the ' ;Spaulding story'' are terribly inconsistent 
in the various parts of their theory. 

The statement that )Ir. Spaulding took his romance to )Ir. 
Patterson may be true or it may not, individually we do not 
believe it, but the assertion that Sidney Rigdon worked in that 
gentleman's printing office we have elsewhere shown to be 
utterly false. We will let l\Ir. Howe, who purchased Hurl­
burt's manuscript, give his version of this affair; simply 
reminding our readers that his book, " }lormonism Unveiled, " 
wa8 published in 1834, when the exact facts would be much 
fresher in the memory of the participants than in 1880. Speak­
ing of the "bianuscript Found, " he writes: 
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" It was inferred at once that some light might be shed upon 
this subject and the mystery revealed by applying to Patterson 
and Lambdin, in Pittsburg. But here again death had inter 
posed a barrier. That establishment was dissolved and broken 
up many years since, and Lambdin died about eight years ago. 
l\Ir. Patterson says he has no recollection of any such manu­
suript being brought there for publication, neither would he 
have been likely to have seen it, as the business of printing 
was conducted wholly by Lambdin at that time. He says, 
boweyer, that many manuscript books and pamphlets were 
brought to the office about that time, which remained upon 
the shelves for years without being printed or even examined.'' 

)lark how strangely t bis statement disagrees with the asser­
tions of the ladies of the Spaulding family with regard to Mr. 
Patterson's friendship and intimate acquaintance with Mr. 
Spaulding, and the latter's admiration of the '~l\Ianuscript 
Found.'' 

Now notice the insincerity and actual dishonesty of the next 
passages, in view of the fact that Hurlburt had received the 
''1\lanuscript Found' ' from the S1)aulding family, and accord­
ing to his account had given the clocument that he had received 
to Howe, the publisher of the work from which we are quot-. 
mg: 

"Now as Spaulding's book can no where be found, or any­
thing heard of it after being carried to this establishment, 
there is the strongest presumption that it remained there in 
seclusion till about the year 1823 or 1824, at which ti1ne Sidney 
Uig<lon located himself in that city. We have been credibly 
iuforme<l that he was on terms of intimacy with Lambdin, 
being seen frequently at his shop.'' 

Here is a desperate attempt to ccnnect Rigdon with the 
affair. Lambdin was dead so he could not contradict any 
statement about his intimacy with Rigdon; but the whole 
hypothesis amounts to nothing in view of the positive state­
ments of the S paulding family that the " l\1anuscript Found'' 
was in their undisturbed possession, hundreds of miles from 
Pittsburg~ from 1814 to 1834. One thing, however, it shows 
that in those days Sidney Rigdon)s life was too well known for 
Howe to write other than the truth regarding the time he first 
Yisitcd P ittsburg, for when l\irs. Dickenson wildly imagines 
and falsely asserts he was working ip. the office of Patterso~ 
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and Lambdin, all trustworthy authorities, including his 
mother, assert that he was laboring upon his father's farm 2.t 
St Clair, Alleghany Co. , Pennsylvania, which he did not 
leave until he was in his twenty-sixth year, when he went to 
Ohio and afterwards to Pittsburg. 

Possibly doubting the Spaulding story herself Mrs. Dicken· 
son suggests another solution, yet still more ridiculous. She 
writes: "Smith, however, could easily have posses~ed himself 
of the manuscript if he had fancied it suitable to his purpose, 
for it is understood that he was a servant on the farm, or team­
ster for l\lr. Sabine ()Irs. Spaulding's brother) in whose house 
the package of manuscript lay exposed in an unlocked trunk 
for several years.' ' 

Prodigious ! Let us examine this wonderful suggestion. 
According to ~Irs. ~IcKinstry's affidavit the ~')Ianuscript 
Found" was at l\lr. Sabine's from 1S16 to 18~0. Joseph 
Smith was born in the latter part of December 1805, conse­
quently he was not fifteen yt:ars old when the manuscript was 
removed from Jir. Sabine's. A boy of his age would make a rather 
youthful teamster or farm-hand. And then how preposterous 
the thought that an illiterate boy of ele,en, twelve, or thirteen 
should conceive the idea of converting that old romance into 
something very like the Bible, and of founding a religious 
society on its principles! Then again calculate how much spare 
time a hired man or boy had on a farm in western New York 
fifty years ago; from sun up to sun down he was kept at work, 
often with chores to do after dark. How long would it take an 
ignorant boy under these circumstances, and lazy in the bar· 
gain, to transcribe a book that makes more than 600 pages of 
printed matter and contains, at a rough estimate, more than 
300,000 words? Oh consistency! whither art thou fled? 

But unfortunately for ~Irs. Dickenson's very original theory, 
the testimony of all, friends and enemies alike, is positive that 
during this time Joseph was living with his father's family at 
Palmyra and other plac~s. ltis during this period of his life that 
the foes of divine revelation falsely charge him with confirmed 
idleness, vagabond habits, etc. , and on this charp;e base their 
arguments that such a youth would never have been chosen by 
the Almighty as His servant. But should there be any doubt 
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on this matter we extract a few lines from the already quoted 
affidavit of his sister, 1\-Irs. l(atherine Salisbury. When speak­
ing of the publication of the Book of l\iormon, she avers: ''At 
the time the said book was publish€d, I was seventeen years of 
age ; that at the time of the publication of said book, my bro­
ther, Joseph Smith, .Jr., lived in the family of' my father, in 
the town of l\Ianchester, Ontario county, New York, and that 
he had, all his life to this time made his home with the fam· 
ily." To which we may add during the latter years of this 
period occasionally hiring out for short intervals, but never at the 
early age and for the leugthened period necessary to give con­
sistency to l\Irs. Dickenson,s suppositions. ,v e shall pass by 
several other outrageous misstatements of this lady, and 
simply refer to one which purports to be from the veteran 
journalist, Thurlow Weed, simply to show how utterly unreliable 
n1any persons memories become where '~l\1ormonism" is con­
cerned. 

)! r. ,v eed states that.Joseph Smith called on him in 18~;j, 
desiring to get his manuscript printed, and spoke of finding 
the plates (Joseph did not obtain the plates until September, 
1827, and the translation was not finished until June or July, 
l 8:29 ). That in a few days he brought nlartin Harris ( Harris 
was not associated with J oseph until after the plates were found). 
Seemed about thirty years of age (.Joseph was not twenty 
until Deccm ber 23rd of that year). Was about 5 feet 8 inches 
high (.Joseph was fully 6 feet ). Thus it appears in every detail 
l\Ir. "\Yeed's memory was at fault ; dates, age, hight, etc. , are 
all wrong, very wrong, and his statement is untrustworthy from 
be~inning to end. 

In passing we draw attention to the difference between the 
size of the ''i\Ianuscript Found" and the Book of l\lormon. 
The former, according to irrs. l\icl{instry, was about one inch 
thick of written, not printed, matter. According to Hurlburt, 
the manuscript which he obtained from ~irs. Davison's chest, 
which she states was the ''i\Ianuscript Found,'' contained abo'llt 
one quire of paper. And this was the only manuscript book in 
the trunk. l\Irs. Davison stated in her interview with Mr. 
Ha\·en that the manuscript was about one third the size of the 
Book of l\Iorrnon; while l\fr. J ackson said the romance was a 
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very small work. All agree that it was much smaller than the 
Book of l\.Iormonr while Hurlburt had evidently a motive in 
making out that it was less than it real1y was. He desired to 
make i_t appear that there must have been some other writings 
than the one he obtained. In any case it is a consistent ques­
tion, who manufactured all the rest of the Book of ~Iormon? 

••• 

CH APT El{ \ '". 

WHAT THE BOOK OF MORMON 
REALLY IS. 

THE Book of niormon js the record of God's dealings with 
the people of ancient America from the era of the build­

ing of the Tower of Babel to four hundred and twenty-one year:; 
after the birth of Christ. It is the stick of Ephraim spoken 
of by Ezekiel--the Bible of the western continent. X ot that 
it supersedes, or in any way interferes with the Bible, any 
more than the history of ~lexico supersedes or interferes with 
the history of Rome ; but on the other hand, in many places 
it confirms Bible history, demonstrates Bible truths, sus­
tains Bible doctrine, and fulfils Bible prophecy. 

The Book of ~Iormon contains the history of two distinct 
races. The first came from the Tower of Babel and was 
destroyed a little less than six hundred years before Christ. The 
story of their national life is given Yery briefly, but sufficient is 
said to proYe that they were one of the mightiest nations of 
antiquity, and in the days of their righteousness a people 
highly blessed of the Lord. Their fall and final destruction 
were t-he result of their gross wickedness and rejection of God's 
prophets. These people were called the J are<:lites, their his­
tory in the Book. of ~Iormon is contained in "the Book of 
Ether." Ether was one of their last prophets who wrote his 
account on twenty-four plates of gold. ~Ioroni, the last pro­
phet of the Nephites, abridged Ether's history and it is his 
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abridgment that has been translated and published in this 
generation, and which forms a portion of the Book of Mormon. 

The next race that inhabited this continent were of Israel­
itish origin, the descendants of Joseph and Judah. The 
Nephites, the ruling branch, were principally the descendants 
of l\Ianasseh. By divine guidance their first prophet and 
ruler, Lehi, was brought out of Jerusalem with a small com ... 
pany of his relatives and friends, eleven years before the 
Babylonian tiapdvity (B. C. 600). They sailed from south­
eastern Arabia across the Indian and Pacific oceans, and 
landed on the American shore not far from where the city of 
·v alparaiso now stands. In the first year of the captivity 
another small colony was led out from Jerusalem, l\Iulek, one 
of the sons of I{ing Zedekiah, being their nominal leader. 
This party landed in North America some distance north of 
the I sthmus of Darien, and soon after migrated into the 
northern portion of the southern continent, where for nearly 
four centuries they grew in numbers, but not in true civiliza­
tion. 

In the meantime the descendants of the colonists under 
Lehi had also grown numerous. Early in their history they 
had separated into two nationalities; the first, called N ephites, 
observing the laws of rtloses, the teachings of the prophets, 
and developing in the decencies and comforts of civilized life ; 
the others, called Larnanites (after the cruel, rebellious 
elder brother of Nephi), sank into barbarism and idolatry. 
These latter gradually crowded the Nephites northward until 
the latter reached the land occupied by the descendants of 
:\Iulck's colony, now cal1ed the veople of Zarahemla, with 
whom they coale:,;:ced and formed one nation. From their 
national birth to B. C. Dl, the Nephites had been ruled by 
kings, but at that time the form of government was changed 
and a republic founded. The nation was then ruled by judges 
elected by the people. This portion of the history ot the 
N ephites is a very varied one. One third of their time they 
were engaged in actual war with the Lamanites, and at other 
times they were distracted with internal convulsions and 
rebellions. About A. D. 30, the republic was overthrown and 
the people split up into numerous independent tribes. At the 
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crucifixion of the Savior this continent was the scene of ter­
rible natural convulsions, which resulted in a great ch ange in 
the face of nature and an immense loss of human life. Shortly 
after these days of terror the Redeemer appeaTed to the sur­
viving remnants, taught them His gospel and organized His 
Church. A lengthened period of blessed peace followed in which 
all men served the Lord. Gradually, however, the old evils again 
crept in, many returned to the sins of their forefathers, the 
spirit of darkness and bloodshed again held sway, and finally the 
whole Nephite race was overpowered and destroyed (A. D. 
384} by the other faction who had assumed the old name of 
La.mamites. The descendants of these Lamanitcs are found 
in the American Indians, not of the 1; nited States alone, but 
as the aborigines of the whole continent from Pat~ .' ~ J.a. to 
the Arctic ocean. 

The records of this people, engra,ed on various plate:3 were 
hid by the last of the N ephite prophets, )Iormon, and his son 
l\Ioroni. A portion thereof has, by God 's grace, been 
restored tc, the knowledge of mankind in this age, and trans­
lated into ma?y languages, that the truths contained therein, 
whether they be history, doctrine, or prophecy, may be known 
by all men. 

CHAPTER VI. 

UTTER DISAGREEMENT OF THE 'T W O 

HISTORIES, 

IT is our purpose in this chapter to demonstrate, from the 
Book of nlormon itself, the absurdity of the 0 Spaulding 

Story," and the utter impossibility of the Prophet Joseph 
Smith ever having used ~Ir. Spaulding's reputed romance, 
the "l\ilanuscript Found," as the groundwork for that divine 
record. 

At different times since the publication of the Book of 
Mormon various writers have undertaken to explain the plot 
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and contents of the "1'1anuscri pt Found, " and to show how 
remarkable is the resemblance between it and the Book of 
l\Iormon. 

\Ve are to]d by one clerical author that when the Book of 
nlorruon was read to Solomon Spaulding's widow, brother and 
six other persons, all well acquainte<l with 1'1r. Spaulding's 
writings, they immediately recognized in the Book of l\Iormon 
the same historical matter and names as composed the 
romance, although this reading took place some years after 
they had read the latter work. The writer further states that 
they affirmed that the Book of 1'lormon was with the excep­
tion of the religious matter, copied aln10st word for worcl from 
Spaulding's manuscript. 

Another writer affirms that the romance of Spaulding was 
siniiutr in all its leacling features to the historical portions of 
the Book of nlormon. A third writer maintains that the his­
torical part of the .Book of nlormon was immediately recog­
nized by all the older inhabitants of X ew Salem, Ohio, as the 
identwal wo,·lc of ~Ir. Spaulding, in which they had been so 
interested twenty years before. 

Those who claim to have been acquainted with the writings 
of }Ir. Spaulding, differ materially as to the incidents and plot 
of the "~lanuscript Found." According to their widely 
different statements, his ron1ance was based upon one of two 
theories. The first on the idea of the landing of a Roman 
colony on the Atlantic seaboard shortly before the Christian 
era. The second (now the most generally known and accepted) 
on the supposition that the present American Indians are the 
descendants of the ten tribes of Israel, who were led away 
captive out of their own land into ~ledia, where historically 
the world loses sight of them, but where nlr. Spaulding's 
romance finds them and transports them to America. It is 
upon this idea of the transportation of this great and 
numerous people from the land of their captivity to the 
western world that this gentleman's noYel is generally said to 
have been foun<led. 

,v e will examine this statement first., and strive to discover 
how nearly it agrees with the historical narrative of the 
Book of ~Iormon, which we are told was immediately recog-· 
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nized as being identical and copied alniost word for word from 
the pages of the " ~Ianuscript Found. '' 

1 n the first place, it is well to remark that the Book of Jlor­
mon makeg, Lut very few references to the ten tribes, and in 
those few, it directly, plainly and unequi,ocally states that the 
American Indians are not the descendants of the ten tribes, 
and further, ~that the ten tribes never were in-America, or any 
part of it, during any portion of their existence as a nation. * 
On the other hand, the Book of Jlormon as directly informs us 
from whom the aborigines, or natives, of this continent are 
descended. This being the caae, how is it possible for the two 
works to be identical ? 

But admitting, for the sake of argument, that Joseph Smith 
might have changed the statement of the author of the 
"l\rlanuscript Found·' in this one particular, we will proceed to 
show that such a supposition is utterly impossible ; for to ha""e 
retained the unities of the work and the consistencies of the 
story (for the story of the Book of ~Ior1non is consistent with 
itself), he must have altered not only the leading features but 
also the minor details of the whole historical narrati,·e. He 
must have altered the place of departure, the circumstances of 
the journey, the route taken by the emigrants, the time of the 
emigration and every other particular connected with such a 
great movement. We must recollect that the Book of ~Ior­
mon gives the account of a small colony (perhaps of about thirty 

• -Our crucified Redeemer , in His tea<:hiog:;; to the ~ephites, t h n!') refer$ 
to t.he t en tribes of t he hou6e of brnel: 

" And behold this is the larnl of )"Our inheritant.:e, and the Father hath 
gi ven it unto y ou. And not at any time hath the FatbergiYen me eomurnntl­
ment that I sh ould tell it un to your br<:th ren at Jeru:.;a'.eru; neither at any 
time b a th the Father given rue commandweut, that I sh«JUld tell un to them 
concerniug th e other t r ibes of the house of farael, whom the Father hath 
led away out of the land" (I II. SPphi, n ·. 13-15). 

''That t hey'' (the J ews) "may re~eiYe a kuowletlge of you lly the H oly 
Ghost, and also of the other t ribes whom they know not of " (I II. S ep/ii, 

xvi. 4). 
"The other tribes hath t he F ath€r separated from them'' (IIL .J.Yephi, 

xv. 20). 
"But now I go unto the F ather, and also to show myself unt o the lost tribes 

of Israel, for they are not lost unto the F ather, for H e knoweth whither H e 
hath taken them" (III. Neplti, xvii . 4). 
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or forty souls) being led by tbe Lord from the city of Jerusa­
lem through the wilderne~s south and east of that city, to the 
borders of the Red Sea, thence for some distance in the same 
direction near its coast, and then across the Arabian peninsula to 
the sea eastward. ,vhat insanity could have induced Mr. 
Spaulding to propose such a 1oute for the ten tribes? For of 
all out-of-the-way methods of reaching the American continent 
from l\Iedia, this would be one of the most inaccessible, diffi­
cult, round-about and improbable, and would carry them along 
the two sides of an acute angle by the time they reached the 
shore where the ship was built. It would almost certainly 
have taken these tribes close to, if not through. a portion of 
their own ancient homes, where it is reasonable to suppose 
nearly all would have desired to tarry, when we consider how 
great was the love that ancient Israel bore for that rich land 
given to them by di vine power. 

Mr. Spaulding, as a student of the Bible, would have made 
no such blunder. But even supposing that he was foolish 
enough in his romance to transport the hosts of Israel from 
the south-western borders of the Caspian Sea ( where history 
loses them ) by the nearest route, most probably over the Arme­
nian mountains, across the Syrian desert, and by way of 
Damascus through the lands of Gilead, Moab and Edom into 
the wilderness of the Red Sea, where, we ask, is there an 
account of such a journey in any portion of the Book of Mor­
mon? There is none, for the Book of l\1ormon opens with 
the description of L ehi' s departure from J erusalem, with the 
causes that led thereto, he having been a resident of that city 
all his days, and never a captive ·in l\Iedia. Therefore we are 
justified in asking, at the very outset of this inquiry, where, 
from the opening pages onward, is there any identity between 
the two books ? 

Then, again, is it not obvious to every thinking person that 
the moving of a nation, such as the ten tribes were, must have 
had associated with it events and circumstances entirely incon­
sistent and at variance with the simple story of the journey of 
Lehi and his family as given, frequently with 1ninute detail, 
in the Book of Mormon? How numerous were the host of 
the captive Israelites we have no means of definitly ascertain-
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in~. We learn, however, that in one invasion alone, Shal­
maneser, king of Assyria, carried off two hundred thousand 
captives from the kingdom of Israel. Even admitting that 
in their captivity these two hundred thousand did not increase 
in numbers, and entirely ignoring all the oth er thousands that 
were led away captives in other invasions, we should necessa­
rily expect that Spaulding, in his account of the moving of 
this mass of humanity- ·men, women and children, with their 
flocks, herds and supplies- would write a narrati,e consistent 
with the subject and not one such as the Book of )lormon 
contains. But whether he did or did not, the Book of )lor­
mon contains nothing whatever of the kind. In that work no 
vast armies are led out of ~Iedia by any route whatever to the 
American continent. 

We have there an entirely different story, more dissimilar 
indeed fron1 Spaulding's supposed narrati,ye than the h istory 
of the deliverance of I srael out of E~ypt, under ~loses, is 
from the story of the departure f rorn the old world, the voyage 
across the Atlantic and the landing on this continent of the 
Pilgrim Fathers, of revered memory. In the narrati,ye that 
the Book of ~lormon gives of the journeyings of Lehi and 
his little colony, all the incidents related are consistent with 
the idea of a small people and entirely inconsistent with that 
of a vast moving multitude. 

For instance, let us take as an example, the story of Nephi 
breaking his bow by which the little caravan was placed in 
danger of starvation. If there had been a ,ast host , number­
ing nearly a quarter of a million souls, such an incident coul(l 
have had no weight; for surely 1'Ir. Spaulding uever wrote 
that one hunter alone supplied ~uch a multitude with all the 
necessary food, and it would be equally absurd to imagine 
that that gentleman would tel1 such an improbable story as 
that all the hunters broke all their bows at the same time. 
Again, the Book of l\Iormon tells us that Lehi and bis com -
panions depended on the chase for their en t ire food. Where , 
we would ask, in the midst of the Arabian desert, could 
game enough be found to supply the entire wants of the 
migrating ten tribes? And further, what would they do for 
water for such a company in the trackless Arabian desert 
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without divine interposition and the manifestation of miracul• 
ous power ? But the Book of ~Iormon hints ar, no such con­
tingency. 

Again, the story of the building of the ship by Nephi must 
have been entire]y altered, for no one ship, though it had 
been twenty times as large as the Great Eastern, could 
have carried l\lr. Spaulding's imaginary company .and 
their effects across the wide waters of the Indian and Pacific 
oceans. 

We must now draw attention to the time when the Book of 
Mormon states Lehi and his company were led out of Jeru­
salem. There is no ambiguity on this point. It is repeatedly 
stated that this event took place six hundred years before the 
advent of our Savior; that is, it was previous to the Babylon­
ish captivity. The ten tribes were not lost sight of at that 
time; they were undoubtedly st.ill in the ]and of their cap­
tivity, and if l\ir. Spaulding was foolish enough in his romance 
to set a date to his exodus, he certainly would not have placed 
it during tbe lifetime of Jeremiah, the prophet, and of N ebu­
cbaduezzar, king of Babylon ; for not only would such a date 
have marred the consistency of the story, but it is also utterly 
impossible for us to conceive, as an historical probability, that 
the mighty king of Babylon would have permitted the ten 
tribes to escape from their captivity at that time, and above 
all things to have taken such a route as would have brought 
them near the borders of the Red Sea. If they escaped at 
a]I, it necessarily would have been to the uninhabited regions 
northward. From a political standpoint it would have been 
suicidal and utterly inconsistent with the polity of the kin~ of 
Babylon to allow the captive Israelites to march forth in the 
supposed direction; for it would have placed them in imme­
diate contact with the kingdom of Judah and enabled them to 
have formed an alliance with their former brethren antago­
nistic to his interest and policy. 

To pursue the subject sti11 further: when the colony reached 
the land of promise, which we call America, the inci~ents 
re1ated in the Book of ~Iormon are entirely con;,istent with 
the story of the voyage and of the peopling of the land by a 
small colony and not by a vast host. If ~Joseph Smith, as 



MANUSCRLFT FOUND. 51 

some claim, had changed l\Ir. Spaulding's romance, he must 
have still continued to alter the narrative throughout the 
entire volume, for the story still maintains its consistency, 
and through it from beginning to end there runs a thread, 
possible only on the theory that it was a single family with 
their immediate connections through marriage that first 
founded the nations of the N ephites and Lamanites. The 
entire history hinges on the quarrels of the sons of Lehi and 
the results growing therefrom; for from the division of this 
family into two separate and distinct peoples grew all tbe 
wars, contentions, bloodshed, troubles and disasters that fill 
the pages of thi:.; sacred record; while on the other hand, the 
blessings flowing to both nations almost always resulted from 
the reconciliation of the two opposing peoples and the inau,gura­
tion of a united and amicab]e po]icy beneficial alike to both. 
Had the American continent been peopled at the commence­
ment by a vast host, the wl1ole current of the story must 
have been vastly different, not only in the events that took 
place, but also in the motives that controlled the hearts of 
the actors who took part in those e-vents, and in the tradi­
tions of the masses. In the case of the N ephites and 
Lamanites, these traditions had an ov-erwhelming influence 
in the shaping of public affairs, whi<.:h shape they never could 
have received by any set of traditions incidental to ~Ir. 
Spaulding's story. 

What, too, shall we say of the J aredites? From whence 
did Joseph Smith beg, borrow or steal their history? Did 
l\Ir. Spaulding bring his ten trjbes from the tower of Babel, 
and give them an existence ages anterior to the lifetime of 
their great progenitor, Jacob ? If not, will somebody inform 
us how this portion of the Book of Mormon was manufac­
tured? 

From the above it is evident that if 1\Ir. Spaulding' s story 
was what its friends claim, then it never could have formed 
the ground work of the Book of l\Iormon, for the whole his­
torical narrative is different from beginning to end. And 
further, the story that certain old inhabitants of New Salem, 
who, it is eaid, recognized the Book of ~Iormon, either never 
made such a statement, or they let their imagination run away 
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with their memory in.to the endorsement of a falsehood and 
an impossibility. Either way there is a lie; if they asserted 
that the Book of ~Iormon is identical with the "Spaulding 
story," then they are guilty of having violated the truth; if 
they did not make this statement, then the falsehood is wit h 
those who, in their hatred to modern revelation, have 
invented their testimony. The same statement applies to those 
who assert that the Book of Mormon was copied almost word 
for word from the '':r.1anuscript Found.'' A book that is 
entirely dissimilar in its narrative cannot be exact in its word­
ing. As well might we say, and be just as consistent and every 
way as truthful, that the history of England was copied from 
the adventures of Robinson Crusoe. So it is with the Book 
of l\Iormon and the Spaulding romance. 

If then the resemblance is so small between the Book of 
l\Iormen ancl the " Manuscript Found," when we consider the 
ten tribe version of the latter work, where is it possible there 
can be the shadow of similarity when we examine the Roman 
colony theory? ~,or instance : 

Lehi left Jerusalem ; Spaulding' s herGes sailed from 
Rouie. 

Lehi started on his journey not knowing whither the Lord 
would lead him ; the Romans were hound for Britain. 

Lehi and his companions wandered for several years on 
land ; the Roman party made the entire journey by water. 

Lehi traveled by way of the Arabian peninsula and the 
Indian and Pacific oceans; Spaulding's imaginary characters 
sailed by way of the 1'1editerranean sea and the Atlantic 
ocean. 

The travels of one party were considerably south of tast; 
the voyage of the others west or north-west. 

One party ]anded on the South Pacific shore ; * the other on 
the North Atlantic. 

*-Regar<ling the route taken by Lehi and his company, the Prophet 
.Joseph Smith states: 

"They traveled nearly a south, south-cast direction until they came to the 
ninteE>nth degrE'c of north latitude; t he n, nearJy east to the sea of Arabia, 
then sail e<l in a !-Outh-ea~t <.lirec:ti<Jn, an<l lan<led ou the c:outineut of S"uth 
A1uerka, in Chili, thirty ,Jcgrees south Jatit udc." 
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Mormon's record was written in reformed Egyptian ; the 
imaginary ' 1~Ianuscript Found" in Latin. 

l\Iormon's record was engrav€d on plates of metal ; Spauld­
ing' s pretended manuscript was written on parchment. 

The origiual of the Book of ~1ormon was hid in the hill 
Cumorah, state of New York ; ~Ir. Spaulding's manuscript 
is claimed to have been discovered in a cave near Conneaut, 
state of Ohio. 

The Book of l\Iormon g ives an account of a religious 
people, God's dealings with whom is th e central dominant 
idea ; Spaulding' s romance tells the story of an idolatrous 
people. Such is the positiYe statement of his widow and 
daughter. 

There is another point worth y of our thought : If Joseph 
Smith did m'ake use of the ' 'l\Ianuscript Found, '' it must 
have been for one of t wo reasons: E ither because he was 
not able to write such a work h in1self, or that he might save 
hin1self trouble and labor. In t he first place he cou!d not 
have done this for the lack of ability ; for any one who cou)d 
have so adroitly altered a h istory of the ten tribes so that it 
now reads as a distinct, detailed and consistent h istory of a 
small company of the tribe of Joseph , most assuredly could 
have written such a history for h irnse1f if he had felt so dis­
posed. Then again, he could not haYe done it to save him­
self work, for to so change a long history from one end to the 
other, until it contradicted all it had previously asserted. an<l 
became the harmonious history of another people, would sa,ye 
no man trouble. Then, again , in considering these points, 
we must remember what an " idle vagabond" Joseph was, 
according to some people's stor ies. What could haYe possibly 
possessed him to do such an enormous amount of copying, 
when, as illiterate as he was, sueh an operation would have 
been immensely hard work ? Though it must be remembered 
all this time he was loafing round the street corners, telling 
fortunes and doing everything but honest toil-that is, if some 
people' s tales are to be believed. 

And, again, to show the weakness of our opponents' argu­
ments, supposing for a moment that Joseph was an impostor, 
then he ran the risk of detection by copying another man's 
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work, he ran that risk without a single motive, except it was 
the privilege of toiling for nothing, or the pleasure of being 
exposed, when by writing it himself be need have no risk 
at a11. 

CHAPTER VII. 

JOSEPH SMITH'S EARLY LIFE. 

THE supposed bad character of Joseph Smith when a 
youth has been made the text for many a tirade against 

the gospel that be, by God's gr1tce, restored to the earth. How 
is it possible, it is asked, that we can believe that God would 
choose such an instrument for llis work? We answer in the 
first place, God's ways are not as man's ways, and He has a 
perfect right to choose whomsoever He will. But further we 
assert, knowing we speak the truth, that the stories about 
Joseph Smith's bad character are false, and were never 
whispered until after God called him. and he had commenced 
the work that heaven assigned him. Until that time he and 
his parents with their entire family enjoyed a good reputation 
among their neighbors. 

No sooner had Joseph borne bis simple testimony of 
angelic visitations, than the evil one commenced to vilify his 
character, to destroy the effect of bis testimony. Evil 
reports spread far and wide, growing as they wentt as lies 
always do, until the days of D. P. Hurlburt, who, when 
going east to obtain the "~Ianuscript Found,'' made it his 
business to visit the neighborhood of J oscph's early home, 
and gather for publication all the floating scandal that bad 
been in circulation from the beginning. He also procured an 
affidavit, or affidavits, which be asserted numbers of the old 
neighbors of the Smith farr1ily signed. Some of the persons 
whose names were attached to those papers have since repudi­
ated all knowledge thereof, and make statements with regard 
to Joseph Sn1ith's character entirely at :variance with the 
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tenor of the affidavits. Others signed from hearsay and nunor 
and not from actual knowledge. O thers are said to have been 
themselves men of such disreputable character that to be 
traduced by them was a compliment. The nan1es of entire 
strangers were also added to swell the list. T hese fradu­
lent and untruthful affidavits have been reprinted time anJ 
again, and oth ers have followed in H urlburt' s footsteps, 
inventing other statements with regard to Joseph Smith, anJ 
attached the names of we11-known residents of Palmyra, 
Manchester , etc., thereto without their knowledge and con­
sent, and putting ioto their n1ouths statements entirely 
at variance with their sentiments and expressions. ,v e 
regret to h a,ye to say that this dirty work has generally 
been done by professed ministers of the gospel. 

The affidavits gathered hr Hurlburt make the signers 
thereto complain that the Smith family, especially .J o:::epb, was 
indolent, intemperate, untruthful, "entirely destitute of moral 
character and addicted to vicious habits. '' These charges are 
not only false, but they also manifest all the bitter hatred of 
religious bigotry and a11 the exaggeration of en,y and re,enge. 

Joseph was undoubtedly uot perfect-none of us are-but 
he was far superior in almost every respect to his neighbors 
and associates. In h is own account of his youth, between the 
time of his first vision and the visit of the angel ) Ioroni, he in 
the humili ty of his repentance fully confesses bis youthful 
follies, and, as is natural with ~ensitive and consciencious 
natures, such as his, evidently applies ;he strongest language 
to his shortcom ings, and exaggerates rather than extenuates 
his youthful misdeeds. 

He writes: 
" Dnring the space of t ime which intervened between the 

time I had the Yision and the year eighteen hundred and 
twenty-three (having been forbidden to join any of the 
religious sects of the day, and being of very tender years, and 
persecuted by those who ought to have been my friends, and to 
have treated me kindly, and if t hey supposed me to be deluded 
to have endeavored, in a proper and affectionate manner , to 
have reclaimed me), I was left to all kinds of temptations, and 
mingled with all kinds of society. I frequently fell into many 
foolish errors, and displayed the weakness of youth1 and the 
corruption of human nature, which , I am sorry to say, led me 
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into divers temptations1 to the ~ratification of many appetites 
offensive in the sight of God. In consequence of these things 
I often felt condemned for my weakness and imperfections; 
when on the e,·ening of the twenty-first of September, after I 
had retired to my bed for the night. I betook myself to prayer 
and supplication to Almighty God: for forgiveness of all my 
sins and follies, and also for a manifestation to me. that I 
might know of my state and standing before Him ; for I had 
full confidence in obtaining a divine manifestation, as I had 
previously done.'' 

The above is a simple, st.raigbtforward, artless statement of 
his condition, in which he seeks to hide nothing, but at the 
same tin1e shows that the rebuffs he received, the persecutions 
he suffered from those who should ha,·e been his guides 
and friends had sufficient influence to cause him occasionally 
to gh·e way to the weakness of youth incidental to association 
wi th the rough and unrestrained society he from his lowly 
position in life was naturally compelled to mingle with. 

,Yhen comparing the before-mentioned vile charges with the 
testimony of those who knew the future Prophet's family 
be-st, we learn that instead of being indolent, the family were 
''good workers ; ' ' instead of being untruthful and vicious, they 
were honest1 upright, religious and veracious~ good neighors, 
kind in sickness, but very poor, and with but little of the 
knowledge of this world. Their poverty, which some unchari­
table souls have transformed into "shiftlessness," or lack of 
management, is one of the heaviest charges brought against 
them. 

The charge of inten1perance can be simmered down to the 
fact that on one or two occasions, in the harvest field, Joseph 
drank rather more cider than <lid hi1n good. All the witnesses 
declare that "everybody drank in those days." It was before 
the age of tern perancc socictie3, and all classes of people con­
sidered it perfectly right to take a little strong drink occasion­
ally. Drunkenness was the besetting sin of that era among 
the English race. .Joseph was not a "teetotaler,' .' because 
there were none. He was also very fond of wrestling, as many 
of his friends of later years know, and doubtless when stimu~ 
lated with cider was on hand for a bout, or for any other 
athletic game or trial of strength that might be suggested. 
Fro1n this exuberance of animal spirits, the enemies of God's 
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latter-day work have built up the story of ,Joseph's inebriety 
and vagabond character. 

Again, he is charged with the grave offense of being a 
"money-digger." In one sense this is true. The whole 
country round about western New York was in those days 
affected with a mania to discover hidden treasures in the earth. 
)lost marvelous stories are~ told of the interposition of unseen 
beings when some of these treasures were disturbed. The 
public mind was greatly troubled on this subject, and .Joseph 
Smith was employed by a man at one time to dig for him in 
the hope of discovering some of these buried riches, or an 
ancient Spanish mine. .T oseph worked for him as be would 
for any other man, or for the san1e man if he engaged him to 
plant potatoes or hoe corn. From thiis grew the story of 
Joseph being a money-di~·ger. Even if he dug for treasure 
on his own responsibility, we do not know that there is anything 
degrading, dishonest or criminal in such an action. 

The following is Joseph's own account of the manner in 
which he became saddled wjth the title of ' ~ ~Ione~·-digger :" 

''As my father's worldly circumstances were very limited, 
we were under the necessity of laboring with our hands, hiring 
by day's work and otherwise as we could get opportunity ; 
sometimes we were at home and sometimes abroad, and by 
continued labor we were enabled to get a comfortable main­
tenance. 

"In the year 182-L my father's fami]y met with a great 
affliction, by the death of my eldest brother, Ah·in. In the 
month of October, 1825, I hired with an old gentleman by the 
name of Josiah Stoal, who liYed in Uhenango county, State of 
New York. He had heard something of a silver mine having 
been opened by the Spaniards, in Harmony, Susquehanna 
county, state of Pennsyh·ania, and had, previous to my hiring 
with him, been digging, in order, if possible, to dist oYer the 
mine. After I went to live with him he took me among the 
rest of his hands to dig for the silver mine, at which I con­
tinued to work for nearly a month without success in our under­
taking, and finally I pre,·ailed with the old gentleman to cease 
dig~ing after it. Hence arose the Yery prevalent story of 1uy 
having been a money-digger. '' 

Somewhere about this time, or possibly rather later, Joseph 
worked for nir. Joseph !(night, of Colesville, Xew York. 

Of Joseph, iir. Knight's son, Newel, writes in his private 
manuscript journal, as follows: 

3 



58 THE MYTH OF THE 

''The business my father was engaged in, oft.en required 
~im to have hired help, and among the many he from time to 
time, employed was a young man by the name of Joseph Smith, 
Jun., to whom I was particularly attached. His noble deport­
ment, his faithfulness, and his kind address could not fail to 
win the esteem of those who had the pleasure of his acquaint­
ance. One thing I will mention which seemed to be a peculiar 
characteristic with him in all his boyish sports and amuse­
ments: I never knew anyone to gain advantage over him, and 
yet he was al ways kind and kept the good will of his play­
mates." 

In l\Iarch, 1881, two gentlemen, named Kelley, residing in 
l\I ichigan, for their own satisfaction, visited the neighborhood 
where Joseph spent his youth, and questioned the older resi­
dents who were acquainted with the Smith family as to their 
knowledge of the character of Joseph, his parents and his 
brothers and sisters. Their interviews with numerous parties 
who claim to have known Joseph were afterwards published; 
Among those visited were the families, and sometimes the 
identical persons whose names had been appended, often with­
out their knowledge, to former scurrilous affidavits regarding 
the reputation of the Smith family. In several cases these 
parties stated that they did not so much as know that any 
statement of theirs had ever been published ; that they never 
uttered the sentiments or made the assertions attributed to 
them, and in some instances that they had been abused because 
they would not make the damaging statements regarding 
,Joseph's character that those who visited them required. In 
many cases where they spoke disparagingly of the Prophet's 
family to the ~Iessrs. l(elley, these gentlemen found that they 
spoke from, hearsay, and not fr01n actual lcnowleilge; while 
those who knew Joseph best spoke of him the most highly. 
,v e here append a few extracts from these interviews, at the 
same time remarking ( to put the feeling in the mildest 
language), that some of these gentlernen were no friends of 
the Smith fa1nily. 

"\Vhat did you know about the Smiths, ~Ir. Gilbert?" 
" I knew nothing myself; have seen Joseph Smith a few 

times, but not acquainted with him. Saw Hyrum quite often. 
I am the party that set the type from the original manuscript 
for the Book of l\lormon. They translated it in a cave. I 
would know that manuscript t-0-day if I should see it. The 
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tnost of it was in Oliver Cowdery's handwriting. Some in 
Joseph's wife' s; a small part though. Hyrum Smith always 
brought the manuscript to the office ~ he woul<l have it under 
his coat, and all buttoned up as carefully as though it was so 
much gold. He said at the time that it was translated from 
plates by the power of God, and they were ,ery particular 
about it. ,v e had a great d€al of trouble with it. 1 t was not 
punctuated at all. They did nut know anything about punctu­
ation, and we had to do that ourseh-es .. , 

~~Well ; did you change anr part of it when you were setting 
the type?" 

'~No, sir; we never changed it at all. ' ' 
''Why did you not change it and correct it? 
"Because they would not allow us to ; they were very par­

ticular about that. ,Ye never changed it in the least. 0 h, 
well; there might have been one or two words that I changed 
the spelling of; I belie Ye I did change the spelling of one, 

. and_perhaps two, but no 1nore. ·' 
"Did you set all the type, or Jitl son1e one help you?" 
"I did the whole of it myself, and helped to read the proof, 

too; there was no one who worked at that hut mysel£ Did 
you ever see one of the first copies'? I have one here that was 
never bound. )Ir. Grandin, the printer, gave it to me. If 
you ever saw a Book of ~lorrnon you will see that they changed 
it afterwards.' ' 

"They did! ,v ell, let u::; see your copy; that is a good 
point. How is it chang-ed now?'' 

" I will show you (bringing out his c·opy). Here on the 
title page it says (reading), 4-J oseph Smith, Jr. , author and 
proprietor.' Afterwards, in getting out other editions they 
left that out, and only claimed that.Joseph S1nith translated 
"t " I . 

"Well, did they claim anything else than that he was the 
translator when they brought the n1anuscript to you?'' 

"Oh, no; they clain1ed that he wa::; translating by means of 
some instruments he got at the same time he did the plates, 
and that the Lord helped him. ·' 

The l\,J essrs. I{elley also called upon Dr. John Stafford, at 
Rochester, N. Y. He is now a retired physician, being too 
aged antl infirm to practice. Answering a question as to the 
character of Joseph Smith, he said: 

"He was a real clever, jovial boy. What Tucker said about 
them" (the Smith family ) "was false, absolutely. )Iy father, 
\ViJliam Stafford, was never connected with them in any way. 
The Smiths, with others, were digging for money before Joe 
got the plates. l\Iy father had a stone, which some thought 
they could look through, and old ~Irs. Smith came there for it 
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one day= but ne\·er gut it. Saw tl1ern digging_ one time for 
money; ( this was three or four years before the Book of Mor­
mon was found ) the Smiths and others. The old 1nan and 
H yrum were there, I think. but .Joseph was not there. The 
neighbors used to claim Sally Ch9se could look at a stone she 
had, and see money. WiJlard Chase used to dig when she 
found where the money was. Don' t know as anybody ever 
found any money.'' 

"'Vhat was the character of Smith, as to his drinking?,, 
''It was common then for eYerybody to drink, and to have 

drink in the field ; one time ,Joe, while working for some one 
after he was married, drank too much boiled cider. He came 
in with his shirt torn ; his wife felt bad about it, and when 
they went ho1ne, she put her shawl on him. ' ' 

' 'H ad he been fighting and drunk?': 
''X o; he had been scuffling with some of the boys. Never 

saw h im fight ; haYe known ]1im to scuffle; would do a fair 
day's work if hired out to a man; but were poor managers, " 
( the Smiths. ) 

' ·,Vhat about that black sheep your father let them have?" 
" I have heard that story, but don' t t hink my fatl1er was 

there at the time they say Smith got the sheep. I don ' t 
know anything about it. '' 

" You were living at home at the time, and it ~eems you 
ought to know if they got a sheep, or stole one, from your 
father ?" 

'
1They never stole one, I am sure ; t hey may have got one 

sometirue." 
" 'Yell, doctor, you know pretty well whether that story is 

t rue or not, that Tucker tells. W bat do you think of it ?'' 
'

1 l don ' t think it is true. I would haYe heard more about 
it, that is true. I li\'Cd a mile from Smith's; am seventy-six 
years old. They were peaceable among themselves. The old 
woman had a great deal of faith that their children were going 
to do something great. .Joe was quite illiterate. After they 
began to have school at their house, he improved greatly. " 

··Did they have school in their own house?" 
''Yes, sir ; they had school in their house, and studied the 

Bible. '' 
' '"\Vho was their t eacher ?' ' 
"They did not have any teacher ; they taught themselves." 

* * * * * * * 
"If young Smith was illiterate as you say, doctor, how do 

you account for the Book of ~J ormon? ' 
" '\Yell, I can't; except that Sidney Rigdon was connected 

with them.'' 
" \Vhat makes you think he was connected with them?" 
" Because I can't account for the Book of i\-lormon any 

other way. ,, 



MANUSCRIPT FOUND . 61 

"Was Rigdon ever around there before the Book of ~Jar-
mon was published ?', . 

"No; not as we could ever find out. Sidney Rigdon was 
never there, that Hurlburt, or Howe, or Tucker could find 
out." 

HWell; you have been looking out for the facts a long time 
have you not, doctor?' ' 

"Yes; I have heen thinking and hearing about it for the 
last fifty years, and lived right among all their ol<l neighbors 
there most of the time.'' 

"And no one h as ever been able to trace the acquaintance 
of Rigdon and Smith, until after the Book of )lormon was 
published, and Rigdon proselyted by Pratt, in Ohio'?" 

"Not that I know of." 

* * * * * * * 
" Were you acquainted with them" (the Smiths ) " )Ir. Saun­

ders?" 
~'Yes, sir, I knew all of the Smith family well ; there were 

six boys : Alvin, Hyrum, J oseph, Harrison: ,Yilliam and Car­
los, and there were two girls ; the old man was a cooper ; they 
have all worked for me many a day; they were Ycry ~rnod 
people. Young J oe ( as we called him then), bas worked for 
me, and he was a good worker ; they all were. L did not con­
sider them good managers about business, but they were poor 
people ; the old man h ad a large fi1mily." 

"In what re:,pect did they differ from other people; if at 
all?'' 

·'I neYer noticed that theJ were different from other neigh­
bors; they were the best family in the neighborhood in case of 
sickness; one was at my h ouse nearly all the time when my 
father died; I always thou_aht them hone$t ; they were owing 
me some money when they left here: that is: the old man and 
Hyrum did, and nlartin Harris. One of them came back in 
about a year and paid me. ' ' 

"How were they as to habits of drinking and getting 
drunk?' ' 

44Everybody drank a little in those davs, and the S miths 
with the rest ; they neYer got drunk to my ·knowledge. '' 

* * * * * * * 
"How well did you know young Joseph Smith?" 
''Oh! just as well as one could Yery well; h e bas worked 

for me many a time, and been about my place a great deal. 
He stopped with me many a time, when through here, after 
they went west to I{irtland; he was always a gentleman when 
about my place.,' 
· "'Vhat did you know about his finding that Look, or t4e 
pl~tes in the ~i"ll over here r' 
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'LHe always claimed that he saw the angel and received the 
book ; but I don't know anything about it. !lave seen it, but 
neYer read it as I know of; didn' t care anything about it. " 

" W ell ; you seem to differ a little from a good many of the 
stories told a bout these people." 

' 'I ha Ye told you j ust what I know about them, and you 
will ha Ye to go sornew here else for a different story." 

-K * * +. * * * 
''To our inquiries if he, )Ir. Thos. H. Taylor, was acquainted 

with the Smiths: and the early settlers throughout that part, 
sometimes called ~Iormous, he said ;" 

" Yes; I k new them very well ; they were very nice men, 
too ; the only trouble was they were ahead of the people ; and 
the people, as in c,ery such case, turned out to abuse them, 
because the,· had the manhood to stand for their own con­
Y1ct1ons. f have seen such work all through life, and when I 
was working with John Brown for the freedom of my fellow­
man, I often got in tight places; and if it had not been for 
Gerritt Smith, ,v endell Phillips and some others, who gave 
me their influence and money, I don't know how I would ever 
have got t hrough.'' 

" What did the Smiths do that the people abused then1 so?" 
''They did not do anything. '\Vby ! these rascals at one 

time took .Joseph Smith and ducked him in the pond that you 
see over there, j ust because be preached what he believed, 
and for nothing else. And if .Jesus Christ had been there, 
they would h ave done the same to H im. Now I don' t beliel"e 
like he <lid ; but every man bas a right to his religious opin­
ions; and to advocate his views, too ; if people don' t like it, 
let them come out and meet him on the stand, and show his 
error. Smith was always ready to exchange views with the 
best men they bad.' ' 

' 'Why didn' t t hey like Smith ?" 
" To tell t.he truth , there was something about him they 

could not understand ; some way he knew more than they did, 
and it made them mad." 

" But a good many tell t errible stories , about them being 
low people, r ogues and liars, and such things. How is that?' ' 

''Ob ! they are a set of d-d liars. I have had a home 
here, and been here, except when on business, all my life­
ever since I came to this country, and I know these fellows, 
they make these lies on S1nith, because they love a lie better 
than the truth. I can take you to a great many old settlers 
here who will suhstantiate what I say, and if you want to f!O, 

j ust cume around to my place across the street here, and I'll 
<,.o with you. ' ' 
0 

''Well, that is Yery kind, l\ir. Taylor, and fair ; and if we 
have time we will call around an<l ~ive you the chance; but w~ 
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are first going to see these fellows who, so rumor says, know 
so much against them." 

"All right; -but you will find they don't know anything 
against those men when you put them down to it; they could 
never sustain anything against Smith.'' 

'·Do you think Smith ever got any plates out of the bill he 
claimed to?'' 

"Yes; I rather think he did. ,vhy not he find something 
as well as anybody else? Right o,er here, in Illinois and 
Ohio, in mounds there, they have disco,ered copper plates 
since, with hieroglyphics all o,er th~lll ; an~l q~it~ a number 
of the old settlers around here testified that Snnth showed 
the plates to them-they were ?"Ood, honest men, and what is 
the sense in saying they lied? Now, I neYer saw the Book of 
l\'Iormon-don't know anything about it, nor care; and don't 
know as it was ever translated from the plates. You have 
heard about the Spaulding romance; and so1ne clai1n that it is 
nothing but the books of tbe Bible that were rejected by the 
compilers of the Bible ; but all this don't prove that Smith 
never got any plates.'' 

We close this chapter with an extract from the writings of 
Elder Oliver Cowdery, published in a very early day of the 
Church's history : 

''But in consequence of certain false. and slanderous reports 
which have been circulated, justice would require me to say 
something upon the priv·ate life of one whose character has 
been so shamefully traduced. By some he is said to have 
been a fazy, idle, vicious, profligate fellow. These I am pre­
pared to contradict, and that, too, by the testimony of rnany 
persons with whom I haYe been intimately acquainted, and 
know to be indi,iduals of the strictest ,eracity and unquestion­
able integrity. All these strictly and virtually agree in saying, 
that he was an honest, upright, virtuous and faithfully indus­
trious young man. And those who say to the contrary can be 
influenced by no other motive than to destroy the reputation 
of one who never injured any man in either property or 
person.'' 
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CHAPTER VIII. 

JOSEPH'S ACCOUNT OF THE DISCOVERY 

OF THE PLATES. 

WE will now give the Prophet Joseph's own narrative of 
t he finding of the plates from which he, by divine aid, 

translated the Book of :rtformon, with the causes that led 
thereto. It is a simple, unvarnished statement of facts that 
bears on its face the evidence of its truth. 

On the e-rening of Septem her 21st., l 823, Joseph went to 
bed with a strong feeling of regret for his youthful follies, and 
with a determination to seek the Lord for forgiveness and for 
a manifestation of his standing before heaven. With this 
desire, in strong faith, he betook himself to prayer and sup­
plication. He then says: 

" \Vhile I was thus in the act of calling upon God, I dis­
covered a light appearing in the room, which continued to 
increase until the room was lighter than at noonday, when 
immediately a personage appeared at my bedside, standing in 
the air, for his feet did not touch the floor. He had on a loose 
robe of most exquisite whitenes.5., It was a whiteness beyond 
anything earthly I had ever se€n; nor do I believe that any 
earthly thing could be ruade to appear so exceedingly white 
and brilliant; his hands were naked, and his arms also, a litt)e 
above the wrist; so, also, were his feet naked, as were his 
legs, a little above the ankles. His bead and neck were also 
bare. I could discover that he had no other clothing on but 
this robe, as it was open, so that I could see into his 
bosom. 

'
1Not only was his robe exceedingly white, but his whole 

person was glorious beyond description, and his countenance 
truly like lightning. The room was exceedingly light, but not 
so very bright as immediately around his person. When I first 
looked upon him I was afraid, but the fear soon left me. He 
called me by name and said unto me that he was a messenger 
sent fron1 the presence of God to me, and that his name was 
:rt1oroni. That God had a work for me to do, and that my 
~ame should be had for good an<l evil among all nations? 
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kindreds, and tongues; or that it should be both good and 
evil spoken of among all people. He said there was a book 
deposited, written upon gold plates, giving an account of the 
former inhabitants of this continent, and the source from 
whence they sprang. He also said that the fulness of the 
everlasting gospel was contained in it, as delivered by the 
Savior to the ancient inhabitants. Also, that there were two 
stones in silver bows (and thes€ stones, fastened to a breastplate. 
constituted what is called the Urim and Thummim) deposited 
with the plates, and the possession and use of these stones were 
what constituted Seers in ancient or former times, and that 
God had prepared them fo1· the purpose of translating the 
book. 

''Again, he told me that when I got those plates of which 
he had spoken (for the time that they should be obtained was 
not yet fulfilled ) I should not show them to any person, neither 
the breastplate with the Urim and Thummim, only to those 
to whom I should be commanded to show them; if I did, I 
should be destroyed. \Vhile he was conYersing with me about 
the plates, the vision was opened to ~ y mind that I could 8ee 
the place where the plates were deposited, and that so 
clearly and distinctly, that I knew the place again when I 
visited it. 

"After this communication, I :;aw the light in the roo1n 
begin to gather immediately around the J)erson of him who 
had been speaking to me, and it continued to do so, until the 
room was ag~in left dark, except iust around him, when 
instantly I saw, as it were, a conduit open r ight up into 
heaven, and he ascended up till he entirely disa1>peared, and 
the room was left as it had b€en before this heavenly light had 
made its appearance. 

''I lay musing on the singularity of the scene, and marvel· 
ing greatly at what had been told me by thi!:; extraordinary 
messenger, when, in the midst of my meditation, I suddenly 
discoYered that my room was again beginning to get lighted, 
and in an iinstant, as it were, the same heavenly messenger 
was again by my bedside. He commenced, and again related 
the Yery same things which he had done at his first visit, 
without the least variation, which having done, he informed 
me of great judgments which were coming upon the earth, 
with great desolations by famine, sword, and pestilence, and 
that these grievous judgments would come on the earth in this 
generation. Having related these things, he again ascended 
as he had done before. 

''By this time, so deep were the impressions made on my 
mind, that sleep had fled from my eyes, and I lay overwhelmed 
in astonishment at what I bad both seen and heard; but what 
was my surprise when again I beheld the same messenger at 
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my bedside, and heard him reh€arse or repeat over again to 
me the same things as before, and added a caution to me, 
telling me that Satan would try to tempt me (in consequence 
of the indigent circumstances of my father's family) to get the 
plates for the purpose of gettiDg rich. This he forbid me, 
saying that I must have no other object in view in getting the 
plates but to glorify God, and must not be influenced by any 
other motive but that of building His kingdom, otherwise I 
could not get them. · After this third visit, he again ascended 
up into heaven as before, and I was again left to ponder on 
the strangeness of what I had jus t experienced, when almost 
immediately after the heavenly messenger had ascended from 
me the third time, the cock crew, and I found that day was 
approaching, so that our interviews must have occupied the 
whole of that night. I shortly after arose from my bed, and, 
as usual, went to the necessary labors of the day, but, in 
attempting to labor as at other times, I found my strength so 
exhausted as rendered me entirely unable. My father, who 
was laboring along with me, discovered something to be wrong 
with ille, and told me t o go home. I started with the intention 
of going to the house, but, in attempting to cross the fence 
out of the field where we were, my strength entirely failed 
me, and I fell helpless on the ground, and for a time was quite 
unconsciousofanything. The first thing that I can recollect, was 
a voice speaking unto rue calling me by name; I looked up 
and beheld the same messenger standing over my head, sur­
rounded by light, as before. He then again related unto me 
all that he had related to me the previous night, and com­
manded me to go to my father, and tell him of the vision and 
commandments which I had received. 

" I obeyed, I returned back to my father in the field and 
rehearsed the whole matter to him. He replied to me that it 
was of God, and to go and do as commanded by the mes­
senger. I left the field and went to the place where the mes­
senger had told me the plates were deposited, and owing to 
the distinctness of the vision which I bad had concerning it, 
I knew the place the instant that I arrived there. Convenient 
to the village of l\Ianchester, Ontario county, New York, 
stands a hill of considerable size, and the most elevated of any 
in the neighborhood. On the west side of this hill, not far 
from the top, under a stone of considerable size, lay the plates, 
deposited in a stone box; this stone was thick and rounding 
in the middle on the upper side, and thinner towards the 
edges, so that the middle part of it was visible above the 
ground, but t he edge all round was covered with earth. Hav­
ing removed the earth and obtained a lever which I got fixed 
under the edge of the stone, and with a little exertion raised 
it up; I looked in, and there indeed did I behold the plates, 



MANUSCRIPT FOUND. 6i 

the Urim and Thummim, and the breastplate as stated by the 
messenger. The box in which they lay was formed by laying 
stones together in some kind of cement. In the bottom of 
the box were laid two stones crossways of the box, and on 
these stones lay the p1ates and the other things with them. I · 
made an attempt to take them out, but was forbidden by the 
messenger, and was again informed that the time for bring-ing 
them forth had not yet arri-ved, neither would arriYe until four 
years from that time; but he told me that I should come to 
that place precisely in one year from that time, and that he 
would there meet with me, and that l should continue to do 
so until the time ::;honld come for obtaining the plates. 

"Accordingly as I had been commanded, I went at the e nu 
of each year, and at each time I found the same messenger 
there, and receiYed instruction and intelligence from him at 
each of our interviews, respecting what the Lord was going to 
do, and how and in what manner His kingdom was to be con­
ducted in the last days. 

"At length the time arriYed for obtaining the plates, the 
Urim and Thummim, and the breastplate. On the 22nd day 
of September, 1827, having gone, as usual, at the end of 
another year, to the place where they were deposited, the 
same heavenly messenger deli,·ered them up to me with this 
charge, that I should be rer-; ponsible for them ; that if I should 
let them go carelessly or through any neglect of mine, I 
should be cut off; but that if I would use all my endeavors to 
preserve them, until he, the messenger, should call for them, 
they should be protected. 

''I soon found out the reason why I had received such strict 
charges to keep them safe, and why it was the messenger had 
said, that when I had done what was required at my hand, he 
would call for them ; for no sooner was it known that I had 
them, than the most strenuous exertions were used to get 
them from me; eyery stratagem that could be invented was 
resorted to for that purpose; the persecution became more 
bitter and severe than before, and multitudes were on the 
alert continually to get them from me if possible; but, by the 
wisdom of God, they remained safe in my hands, until I had 
accomplished by them what was required at my hand; when 
according to arrangements, the messenger called for them, I 
delivered them up to him, and he has them in his charge 
until this day, being the 2nd day of )lay, 1838. 

uThe excitement, however, still continued, and rumor, with 
her thousand tongues, was all the time em ployed iri circulating 
tales about my father's family, and about myself. If I were 
to relate a thousandth part of them, it would fill up volumes. 
The persecution, however, became so intolerable that I was 
under the necessity of leaving l\lanchester, and going with 
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my wife to Susquehanna county, in the state of Pennsylvania. 
While preparing to start (being very poor, and the persecution 
so heavy upon us, that there wa.s no probability that we wou]d 
ever be otherwise), in the midst of our afflictions we found a 

· friend in a gentleman, by the name of 1"1artin Harris, who 
came to us and gave me fifty dollars to assist us in our afflic­
tions. l\ir. Harris was a resident of Palmyra township, 
Wayne county, in the state of New York, and a farmer of 
respectability. By this timely aid was I enabled to reach the 
place of my destination in Pennsylvania, and immediately after 
my arrival there, I cowweoced copying the characters of the 
plates. I copied a considerable number of them, and by 
means of the U rim and Th ummim I translated some of them, 
which I did between the time I arrived at the house of my 
wife, s father in the month of December, and the Februa-ry 
following. 

''Some time in this month of February, the afore-mentioned 
Mr. l\1artin Harris caruc to our place, got the characters which 
I had drawn off the plates, and started with them to the city 
of New York. For what took place relative to him and the 
characters. 1 refer to his own accouut of the circumstances 
as he related them to me after his return, which was as 
follows: 

"~r went to the city of ·NE'w York, and presented the char­
acters which had been translated, with the translation thereof, 
to Professor Anthon, a gentleman celebrated for his literary 
attainments. Professor Anthon stated that the translation 
was correct, more so t hao any he had be fore seen translated 
from the Egyptian. I then showed him th ose which were not 
yet translated, and he said that they were Egyptian, Chaldaic, 
Assyraic, and Arabic, and lie said that they were the true 
characters. He gave me a certificate, certifying to the people 
of Palmyra that they were true characters, and that the trans­
lation of such of them as had been translated was also correct. 
I took the certificate and put it into my pocket, and was just 
leaving the house, when ~Ir. Anthon called me back and 
asked me how the young man tound out that there were gold 
plates in the place where he found them. I answered that an 
angel of God had revealed it unto him. 

"'He then said unto me, 'Let me see that certific·ate.' I 
accordingly took it out of my pocket and gave it to him, when 
be took it and tore it to pieces, saying that there was no such 
thing now as ministering of angels, and that if I would briqg 
the plates to him, he would translate thew. I informed hi~ 
that part of the plates were sealed, and that I was forbidden 
to brrng them; he replied, 'I cannot read 'a sealed book.' I 
l~ft him and w~nt to D~: ~itche1l? w~o san~tioned what frq· 
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fessor Anthon had said respecting both the characters and the 
translation.' 

"On the 15th [5th ] day of April, l S:29, Oliver Cowdery came 
to my house, until then I had never seen him. He stated to me 
that having been teaching school in the neighborhood where 
my father resided, and my father being one of those who sent 
to the school, he went to board for a season at his house, and 
while there, the family related to him the circumstance of my 
having- the plates, and accordingly he had come to make 
inquiries of me. 

""Two days after the arrival of )Ir. Cowdery (beiog the 17th 
[7th] of April), I commenced to translate the Book of ~Ior­
mon, and he commenced to write for me.·' 

The forcgoinj! is the Prophet Joseph's own account of the 
discovery of the plates, with some details as to the manner of 
their translation. " re will now insert the testimony of the 
witne~ses, who, by divine permission, saw, handled and exam­
ined these sacred records, and afterwards draw attention to the 
value of this testimony, more especially to that of the three 
witnesses, whose lives for so long a period were estranged 
from the Church and people to whom their words are of most 
value. 

THE TESTDIONY OF THREE " . ITNESSES. 

Be it known unto all nations, kindreds, tongues and people 
unto whom this work shall come, that we, through the grace of 
God the Father, and our Lord J esus Christ, have seen the plates 
which contain this record, which is a record of the people of 
Nephi, and also of the Lamanites, their brethren, and also of 
the people of Jared, who came from the tower of which bath 
been spoken; and we also know that they have been translated 
by the gift and power of God, for His voice bath declared it unto 
us; wherefore we know of a surety that the work is true. And 
we also testify that we have seen the engravings which are upon 
the plates; and they have been shown unto us by the power of 
God, and not of man. And we declare with words of soberness, 
that an angel of God came down from heaven, and He brought 
and laid before our eyes, that we beheld and saw the plates, and 
the engravings thereon; and we know that it is by the grace of 
God the Father, and our Lord Jesus Christ, that we beheld and 
bear record that these things are true; and it is marvelous in our 
eyes, nevertheless the voice of the Lord col.Jlwanded us that we 



70 THE MYTH 011' THE 

should bear record of it; wherefore, to be obedient unto the com­
mandments of God, we bear testimony of these things. And we 
know that if we are faithful in Christ, we shall rid our garments of 
the blood of all men, and be found spotless before the judgment­
seat of Christ, and shall dwell with Him eternally in the 
heavens. And the honor be to the Father, and to the Son, and 
to the Holy Ghost, which is one God. Amen. 

OLIV ER Co,vDERY. 

DA YID WHITMER, 

MARTIN HARRIS. 

AND ALSO THE TESTIMONY OF EIGHT ,vrTNESSES. 

Be it known unto all nations, kindreds, tongues and people 
unto whom this work shall come, that Joseph Smith, Jun., the 
translator of this work, bas shewn unto us the plates of which 
hath been spoken, which have the appearance of gold; and as 
many of the leaves as the said Smith bas translatea, we did 
handle with our bands; and we also saw the engravings thereon, 
all of which h~s the appearance of ancient work, and of curious 
workmanship. And this we bear record with words of sober­
ness, that the said Smith has shewn unto us, for we have seen 
and hefted, and know of a surety that the said Smith has got the 
plsttes of which we have spoken. And we give our names unto 
the world, to witness unto the world that which we have seen; 
and we lie not, God bearing witness of it. 

CHRISTI.AN WHITMER, 

JACOB WHITMER, 

PETER WHITME R, Jun. 
JOHN WHITMER, 

HIRAM p AGE, 

J osEPH SMITH, Sen. 
HYRUM SMITH, 

SAMUEL H. SMITH. 
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CHAPTER IX. 

TIME OCCUPIED IN TRANSLATING THE 

BOOK OF MORM O N. 

OBJECTION has been made to the divinity of the Book 
of l\Iormon on the ground that the account given in the 

publications of the Church, of the time occupied in the work 
of translation is far too short :for the accomplishment of such 
a labor, and consequently it must have been copied or trans­
cribed from some work written in the English language, most 
probably from Spaulding's " ~Ianuscript Found.,. But at the 
outset it must be recollected that t he translation was accom­
plished by no common method, by no ordinary means. I t was 
done by divine aid. There were no delays over obscure pas­
sages, no difficulties over the choice of words, no stoppages 
from the ignorance of the translator; no time was wasted in 
investigation or argument over the value, intent or meaning of 
certain characters, and there were no references to authorities. 
These difficulties to human work were removed. All was as 
simple as when a clerk writes from dictation. The translation 
of the characters appeared on the Urim and Thummim, sen­
tence by sentence, and as soon as one was correctly transcribed 
the next would appear. So the enquiry narrows down to the 
consideration of this simple question, how much could Oliver 
Cowdery write in a day? How many of the printed pages of 
the Book of l\Iormon could an ordinary clerk transcribe from 
dictation in a day? When that is determined, divide the 
total number of pages in the Book of ~Iormon by that num­
ber and you have the answer in days. 

It now becomes important to discover when the translation 
was commenced and when it was finished. This cannot be 
determined to a day, but enough is known for our purpose. 

When Oliver first visited Joseph some little had been trans­
lated, exactly how much is not known. The next question is: 
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When did that visit occur? We will Jet O]iver answer. He 
writes ( Tinies and /:lefJ.son." TTol. 1., pagP. 201): ''Near the 
time of the setting of the sun, Sabbath evening, April 5th, 
1829, my natural eyes, for the first time, beheld this brother. 
Ile then resided in Harmony, Susquehanna county, Pennsyl­
vania. On l\1onday, the 6th, I assisted him in arranging som~ 
business of a temporal nature, and on Tuesday, the 7th, com­
menced to write the Book of 11Iormon." 

In the history of Joseph Smith, we read : ''During the 
month of April I continued to translate and he (Oliver) to 
write with little cessation, during which time we received 
several revelations.' ' And again : 1 '\Ve sti1l continued the 
work of translation, when, in the ensuing month (May 1829) 
we, on a certain day went into the woods to pray." Oliver 
a]so states: ~ 'These were <lays never to be forgotten-to sit 
under the sound of a voice dictated by the inspiration of 
heaven awakened the utmost gratitude of this bosom! Day 
after day I continued, uninterrupted, to write from his mouth, 
as he translated with the Urim and Thummim, or, as the 
Nephite.s would have said, 1Interpretel's,' the history or record 
called the Book of l\Iormon. ' ' 

Thus we see these two young men bent the whole energy of 
their souls towards the accomp}i:;hment of this most impor­
tant work. They united their youthful zea1 ' 'day after day, 
uninterrupted'~ and "with little cessation" to the labor of 
translation. It requires very little imagination to understand 
how diligently and earnestly they toiled, how they permitted 
nothing to interfere with their labor of love, how they 
devoted every hour, until fatigue overcame them, to the 
divinely im posed task (and young and vigorous as they were it 
was not a little that would tire them out), while curiosity and 
other far worthier feelings would give zest and inspiration to 
their labors; as they progressed we can well imagioe how their 
interest in the narrative increased until they could scarcely tear 
themselves away from their inspired labors even when their 
minds and bodies called for food and rest. The enthusiasm 
with which Oliver speaks of those days shows plainly that 
this was the case, and we cannot reasonably think that Joseph 
was any Jess interested than he. 



)IANUSCRIPT FOUND . 73 
. 

Now let us examine when thefe two brethren commenced 
their marvelous work. Two series of dates have been ~iven. 
Oliver's given above, and anotber in the history of ,Joseph 
Smith, which ~ives the dates as the 15th and 17th of April, 
or ten days later. Oliver's has this evidence of its correct· 
ness, that, as he states, the 5th, 6th and 7th of April, 1~29, 
fell on Sunday, ~Ionday and Tue~day, which, of course, those 
ten days later would not. Again, the event being of more 
importance in his ]ife than in .J osepb's, he was more likely to 
recolJcct the details, besides, being a better scholar and penman, 
it is more probable that if any reJord of the circumstance was 
made at that time he made it. But really there is no discrep· 
ancy. The dates 15th and l 7th in the Pear) of Great Price, 
in Joseph's history, etc. , are unfortunately typographical 
errors, or mistakes in printing. In the original manuscript in 
the Historian's Office the dates arc the same as those of 
Oliver Cowdery-the 5th and 7th. But the mistake having 
once been printed it has been copied out of one journal or 
book into another until nearly aU our works have perpetuated 
the blunder. Of courEe it is impo~sib)e to tell now whether 
the mistake was first made by a copyist in the Historian's 
Office or by a compositor at th e printer's. 

From Joseph 's and Oliver's narrative we learn how far 
they had progressed in the work of translation at tbe time of the 
visit of the angel, John the Baptist, and their baptism. This 
took place on ~lay 15th of the same year. It was because 
they found in the teachings of the risen Redeemer to the 
Nepbites certain instructions regarding baptism that they 
were Jed to enquire of the Lord regarding this ordinance, and 
their inquiry led to the angel's visit. ,vhere are these teach· 
ings found? In the third book of Nephi; some, probab]y 
the very ones that so deeply impressed the minds of these 
young men, on paAe five hundred and three of the Book of 
l\'Iormon (latest edition). Then it is evident that between 
April 7th and May 15th they had translated as much as makes 
five hundred and three pages of the printed Book of l\Ior­
mon. How much is this a day? Between these two dates, 
including April 7th but. not l\Iay 15th, there are thirty.eight 
days, which would make about thirteen pages a day, if we 

a• 
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allow nothing for what was previously transcribed. A swift 
writer copying from dictation could write four such pages in 
an hour, as we have demonstrated experimentally, an ordinary 
writer about three. But allowing that Oliver Cowdery might 
be a very slow writer, and that he only copied at the rate of a 
page in half an hour, even then he would only have had to 
work six and one half hours each day to accomplish the task; 
and if they rested entirely on Sundays about one hour more. 
So we see, making no allowance for the work already done, 
allowing Oliver Cowdery to be a slow penman for his profes· 
sion-a sehoolmaster-and admitting that they ceased from 
their labor on the Sabbath, still it was only necessary for them 
to do a short day's work, especially for two young men in the 
prime and vigor of life ; and yet allow ample time for the 
reception of revelations (which were given through the Urim 
and Thummim) and the performance of other dnties that 
possibly occasionally called for their attention. 

To show how easy such an effort would be we will state that 
President George Q. Cannon has informed us that when 
he translated the B ::>0k of l\Iormon into the language of the 
Sandwich Islanders, he frequently translated as many as eight 
or ten pages a day. This was far heavier work to do alone, 
and without the assistance of the U rin1 and Thummim, than 
it was for Joseph and Oliver together to translate from twelve 
to fifteen pages with the all-important assistance of the 
' 'Interpreters.' ' 

After the date of their baptism, the brethren appear to 
have worked more leisurely. Early in June they moved to 
Mr. Peter Whitmer' s, at Fayette, Seneca county, New York, 
who had kind]y offered them a house. Here the work was 
continued, J oho \Vhitmer, one of the sons, assisting them 
very much by writing. Joseph states : '~ Meanwhile our 
translation was <lrawin~ to a close, we went to Palmyra, 
W ayoe county, New York, secured the copyright and agreed 
with l\Ir. Egbert Grandin to print five thousand copies for 
the sum of three thousand dollars. ' ' The copyright was 
secured on June lJ th, so it appears that between iiay 15th 
and the last·named date, or twenty.six days, they had not 
quite translated one hundred and twenty pages-not five 
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pages a day-or they would have finished their work. The 
exact date the translation was entirely completed is not known, 
at least we have not been able to disco,er it. 

Thus we see between the dates given, Joseph and Oliver 
had ample time to do the work claimed by and for them, 
the objection falls to the ground, and the truth is again vindi­
cated. 

• •• 

CHAPTER X . 
THE THREE WITNESSES. 

IN the investigation of the genuineness of the Book of 
l\lormon we must consider the nature of the direct evidence 

that we have with regard to its origin. And in this respect 
the testimony is strong, clear, complete and unimpeachable. 
The existence of the plates is testified to in a most solemn 
and sacred manner by eleven witnesses in addition to Joseph 
Smith. Eight of these witnesses actually handled, lifted, and 
carefully examined the plates, satisfying themselves in a 
manner beyond all dispute that the plates were real and tan­
gible. It is altogether unlikely that Joseph Smith could haze 
imposed upon these eight witnesses by giving into their hands 
something different from metallic plates. So, at any rate, we 
have the evidence of eight men that they handled certain 
plates and that they had the appearance of very ancient work­
manship. If these plates were not the plates from which the 
Book of l\Iormon was translated, what were they? where did 
Joseph Smith get them? and what did he do with them? are 
all pertinent inquiries. That he had plates in his possession 
of the kind and description from which he states he translated 
the Book of ~Iormon is strong prirna fade evidence in fa ,or 
of his story. And the fact that he only showed them to 
certain few individuals is another evidence of the truthfulness 
of his statement; for if he, as is claimed, was an ignorant 
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impostor, he would have naturally argued that to the more 
persons he showed h is spurious plates, the wider would grow 
his i ofluencc and the greater would be the number of believers 
in his story. To keep the plates hidden from the multitude 
would naturally appear in the a,·crage mind to be the surest 
way of retarding his success and blocking his own progress; 
and assuredly if Joseph Smith had the cunning and dexterity 
to invent the story of the discovery of the plates and to manu­
facture a set of plate3 to agree with the story, he would have 
had cunning enough to present them to the public, surrounded 
by so much mystery and glamour that while they saw them 
they would not be able to examioe them critically. 

B ut we haYc greater and stronger evidence than that of 
these eight witnes -cs. \Ve have the testimony of three other 
men that the plates from which the Book of 1'1orruon was 
translated were shown to them by an angel of the Lord, and 
not the plates only. but the engravings upon them ; and still 
further they declare that. they know that these plates were 
translated by the gift and power of God, for I·Iis voice had 
declared it uoto them. IIerc, tl1en, we not only have testi­
mony of the existence of the plates, but al~o to their genuine­
ne~s and to the truthfulness of th e translation, which transla­
tion we have in the shape of the B ook of 1'Iormon. And it 
must be remembered that not one of these three witnesses 
has ever denied his testimony, or contradicted it in the lea~t 
particular, but under all circumstances and upon every occa· 
sion all have in the strongest and most decided language 
declared that their testimony was true. Again, there is one 
very note-worthy fact with regard to these three men. They · 
were all severed from the communion of the Church during 
the life-time of the Prophet Joseph. If ,Joseph Smith had 
been an im pastor, he was in the power of each of these 
Hthree witnesses; " for any one of them, whenever he pleased, 
could have exposed the conspiracy, if conspiracy there bad · 
been, and shown to the world bow the testimony had been 
manufactured ; but none of them have ever done so. Al­
though, at certain periods of their lives, they smarted under 
the denunciations and reproof." they received from the Prophet 
and entertained towards him the most bitter feelings for the 
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course be took towards them, going so far as to denounce him 
aH a fallen prophet, yet with all their acrimony and hatred 
they never once deviated from the testimony that is printed 
above their names at the commencement of the Book of ~Ior­
mon. We appeal to all reasonable minds, and ask if it is pos­
sible to suppose that, if the Book of ~Iormon were a fraud, 
,Joseph Smith would ha Ye dared to have treated these men in 
the resolute and uncompromising manner that he did. To use 
a common expression, he would ha,e been under their thumb 
and would have had to conciliate them and retain their silence 
by concessions, by flattery and by trimming bis course to their 
requirements. This the Prophet never did ; be was as inde­
pendent of them as of any other men. H e rebuked unright­
eousness in them as strongly as he did in others; and when 
their conduct cou]d no lon.&rer be tolerated in the Church of 
God, he and the Saints withdrew fello\\""ship from them. This 
is not the way of an impostor, but of an honest, fearless man, 
who knows his cause is just and puts his trust in God. 
Neither did any one of the eight witnesses ever turn from his 
testimony and deny its truthfulne~s. They ever maintained 
that their stn.tement was the truth and nothing but the truth. 
They have all gone beyond the vail now, to receive their 
reward; and all but one died faithful members of the Church 
of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints. 

In considering the nature and Yaluc of the testimony of the 
Prophet Joseph and the three witnesses, the following 
remarks by Elder Orson Pratt are most pertinent: "No 
reasonable person will say that these four persons were them· 
selves deceived ; the nature of their testimony is such that 
they must either be bold, daring impostors, or else the Book 
of ~Iormon is true. They testify that they saw the angel 
descend, they beard his voice, they saw the plates in bis 
hand, they saw the engravings upon them as the angel turned 
them over leaf aftm.· leaf, at the same time they heard the 
voice of the Lord out of the heavens. ,vhat greater evidence 
could they have? They could have had nothing that would have 
given them greater assurance. If they were deceived there 
is no certainty in anything. If these four men could be 
deceived in seeing an angel descend from heaven, on the same 
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grounds the apostles may have been deceived in seeing the 
Savior ascend up to heaven.'' 

Then in answer to the suggestion that it is probable that 
these four men had conspired together to deceive mankind, 
Brother Pratt asks : 

''Is it probable that four men who were, for the most of 
their days, strangers to each other, residing in three or four 
different counties, should combine together .to testify that 
they had seen an angel and heard his voice, and also the voice 
of God, bearing testimony to the truth of the Book of Mor­
mon, when no such thing had happened? Three of these 
witnesses, namely, Joseph Smith, Oliver Cowdery and David 
Whitmer, were young men from twenty to twenty-five years of 
age; they were men who had been accustomed from their 
childhood to the peaceful vocations of a farmer's life. Unac­
quainted with the deceptions, which are more or less practiced 
in large towns and cities, they possessed the open honesty and 
simplicity so generally characteristic of country people. Is it, 
in the least degree, probable that men so young and inexperi­
enced. accustomed to a country life, and unacquainted with 
the world at large, would be so utterly abandoned to every 
thing that was good, so perfect]y reckless as to their own 
future welfare, so heaven-daring a,nd blasphemous as to testify 
to all nations that which, if false, would forever seal their 
damnation? * * * We are not a ware that there 
ever were three, or four, or five impostors who originated an 
imposition, and succeeded in palming it upon the world as a 
message from God. Such a thing might barely be possible, 
but such a thing would be highly improbable." * 

*-From "Divine Authenticity of the Book of .. Mormon" 
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CHAPTER XI. 

OLIVER COWDERY. 

OLIVER co,VDERY is the first of the three witnesses. 
He was severed from the Church for immoral conduct 

during the time that the Sain.ts were in 1\-Iissouri. Often after 
his separation from the Church efforts were made to prevail 
upon him to deny his testimony, but always without effect. 
At all times, in all places, before all people he continually 
bore record when the subject of the Book of l\Iormon was 
introduced, "Gentlemen, I saw an angel, and I know who 
that angel was.'' No amount of cross-questioning could 
weaken his testimony or confuse his statements on this point. 
We now copy, from the D~eret }tews, a very interesting 
episode that occurred during the last few months of his life: 

"At a special conference at Council Bluffs, Iowa, held on 
the 21st of October, in the year 1848, Brother Oliver Cow­
dery, one of the three important witnesses to the truth of the 
Book of l\iormon, and who had been absent from the Church, 
through disaffection, for a number of years, and had been 
engaged in the practice of law, was present and made the 
remarks here annexed. Brother Orson Hyde presided at the 
said conference. Brother Reuben l\Iiller, now Bishop of )Iill 
Creek Ward [ since deceased] was also present at the time and 
noted what he said, and has furnished us, what he believes to 
be a verbatim report of his remarks, which we take pleasure 
in laying before our readers: 

"'Friends and brethren, n1y name is Cowdery-Oliver Cow­
dery. In the early history of this Church I stood identified 
with her, and one in her councils. True it is that the gifts 
and callings of God are without repentance. Not because I 
was better than the rest of mankind was I called; but, to ful­
fill the purposes of God, He called me to a high and holy call­
ing. I wrote, with my own pen, the entire Book of ~Iormon 
(save a few pages), as it fell from the lips of the Prophet 
Joseph Smith, as he transla~d it by the gift and power of 
God, by the means of the Urim and Thummim, or, as it 
is called by that book, 'holy interpreters.' I behel,d with rny 
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eyes and hrindled with my hands the ,qold plate.~ from which it 
1l)as translated. I also saw with my eyes and handled with my 
hands the ' holy interpreters.' That book is true. Sidney 
Rigdon did not write it. Mr. Spaulding did not write it. 
I wrote it myself as it fe]l from the lips of the Prophet. It 
contains the everlasting gospel, and came forth to the children 
of men in fulfillment of the revelation of John, where he says 
he saw an angel cmne with the everlasting ~ospel to 
preach to every nation, kindred, and people. It contains 
principles of salvation ; and if you, my hearers, will walk by 
its light and obey its precepts, you will be saved with an ever­
lasting salvation in the kingdom of God on high. Brother 
Hyde has just said that it is very important that we keep and 
walk in the true channel, in order to avoid sand-bars. This is 
true. The channel is here. The holy Priesthood is here. I 
was present with J oseph when an holy angel from God came 
down from heaven and conferred on us or restored the lesser 
or Aaronic Priesthood, and said to us. at the same time, that 
it should remain u pon the earth while the earth stands. I 
was also present with J oseph when the higher or l\felchisedek 
Priesthood was conferred by the holy angel from on high. 
This Priesthood was then conferred on each other, by the will 
and commandment of' God. This Priesthood, as was then 
declared, is also to remain upon the earth until the last rem­
nant of time. This holy Priesthood or authority we then con­
ferred upon many, and is just as good and valid as though 
God had done it in person. I laid my hands upon that man 
-yes, I laid my rig ht hand upon bis head ( pointing to Brother 
Hyde), and I conferred upon him this Priesthood, and he 
holds that Priesthood now. He was also called through me, 
bv the prayer of faith, an Apostle of the Lord Jesus 
Christ. ' " 
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CHAPTER X:Il. 
DAVID WHITMER . 

DA ,rrn W HIT~IER, the second of the three witnesse~, 
still lives. His home is in R ichmond, Ray Co., )lissouri. 

He left the Church during tbe dark days of persecution in 
Missouri and has never returned to the communion of the 
Saints. He even to this day ho]ds some very bitter feelings 
toward the Prophet Joseph, whom be wrongfully imagines 
endeavored to injure him. But notwithstanding these feelings 
and the fact that be is not a member of the Church he has all 
the days of his life testified to the divine origin of the Book 
of l\Iormon. His word in this respect has never wavered. 

Of late various testimonies given to visitors or written by 
David Whitmer have been widely published in the public 
newspapers. We subjoin extracts from one or two of these. 
The first is a portion of a statement signed by himself and 
dated at Richmond, ~larch 19th, 1881 : 

"Unto all Nations, Kindreds, Tongues and People, unto u·honi 
these presents shall come : 

"It having been represented by one ,John ~Iurphy, of Polo, 
Caldwell county, l\lissouri, that I , in a conversation with him 
last Summer, denied my testimony as one of the three wit· 
nesses to the 'Book of 1'Iormon:' 

"To the end, therefore, that he may understand me now, if 
he did twt then; and that the world may know the truth, I 
wish now, standing as it were, in the very sunset of Jife, and 
in the fear of God, once for all to make this public state­
ment: 

'~That I have neYer at any time, denied that testimony or 
any part thereof, which has so long since been published with 
that book, as .one of the three witnesses. Those who know 
me best well know that I have always adhered to that testi· 
mony. And that no man may be misled or doubt ruy present 
views in regard to the same, I do again affirm the truth of all 
my statements as then made and published. 

4 
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"'He that hath an ear to hear, let him hear;' it was no 
delusion; what is written, is written, and he that readeth, let 
him understand.'' 

The following are portions of a letter to the Chicago Time,s, 
detailing the visit of one of its correspondents to l\'Ir. ,Vhit­
n1<:r, on October 14th, 1881. The statements are given.fas 
those of David \Vhitmer, and though exceedingly correct as 
a whele, sometimes, owing to the correspondent's want of 
familiarity with the Rubject, they make the speaker fall into 
slight blunders on historical and other points. He writes : 

''The plates from which the book was translated, supposed 
to be gold, were fo und in the latter part of the year 1827 or 
1828, prior to the acquaintance on l\Ir. ,Vhitmer's part, with 
J oscph Smith, and he was loih to believe in their actuality, 
notwithstanding the community in which he lived (Ontario 
county, New York), was alive with excitement in regard to 
Smith's finding a great treasure, and they informed him that 
they knew that Smith had the plates, as they had seen the 
place that he had taken them from, on the hill Cumorah, about 
two miles from Palmyra, N. Y. It was not until June, 1828, 
that he met the future Prophet, who visited at his father's 
house, and while there completed the translation of the Book 
of )lormon, and thus he became conversant with its hi8tory, 
having witnessed Smith dictate to Oliver Cowdery the transla­
tion of the characters that were inscribed on the plates, said 
by l\lr. Anthon, our Egyptian scholar, to resemble the charac­
ters of that ancient people. Christian Whitmer, his brother, 
occasionally assisted Cowdery in writing, as did Mrs. Joseph 
Smith, who was a l\liss Hale before she was married. 

"In regard to finding the plates, he was told by Smith that 
they were in a stone casket, and the place where it was depos­
ited, in the hill Cumorah, was pointed out to him by a celes­
tial personage, clad in a dazzling white robe, and he was informed 
by it that it was the history of the Nephites, a nation that 
had passed away, whose founders belonged to the days of the 
tower of Babel. The plates which ~Ir. Whitmer saw were in 
the shape of a tablet, fastened with three rings, about one­
third of which appeared to be loose, in plates, the other solid, 
but with 11erceptible marks where the plates seemed to be 
sealed, and the guide that pointed it out to Smith very impres­
sively reminded him that the loose plates alone were to be 
used, the sealed portion was not to be tampered with. 

''After the plates had been translated, which process 
required about six months, the same heavenly visitant appear,ed 
and reclaimed the gold tablets of the ancient people inform­
ing Smith that he would replace them with other records of 
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the lost tribes that had been brought with them during their 
wanderings from A sia, which would be forthcoming when the 
world was ready to receive them. At that time )Ir. 
\Vhitmer saw the tablets, gazed with awe on the celestial 
messenger, heard him speak and say : ' 'Blessed is the Lord 
and he that keeps His commandments; '' and then, as he held 
the plates and turned them over with bis hands, so that they 
could be plainly visible, a voice that seemed to fill a1l space, 
musical as the sighin_g of a wind through the forest, was 
heard, saying: '' \Vhat you see is true; testify to the same." 
And Oliver Cowdery and David \Vhitmer, stan<ling there, felt, 
as the white garments of the angel faded from their vision and 
the h eavenly voice still rang in their ears, that it was no delu­
sion-that it was a fact, and they so recorded it. In a day or 
two after, the same spirit appeared to ~Iartin llarris while he 
was in company with Smith , and told him also to bear witness 
to its truth, which he did, as can be seen in the book. H arris 
described the visitant to \Vhitmer, who recognized it as the 
same that he and Cowdery had seen. 

"The tablets or plates were translated by Smith, who used 
a small oval or kidney-shaped stone, called Urim and Thum­
mim, that seemed e ndowed with the marvelous power of con­
verting the characters on the plates, when used by Smith, into 
English, who would then dictate to Cowdery what to write. 
Frequently one character would make two lines of manuscript 
while others made but a word or two words. l\Ir. ,vhitmer 
emphatically asserts, as did Harris and Cowdery, that while 
Smith was dictating the translation he bad no uuuwscrzi)t 
notes or other ,means of J.,nowledue, save the Seer stone and 
the characters as shown ou the plates, he being present and 
cognizant how it was done. 

''In regard to the statement that Sidney Iligdon had pur­
loined the work of one Spaulding, a Presbyterian preacher, 
who had written a romance €ntitled the ·)Ianuscript Found,' 
Mr. \Vhitmer says there is no foundation for such an assertion. 
The 'Book of Mormon' was translated in the Summer of 
1829, and printed t hat ,vinter at Palmyra, New Yurk, and 
was in circulation before Sidney Rigdon knew anything con­
cerning the Church of Christ, as it was known then. · His 
attention was specially brought to it by the appearance at his 
church, near Kirtland, Ohio, in the Fall of 1830, of Parley 
Pratt and Oliver Cowdery, be being at t hat time a Reformed 
or Christian preacher, they having been sent west by the 
Church in New York during t hat Summer as evangelists, and 
they carried with them the printed book, the first time that 
he knew such a thing was in existence. 

* * * * * * * 
Mr. Whitmer emphatically asserts that he has heard Rig-

don, in the pulpit, and in private conversation, declare that 
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the 'Spaulding story,' that he had used a book called the 
'l\Ianuscript Found' for the purpose of preparing the 'Book 
of J\Iormon,' was as false as were many other charges that 
were then being made against the infant Church, and he 
assures me that the story is as untruthful as it is ridiculous. 

''In his youth Joseph Smith was quite illiterate, knew 
nothing of grammar or com position, but obtained quite a good 
education after he came west ; was a man of great magnetism, 
made friends easily, was liberal and noble in his impulses, tall, 
finely-formed and full of animal !ife, but spran~ from the 
most humble circumstances. The first good suit of clothes be 
had ever worn was presented to him by Christian Whitmer, 
brother of David. 

* * * * * * * 
"l\1r. Whitmer's beHefs have undergone no change since his 

early manhood; he has refus(d to affiliate with any of the 
various branches that have sprung up through false teachings, 
and rests his hopes of the future 'in the teachings of Christ, 
the apostles and the prophets, and the morals and principles 
enunciated in the scriptures; that the Book of l\1ormon is but 
the testimony of another nation CQncerning the truth and divinity 
of Christ and the Bible, and that is his rock, his gospel and 
his salYation. ' 8eeing, with him, is be1ievmg. He is now as 
firm in the faith of the divinity of the book that he saw trans­
lated as he was when the glory of' the celestial vi~itant almost 
blinded him with t he gleam of his glowing presence, fresh from 
the God head ; and the voice, majestic, ringing out from the 
earth to the mighty dome of space, still lingers in his ears 
like a chime of silver bells." 

The Deseret Evening ... \ rews at the time of the publication of 
his letter corrected some of the errors of this correspondent. 
\Ve cannot do better than use its language : 

''The first [ error J is that the founders of the N ephites 
'belonged to the tower of Babel.' The N ephites sprang from 
Nephi, the son of Lehi, who came to this land from Judea, 
in the reign of I{in,g Z edekiah. The J aredites, whose history 
is briefly given in the Book of }formon, were a distinct and 
preceding race; they descended from a colony that peopled 
thid country after the dispersiou from Babel. The term •Jost 
tribes' is also iucorrect, as the N ephites had no identity with 
the lost tribes of I srael, being descendants of Joseph, the son 
of J acob. 

" The next mistake is that 'In a day or two after David 
,vhitmer and Oliver Cowdery saw the angel and the plates, 
the same spirit appeared to l\lartin Harris.' The truth is 
that it was shortly after, on the same day. l\Iartin lfarris was 
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with Joseph, Oliver and David, but there was no answer to 
their i.,ra.yers, until 1'Iartin, who felt that his Jack of faith was 
a hindrance, withdrew. Then the angel appeared, and after 
the vision closed, J oseph Smith went to the place where ~Iartin 
Harris was, a little distance off, and joined with him in prayer, 
when the angel again appeared, and :\lartin rejoicingly bore 
testimony t hat he had seen and heard as the others. 

''The next error is that the seer stone which Joseph used 
in the translation {was called Urim and Thummim.' The 
instrument thus denominated was composed of two crystal 
stones 'set in the two rims of a bow.' The seer stone was separate 
and distinct from the Urim and Thummim. The latter was 
delivered to the angel as well as the plates after the translation 
was completed; the former remained with the Church and is 
now in the possession of the President." 

A still later interviewer gives the following as David ,vhit 
mer's testimony to the party of visitors of which the writer 
was one: 

"We asked him if his testimony was the same now as it was 
at the time the Book of l\Iormon was published regarding 
seeing the plates and the anµel. He rose to his feet, stretched 
out his hands and said: 'These hands handled the plates, 
these eyes saw the angel, and these ears heard His voice; and 
I know it was of God.' '' 

Our concluding extract is a statement made by David 
Whitmer to }~lders Orson Pratt and J oseph l( Smith, when 
these brethren visited him at his home in September, 1878. 

In answer to Elder Pratt's question, if he remembered the 
date he saw the plates, he answered : 

"It was in June, 1829-the latter part of the month, and 
the eight witnesses saw them, I think, the next day or the 
day after. Joseph showed them the plates himself, but the 
angel showed us [the three witnesses] the plates, as I suppose 
to fulfill the words of the book itself. l\Iartin Harris was not 
with us at this tirue; he obtained a view of them afterwards 
[the same day). Joseph, Oliver, and myself were together 
when I saw them. We not only saw the plates of the Book 
of ~Iormon but also the brass plates, the plates of the Book 
cf Ether, the plates containing the records of the wickedness and 
secretcombinations of the peopleoftheworlddown to the time of 
their being engraved and many other plates. The fact is, it was 
just as though Joseph, Oliver and I were sittin~ just here on 
a log when we were overshadowed by a light. It was not like 
the light of the sun nor like that of a fire, but more glorious 
and beautiful. It extended away around us, I cannot tell how 
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far, but in the midst of this light about as far off as he sits 
(pointing to John C. Whitmer, sitting a few feet from him), 
there appeared, as it were, a tabfo with many records or plates 
upon it besides the plates of the Book of l\'Iormon; also the 
sword of Laban, the directors-i. e. the ball which Lehi had, 
and the Interpreters. I saw them just a~ plain as I see this 
bed (striking the bed beside him with his hand), and I heard 
the voice of the Lord as distinctly as I ever heard anything in 
my life, declaring that the records of the plates of the Book 
of l\Iormon were translated by the gift and power of God.' 

'~Elder Pratt then asked, ·Did you see the angel at this 
time?' 

"David ,vhitmer answered, •yes; he stood before us. Our 
testimony as recorded in the Book of Mormon is strictly and 
absolutely true, just as it is there written.' ,, 

••• 

CHAPTER XIII. 

MARTIN HARRIS. 

J T is probable that many of our readers have seen 1\-Iartin 
Harris.* It is but a few years since he died in our midst. 

Though his name is signed last to the testimony of the three 
witnesses he was considerable older than the other two. 

l\lartin Harris was the instrument used by the Lord to enable 
.Joseph to print the Book of l\Iormon. He supplied the funds 
necessary to pay the printer. All of this was repaid to him, 
by Joseph, and as he said, "more too." ,vementionthis 
because it has been falsely asserted that Joseph made l\lartin 
Harris his dupe and never paid back the money he borrowed 
of him. 

Brother Harris was a well-to-do farmer at the time he 
heel.me acquainted with the Prophet Joseph. He was 
respected and esteemed by his neighbors, but like all the others 
who had anything to do with the publication of the. Book of 

*-Brother .M. Harris, accompanied by Elder E. Stevenson reached 
Ogden on the 29th of Aug ust, 1870; he afterwards resided until his death at 
th~ home of his son in Smithfieltl, Cache county. 
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Mormon, he was assailed with savage bitterness, and accused of 
numerous sins as soon as it was known that he was a believer 
in that holy book. He was charged with being visionar~y, 
cruel and untruthful, and with having l,eaten his wife and 
turned her out of doors. ,v e will now refer to the testimony of the I(elley brothers, 
which we quoted when we considered the character of Joseph 
the Prophet. ,v e found they asked the old residents of nlan­
chester s01ne questions with regard to the reputation of .1'Iar­
tin Harris. Those who knew him, invariably spoke well of 
him. One said, "He was an honorable farmer ; he was not 
very religious before the Book of ~Iormon was published. ' ' 
Another stated ''Harris was an indu:,trious, honest man." A 
third affirmed " He was an honorable man. He was one of 
the first men of the town." .A .. nd so on, one after another 
denied the calumnies that had been heaped upon the bead of 
this inoffensiYe, though somewhat peculiar gentleman, whose 
worst act in the eyes of these neighbors was that he helped 
J oscph Smith to give the Book of l\Iorruon to the world. 

It will be remembered that the testimony of the three wit­
nesses, with regard to the p]ates from which the Book of ~Ior­
mon was translated, is to the effect that ' '\Ve also know that 
they have been translated by the gift and power of God, for 
His voice hath declared it unto us; wherefore we know of a 
surety that the work is true. And we also testify that we have 
seen the engravings which are upon the plates ; and they have 
been shown unto us by the power of God and not of man. 
And we declare with words of soberness, that an angel of God 
came down from heaven, and He brought and laid before our 
eyes, that we beheld and saw the plates and the engravings 
thereon." But it must be remembered that this was not the 
only time that ~Iartin Harris saw the plates. He states that 
on one occasion he held them on his knee for an hour and a 
half, and also affirms that ''as many of the plates as Joseph 
Smith translated I handled with my hands, plate after plate. ' ' 
This testimony was given when Harris was not a member of 
the Church. 

Early in the history of the Latter-day Saints l\Iartin Harris 
became disaffected. Ile committed grave errors and gave way 



THE MY'l'H OF THE 

to a very unchristian-like spirit. The communion of the Saints 
was withdrawn from him and he became an outcast to the 
blessings of the gospel. Thus he remained many years, or 
more than a third of a century, but in his old age he returned 
as a wandering sheep to the true fold, and again became a 
nartaker of' the gifts and blessings of the everlasting gospel. 
\V c will now insert an interview had with him when he wag 

not a member of the Church (in 1853?) and two letters written 
by him nearly twenty years afterwards, after he had renewed 
his coYenant with the Lord at the waters of baptism. 

September 15th, 1853. 

''Be it known to all w horn this may concern that I, David 
B. Dille, of Ogden City, ,v eber county, Salt Lake! en route 
to Great Britain, having business with one Martin Harris, 
formerly of the Church of Latter-day Saints, and residing at 
I(irtland, Lake county, Ohio, did personally wait upon him at 
his residence, and found him sick in bed; and was informed 
by the said l\Iartin Harris that he had not been able to take 
any nourishment for the space of three days. This, together 
with his advanced age, had completely prostrated him. After 
making my business known to l\Ir. Harris, and some little 
conversation with him, the said ~Iartin Harris started up in 
bed, and, after particularly inquiring concerning the prosperity 
of the Chure:h, made the following declaration: 

' I feel that a spirit has come across me-the old spirit of 
)lormonism; and I begin to feel as I used to feel; and I will 
not say- '! won't go to the valley.' Then addressing himself 
to his wife, he said-'I don't know but that, if you will get 
n1e some breakfast, I will g_~t up and eat it.' 

'"I then addressed ~Ir. Harris relative to his once high and 
exalted station in the Church, and his then fallen and afflicted 
condition. I afterwards put the following questions to Mr. 
Harris, to which he severally replied with the greatest cheer­
fulness: '\Vhat do you think of the Book 0f Mormon? Is 
it a divine record?' 

''l\Ir. Harris replied: 'I was the right hand man of Joseph 
Smith, and I know that he was a prophet of God. I know 
the Book of 1'Iormon is true-<lnd you lcnow that I know that 
i't u true. I know that the plates haYe been translated by the 
gift and power of God, for H is voice declared it unto us; 
therefore I know of a surety that the work is true; for did 1 
'!tot ((t one ti1ne hold the plates <Jn niJJ knee an hour and a half, 
whHe in conYersation with Joseph, when we went to bury them 
in the woods, that the enemy might not obtain them? Yes, I 
did. And as many of the plates as Joseph Smi'th translated, 
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I handled with iny hands, plate after plate.' Then, deEcribing 
their dimensions, he pointed with one of the fingers of his left 
hand to the back of his right hand and said: LI should think 
they were so long,' or about eight inches, ' and about so thick,' 
or about four inches; 'and each of the plates was thicker than 
the thickest tin. ' 

L'l then asked Mr. H arris if he ever lost 3,000 dollars by 
the publishing of the Book of )Iormon ? 

" Mr Harris said, 'I never lost one cent. l\Ir. Smith paid 
me all that I advanced, and more too.' As much as to say he 
received a portion of the profits accruing from the sale of the 
books. 

''Mr. Harris further said: 'I took a transcript of the 
characters of the plates to Dr. Anthon, of Kew York. 1Vhen 
I arrived at the house of Professor Anthon, I found him in 
his office and alone, and presented the transcript to him, and 
asked him to read it. He said if I would bring the plates, he 
would assist in the translation. I told him I could not, for 
they were sealed. Professor A nthon then ga\Te me a certificate 
certifying that the characters were Arabic, Chaldaic and 
Egyptian. I then left Dr. Anthon, and was near the door, 
when he said, 'How did the young man know the plates were 
there?' I said an angel had shown them to him. P rofessor 
Anthon then said, 'Let me see the certificate ! ' G pon which, 
I took it from my waistcoat pocket and unsuspectingly gave it 
to him. He then tore it up in an~er, saying, there was no 
such things as angels now, it was all a hoax. I then went to 
Dr. l\Iitchell with the transcript, and he confirmed what 
Professor Anthon had said. ' 

'' l\fr. Harris is about fifty-eight years old, and is on a 
valuable farm of ninety acres, beautifully situated at Kirtland, 
Lake county, Ohio. " - Jl/illennfrtl Star. 

"8)11THFIELD, l!TAH, 
"Nov. 2~, 1870. 

'' JI r. Emerson, 
SrR:-I received your favor. In reply I will say con­

cerning the plates, I do say that the angel did show to me the 
plates containing the Rook of l\Iormon. Further, the trans­
lation that I carried to Professor Anthon was copied from these 
same plates; also, that the professor did testify to it being a. 
correct translation. I do firmly believe and do know that 
Joseph Smith was a prophet of God ; for without, I know he 
could not had that gift ; neither could he have translated the 
same. I can give, if you require it, one hundred witnesses to 
the proof of the Book of ~Iormon. I defy any man to show 
me any passage of scripture that I am not posted on or 
familiar with. I will answer any question you feel like asking 
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to the best of my knowledge, if you can rely on my testimony 
of the same. ln conclusion, I can say that I arrived in Utah 
safe, in good health and spirits, considering the long journey. 
I am guite well at present, and have been, generally speaking, 
since J. arrived. With many respects, 

"I remain your humble friend, 
"MARTIN HARRIS.,, 

'(SMITHJ'IELD, CACHE Co., UTAH. 
''January, 1871. 

' ' To H. Enietson, 
DEAR SrR:-Your second letter, dated December, 

1 ~70, came duly to hand. I am truly ~lad to see a spirit of 
inquiry manifested therein. I reply by a borrowed hand, as 
my sight has failed me tc,o much to write mysel£ Your 
questions: 

''Question 1. 
l\f ormonism ?' 

'Did you go to England to lecture against 

"Answer. I answer emphatically, No, I did not. No man 
ever heard me in any way deny the truth of the Book of Mor­
mon, the administration of the angel that showed me the 
plates ; nor the organization of the Church of Jesus Christ of 
La,tter-day Saints, under the adininistration of Joseph Smith, 
.Jun. , the prophet whom the Lord raised up for that purpose 
in these latter days, that He may show forth His power and 
glory. The Lord has shown me these things by His Spirit, by 
the administration of holy angels, and confirmed the same 
with signs following, step by step, as the work has progressed, 
for the space of fifty-three years. 

The Lord showed me there was no true church upon the 
face of the earth, none built upon the foundation designed by 
the Savior, the rock of revelation, as declared to Peter. ( See 
.Afatt., xvi., l 6-18.) He also showed me that an angel should 
come and restore the holy Priesthood again to the earth, and 
commission His servants again with the holy gospel to preach 
to them that dwell on the earth. ( See R evela,tion, xiv., 6, 7.) 
He further showcu me that the time was nigh when He would 
'set His hand again the second time to restore the kingdom of 
I srael, when He would gather the outcasts of Israel and the 
dispersed of Judah from the four corners of the earth,' when 
He would bring the record of Joseph which was in the hand of 
:Ephraim. and join with the record of Judah, when the two 
records should become one in tbe hand of the Lord to accom­
plish His great work of the last days. ( S ee Ezekiel, xxxvi, 
xx~cvii; also Isaiah, xxix., ; al,so Isaiah, lvi:ii. to the e:nd of 
the lJnolr. ; also l~salms.) 

" Question 2. 'What beca1ne of the plates from which the 
Book of 1.\lormon was translated?' 
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"Answer. They were returned to the ange], )Ioroni, from 
whom they were received, to be brought forth again in the 
due time of the Lord; for they contain many things pertaining 
to the gathering of Israel, which gathering will take place in 
this generation, and shall be testified of among alJ nations, 
according to the old prophets; as the Lord will set His ensign 
to the people, and gather the outcasts of Israel. ( S ee Isaiah, 
xi.) 

'\Now, dear sir, exan1ine these scriptures carefully; and 
should there still be any ambiguity relative to this great work 
of the last days, write again ancl we will endeavor to enlighten 
you on any point relatiYe to this tloctrine. 

''I am, very respectfully, 
'':HARTIN HARRIS, SE.N. , , 

The following interesting statement is an extract ·from a 
letter written to the Deseret .1\ re1.cs, by Elder Edwanl Steven­
son: 

"l\Iartin Harris related an instance that occurred durin~ the 
time that be wrote that portion of the translation of the Book 
of l\Iormon, which he was favored to write direct from the 
mouth of the Prophet ,Joseph Smith. He said that the 
Prophet possessed a seer stone, by which he wa5 enabletl to 
translate as well as from the rrim and Thummim. and for 
convenience he then used the seer stone. l\Iartin explained 
the translation as follows: By aid of the seer stone, sentences 
would appear and were read by the prophet and written by 
~lartin, and when finished he would say, ~ \\r ritten,' and if 
correctly written, that sentence would disappear and another 
appear in its place, but if not written correctly it remained 
until corrected. so that the translation was just as it was 
engraven on the plates, precisely in the language then used. 
l\Iartin said, after continued translation they wou]d become 
weary and would go down to the river and exercise by throwing 
stones out on the river, etc. \\' bile so doing on one occasion, 
l\Iartin found a stone very much resembling the one used for 
translating, and on resuming their labor of translation, )Iartin 
put in place the stone that he had found. H e said that the 
Prophet remained silent unusually and intently gazin_g in dark­
ness, no traces of the usual sentences appearing. l\luch sur­
prised, Joseph exclaimed, 41'I artin ! \Vhat is the matter? All 
is as dark as Egypt.' ~Iartin's countenance betrayed him, 
and the prophet asked niartin why he h ad done so. ~Iartin 
said, to stop the mouths of fools, who had told him that the 
Prophet had learned those sentences and was merely repeating 
them, etc. 

l\lartin said further that the seer stone differed in appear­
~nce entirely frolll the Urim and Thummim that was obtained 
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with the plates, which were two clear stones set in two rims, 
very much resembled spectacles, only they were larger. Mar­
tin said there were not many pae-es translated while he wrote ; 
after which Oliver Cowdery did the writing. 

In concluding this portion of our subject we desire to draw 
attention to the entire agreement bttween the witnesses as to 
the manner in which the plates were translated. If any fraud 
had been practiced, or there had been a conspiracy to deceiYe, 
these witnesses in the lapse of so many years would doubtless 
have told conflicting stories, especially in regard to minor 
details. But as it is their state1nents are harmonious <Jne with 
the other, their testimony unchangeable and the whole consist­
ent with the narrative of the Prophet .Joseph and the con­
dition of things by which they were then surrounded. 

CHAPTER XI"Y. 

INTERNAL EVIDENCES OF THE BOOK 

OF MORMON. 

WE will now consider for a short time a few of the internal 
evidences of the genuineness of the Book of Mormon, or 

the proofs in itself that it is what it. claims to be, a record of 
God's dealings with the former inhaLitants of this continent. 

Among the more prominent internal evidences of its gen­
uineness may be mentioned: 

1st. Its historical consistency. 
2nd. The entire absence of all anachronisms, or confusion 

in its chronology, and of conflicting statements with regard to 
history, doctrine or prophecy. 

3rd. The purity of its doctrines, and their entire harmony 
with the teachings of our Savior and His inspired servants as 
recorded in the Bible. 

4th. Its already fulfilled prophecies. 
5th. Its harmony with the traditions of the Indian races. 
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6th. Its entire accord with scientific truth ; none of its 
geographical, astronomical or other statements being contrary 
to what is positively known in these sciences. 

There is nothing in the entire historical narrative of the 
Book of l\lormon that is inconsistent with the dealings of the 
Almighty with mankind, or cor.flictinµ; with history as far as 
the history which has been handed down to us in other records 
deals with events referred to in tbe Book of ~lormon. On the 
other hand, the whole scheme of human salvation, as devel­
oped in the dealings of the Lord with the J aredites, N ephites 
and Lamanites, gives us the most exalted ideas of His love for 
His mortal children and His condescension towards the erring 
sons and daughters of Adam. Even if the Book of ~Iormon 
were not true, it deserves to be so, from the sublimity of the 
ideas that it conveys with regard to God's providences and 
His ways and methods of leading. directing and preseriting 
His children. No nobler monument to the glory, the mercy 
and the long-suffering of our Heavenly Father than this 
wonderful book was ever presented for the consideration of 
mankind. 

It requires a great deal more credulity to believe it possible 
that any author, ignorant or learned, be he Joseph Smith, Sid­
ney Rigdon or Solomon Spaulding, could, without the inspira­
tion of the Almighty, bring forth such a work as the Book of 
Mormon, than to believe that it is a revelation fron1 the 
Almighty. 

Hengstenberg, in his work on the Pentateuch, says : 
"It is the unavoidable fate of a spurious historical work of 

any length to be involved in contradictions. ' ' This is obviously 
true. No thinking person will deny that it would be one of 
the most difficult of all literary feats to compose a historical 
work extending over thousands of years and dealing with 
hundreds of individuals without introducing some blunders as 
to time, place or circumstance, or permitting egregious contra­
dictions to pass unnoticed. But the Book of ~Iormon is 
entirely free from all blunders of such a kind. This alone 
stamps it as of more than human origin. For more than fifty 
years, the bigoted and skeptical have been endeavoring to find 
errors, inconsistencies or impossibilities within its contents. 
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But in this they have utterly failed. Not one of all their 
pretended discoveries of errors has stood the test of investi­
gation. It has been found, without exception, that in such 
cases the objector has either dishonestly garbled the text, put 
an impossible construction on good, plain English, or presented 
his own private interpretation of the words of the book 
instead of the words themselves. The writer of this having 
perused the Book of :Mormon many times, confidently asserts 
that there is no conflict of dates, no contradiction of details, 
no discordant doctrine, no historical inconsistency, from the 
commencement of the first Book of Nephi to the end of 
:\Ioroni. All is a plain, simple narrative, occasionally some· 
what unpolished in its style, and here and there at variance 
with the strict rules of grammar, but throughout maintaining 
its unities and harmonies, and bearing upon its face indelible 
marks of its divine origin. 

We now come to the doctrinal portions of the work: 
It is readily admitted on all hands that no sectarian preacher 

like l\lr. Spaulding would write. doctrines, such as the Book of 
~lormon contains, these doctrines being at variance with the 
creed that he professed ; and, indeed, in many respects different 
to those of every creed then ex.tant upon the face of the earth. 
The Book of l\Iormon, be it hllman or divine, is a new revela· 
tion on religious matters to this generation, and its entire 
accord with the revelations of ~he Almighty contained in the 
Bible is a proof so strong of its divinity that none have been 
able to gainsay it. It is utterly ridiculous to imagine that 
Joseph Smith, unlettered as he was, could have written a work 
in such entire harn1ony with the ho1y scriptures and entering 
into many new particulars, as it frequently does, with regard 
to doctrines only slightly touched upon in the Old or New 
Testaments: it not only harmonizes with the scriptures, but it 
explains them, makes clear the meaning of many an obscure 
passage, and wlµle it never conflicts with, it often develops, 
truths of the utmost importance to humanity. 

How wonderful a miracle !-much greater than the discovery 
of the records in the hill Cumorah-that an uneducated youth, 
(and neither friend nor foe claims he was educated), could 
produce a work pregnant with principles connected with the 
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most vital interests of the human family, and treating on sub~ 
jects that concern man's temporal and eternal welfare, which 
cannot be refuted by all the learned of the world. "\Vould not 
this be much more wonderful, calling for a much greater strain 
on Ol;lr credulity than to believe that God had again spoken 
and brought to light this long-hidden treasure? And if it be 
inconsistent to belieYe that neither Joseph Smith nor Solomon 
Spaulding was the author of the religious port.ions of the 
Book of l\1ormon, wherein is it more consistent to ascribe the 
authorship to Sidney Rigdon? He was as utterly ignorant of 
many of the doctrines and principles made plain in the Book 
of l\formon as was S0lo1non Spaulding or any other uninspired 
priest of fifty or more years ago. There was no system of 
philosophy, ethics or religion then known to mankind from 
which he could have drawn the inspiration to write many of 
the doctrinal precepts in the Book of l\Iormon. 

To tide over this difficulty, persons unacquainted with the 
contents of the Book of l\Iorrnon (which unfortunately the 
greater portion of mankind are) have suggested that Solomon 
Spaulding wrote the historical portion (an impossibility, as we 
have heretofore shown) and that Joseph Smith or somebody 
else added the religious portion. To those who have read the 
Book of ~Iormon, this hypothesis is supremely ridiculous. 

An objector to the Bible might, with equal consistency, 
assert that somebody wrote the historical portion of the Old 
and New Testaments, and somebody else, after the historical 
portion was all written, introduced the religious teachings. 
One is as impossible as the other. Every one who knows 
anything of the Book of l\Iormon knows that the narrative 
of events grows out of and is inseparably connected with the 
religious idea. The book opens wit,h the statement that Lehi 
was a prophet, bearing J ehoYah' s unwelcome 1nessage of 
destruction to the inhabitants of the sin-seared city of J cru­
salem. They rejected and persecuted him. By divine com­
mand he fled with his family into the wilderness and was led 
by that same inspiratian to the American continent. The reason 
why the Lord thus delivered him was, that he might raise up 
to Himself a people that would serve Him. He covenanted 
to give Lehi and his posterity this most precious land as their 
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inheritance if they kept His oommandments. How they ful· 
filled His law, bow they prospered when obedient, how they 
suffered when disobedient, is the burden of the story of the 
writers of the Book of ~Iormon. It is the main idea to which 
all others are incidental, the controlling thought around which 
all others concentrate ; it is the life of the whole record, the 
golden thread running through all its pages, which gives con· 
sistency to all its parts. A man might just as well attempt to 
write the gospel of St. l\'.latthew and leave out all references to 
the Lord Jesus Christ, as write the Book of l\Iormon without 
its religious theory and teachings. 

The creature who invented the idea of the dual authorship 
of this book must have imagined that the doctrinal portion 
was dropped in by lumps or clumsily inserted between different 
historical epochs. It is true there are places where liberal 
extracts from the Bible are quoted, and if these were all, there 
might be some semblance of consistency in the supposition. 
But it is not so, the doctrinal and historical portions are, as a 
general thing, so intermingled and blended that neither could 
be withdrawn without destroying the sense of the other. If it 
were possible to conceive of the amalgamation of two separate 
documents-one religious and the other historical-it would be 
much easier to believe that the doctrinal portions were written 
first and that the historical ideas were afterwards filled in; for, 
as before mentioned, the historical narrative is but secondary 
and tributary to the religious jdea. But this would not sup· 
port the theory of the Spauldingites ; it would, in fact, entirely 
upset all their arguments for the reason that they claim that 
the l'Manuscript Found," a historical romance of an idolatrous 
people, be it remembered, was written by Spaulding not later 
than 1812, while the Book of l\Iormon was not published by 
Jos~ph Smith until 1830, consequently such an arrangement 
would be fatal to their hypothesis. 

We next glance at the prophecies of the Book of Mormon, 
a number of which are already fulfilled. These are among the 
most irrefutable evidences of the divinity of the work; the 
facts are patent to all the world, they are within the reach of 
all mankind. Ever since the year 1830, men have had the 
opportunity of testing the contents of the Book of Mormon, 
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as it has not been hidden in a corner , but has been published 
iu all the dominant languages of Uhri~tendom. To say that 
many of its prophecies ha Ye not been fulfilled is to deny historr. 
And it cannot be asserted that these prophecies are happy 
gue~ses, as, at the time when the Book of ~Iormon was pub­
lished, they appeared most improbable, none more so than 
those which foretell the results that would follow its own publi­
cation. For it must be remembered that when it was published 
there was no Church of ,Jesus Christ organized upon the earth: 
and there was no remote probability of the then non-existent 
church producing the results in itself and to the world that 
the Book of l\Iormon declares should follow its establishment, 
which have been fulfilled, year by year , fro1n the time of its 
publication to the present. If the Book of ~Iormon be not 
true, then these prophecies originated with Joseph Smith, 
and, as they have been fulfilled , he was a true prophet ; fur­
ther, as they were declared in the nan1e of the Lord and the 
Lord has recognized them by permitting their fulfillment in so 
many wondrous ways and by such direct manifestations of H is 
divine power, therefore the conclusion is ine\·itable that the 
Lord owned and acknowledged J oseph Smith as His sen·ant. 
On the other hand, if they did not originate with Joseph 
Smith, then the record is genuine, for the prophecies are tn1e, 
and they were uttered by the men to who1n they are ascribed. 
If so, Joseph' s account of his discoYery of the plates is true 
and he was a seer and a revelator, especially called of God to lay 
the foundation of the mighty work of the last days. 

Those who are so ~trongly opposed to " )lorn1onism'' can 
accept whichever horn of the dilemma they choose. But to 
our mind the first supposition is utterly untenable, a~ it is 
impossible for us to conceive that God, who bateth a lie, would 
cl10ose for His servant a man who made such a science of 
falsehood ; or that the Didne One would add the seal of His 
approbation to a forgery and an imposture, such as the Book 
of l\Iormon would be under these circumstances. To belie-re 
such a thing, would be as consistent as to believe that if there 
were prophecies contained in "Gulli\·cr's Travels' ' the Lord 
would move heaven and earth to bring about their fulfillment ; 
for if the Book of 1'1ormon be not what it claims, then it is as 

4* 
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much a. rom:1nce as the celebrateJ work of Dean Swift, and 
one ii-; as worthy of credence as the other. 

CHAPTER XY'. 
THE PROPHECIES OF THE BOOK OF 

MORMON. 

LET us now consider a few of the fulfilled prophecies of the 
Book of ~Iormon. On page 581 it is stated: "And 

behold ye [the translator] may be privile~ed that ye may shew 
the plates unto those who shall assist to bring forth this work; 
and 1111 to three shffll they ie .<:;hewn l;y the power of God; where­
fore they shall know of a flurety that these things are true. 
And in the mouth of three witnesses shall these things be 
established ; and the testimony of three and this work * * 
shall stand as a testimony against the world at the last day' ' 
( Ether v. ~-4. ) 

In the aboYe we have the statement that three witnesses are 
to be raised up by the power of God to testify to the truth and 
genuineness of the book. At the commencement of the Book 
of l\Iormon we have the testimony of these three witnesses­
Oliver Cowdery, Da,,.id ,Vhitmer and n-!artin Harris-to the 
fulfillment of the above prophecy. They declare that an angel 
of God came down from heaven, who brought the plates and 
]aid thmu before their eyes. "Ah, but,'' says our opponent., 
"what an easy matter it wonld be for an impostor like Joseph 
Smith to conspire with three other men to fulfill the pro­
phecy?" Such a thing is quite supposable to ignorant per­
sons unacquainted with the matter, but Yery improbable under 
the circumstances as already shown. Or J osepb Smith might 
m?en have deceived three men had he shown them the plates 
himself; but not all the impostors in the world could bring an 
angel down from heaven, or cause the Lord to declare with His 
own voice that the plates were translated by llis gift and 
power. In this is the utter impossibility. As we have before 
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shown these t hree men under all circumstances haYe borne one 
continuous, undeviating testimony that they snw the angel and 
heard the voice, and that their testimony in the Book of ~Iormon 
is true. No amount of sophistry can persuade the sincere inYes­
tigator into these matters that Joseph Smith had sufficient cun­
ning and dexterity, even if he bad appliances, to deceive these 
three men into the belief that t 11ey had actually seen an angel 
descend from heaven and present them the plates for their exan1 i­
nation. This is altogether too great a stretch for the imagina· 
tion of an ordinarily sane person. 

It is more difficult to select isolated passages from the pro­
phecies of tlte Book of l\Iormon than from those of the Bible; 
for as a general thing t hey arc so intimately associated with 
the context that their force, power and meaning are surprisingly 
weakened when quoted alone. Among the prophecies of 1'Ior· 
mon' s record that are partially fulfilled or arc now in process of 
fulfillment may be mentioned those relating to-

The carrying of the Book itself t.o the Indians, and their 
acceptance of its truths. 

The beginning of the gathering of the Jews to their ancient 
home in Canaan. 

The establishment of Christ's Church, and the spilling of 
the blood of the Saints by the wicked. 

The great increase of corruption among those who reject the 
gospel message. 

The formation of numerous powerful secret societies for the 
purpose of murder, plunder and gain, and for the overthrowal 
of governments and nations. 

We append a few of these prophecies: 

"And now behold, I sar unto you, that when the Lord shall 
see fit, in His wisdom, that these saying:s shall come forth unto 
the Gentiles, according to His word t hen ye may know that 
the covenant which the Father hath made with the children of 
Israel, concerning their restoration to the lands of t heir inher­
itance, is already beginning to be fulfilled'' (III. l\~ephi 
xxix. 1 ). 

"And then shall the work of the Father commence at that 
day, even when this gospel shall be preached among the rem­
nant of this people [the Indiansl. Verily I say unto you, at 
that day shall the work of the Father commence among all the 
dispersed of my people; yea, even the tribes which bu ve been 
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lost, which the Father hath led away out of Jerusalem. Yea, 
the work sha.ll commence among all the dispersed of my 
people, with the Father, to prepare the way whereby they may 
c01ue unto me, that they may call on the Father in my name. 
Yea, and then shall the work commence, with the Father 
among all nations1 in })reparing the way whereby His people 
may be gathered home to the land of their inheritance. And 
they shall go out from all natio11s; and they shall not go out in 
haste, nor ~o by flight~ for 1 will go before them, saith the 
Father, and I will be their rearwar<l 1' ( Ill. l{ephi xxi. 26-i9 ). 

''And there are also secret combinations, even as in times of old, 
according to the combinations of the devil, for he is the foun· 
dation of all these things; yea, the foundation of murder, and 
works of darkness, yea, and he leadeth them by tlie neck with 
a flaxen cord. until he bindeth them with his strong cords for 
ever" (IL 1.\Tephi xxvi. 22). 

' \And whatsoever nation shal1 uphol<l such secret combina­
tions, to get power and gain, until they shall spread over the 
nation, behold, they shall be destroyed, for the Lord will not 
suffer that the blood of His Saints, which shall be shed by 
them, shall always cry unto Him from the ground for vengeance 
upon them, and yet He a \·cnge them not; 

" 'Vherefore, 0 ye Gentiles, it is wisdom in God that these 
things should be shewn unto you, that thereby ye may repent 
of your sins, and suffer not that the~e 1nurderous combinations 
shall get above you, which are built up to get power and gain, 
and the work, yea, even the work of destruction come upon 
you, yea, even the sword of the justice of the eternal God shall 
fall upon you. to your o,·erthrow and destruction, if ye shall 
suffer these things to be ; 

' · \Vherefore the L ')rd commandeth you, wh .nyeshall see these 
things come among you, that ye shall awake to a sense of your 
awful situation, because of this secret corn bination which shall 
be among you, or wo be unto it, beeause of the blood of them 
who have been slain ; for they cry from the dust for vengeance 
upon it, and also upon those who built it up. 

' lFor it cometh to pass that whoso buildeth it up, seeketh to 
overthrow the freedom of all lands, nations, and countries; aod 
it bringeth lo pass the destruction of all people, for it jg 
built up by the <levil, who is the father of all lies; even t hat 
same liar who beguiled our first parents ; yea, even that same 
liar who bath caused man to commit murder from the begin· 
ning ; who hath hardened the h earts of men, that they have 
murdered the prophets. and stoned them, and cast them out 
frcm the beginning" (Ether viii. 2~-:!5 ). 

l'And no one need say, They shall not come, for they surely 
shall, for the Lord hath spoken it ; for out of the earth shall 
they come, by the hand of the Lord, and none can stay it; and 
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it shall come in a day when it shall be said that miracles are 
done away; and it shall come eYen as if one should speak 
from the dead. 

"And it shall come in a day when the blood of the Saints 
shall cry unto the Lord, becau~e of secret combinations and 
the works of darkness; 

'~Yea, it shall come in a <lay when the power of God shall 
be denied, and churches become defiled, and shall be lifted up 
in the pride of their hearts; yea, eYen in a day when leailers 
of churches, and teachers, in the pride of their hearts: e,en to 
the envying of them who belong to their churches" (Jfc,rmon 
viii 26-~8 ). 

" Yea, why do you build up your secret aLominations to get 
gain, and cause that widows should mourn before the Lord, and 
also orphans to mourn before the Lord ; and also the blood of 
their fathers and their husbands to err unto the Lord from the 
ground, for vengeance upon your heads? 

'· Behold, the sword of '"cugeance hangeth over you; and the 
time soon cometh that He u,·en_geth the blood of the Saints 
upon you, for He will not suffer their cries any longer'' (1llonnon 
viii. 40-1 ). 

~ 

For further information on this subject we refer our readers 
to President George Q. Cannon's admirable " Life of Nephi," 
wherein the prophecies of that ancient worthy are considered 
in 1nuch detail, and with great care and plainness. 

In conclusion to sum up the internal evidence, we will adopt 
the words of Elder Orson Pratt: 

·'If the historical parts of the Book of ~Iormon be compared 
with what little is known from other sources concerning the 
history of ancient America, there will be found much evidence 
to substantiate its truth; but there cannot Le found one truth 
among all the gleanings of antiquity that clashes with the his­
torical truth of the Book of )Iormon. 

·'If the prophetical part of tbis wonderful book be compare<l 
with the prophetical declarations of the Bible, there will lJe 
found much evidence in the latter to establish the truth of the 
forn1er. But though there are many predictions in the Book 
of l\Iormon, relating to the great e,Tents of the last days, which 
the Bible gives us no information about, yet there is nothing in 
the predictions of the Bible that contradict in the least, the pre­
dictions in the Book of ~Iorn1011 

"If the doctrinal part of the Book of )Iormon be coruparcd 
with the doctrines of the Bible, tbere will be found the same 
perfect harmony which we find on the comparison of the pro­
phetical parts of the two books. Although there are many 
points of the doctrine of Christ that are iar more plain and 
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definite in the Book of l\Iormon than in the Bible, and many 
things revealed in relation to doctrine that never could be fully 
learned from the Bible, yet there are not any items of doctrine 
in the two sacred books that contradict each other or clash in 
the least. 

' 'If the various books which enter into the collection, called 
the Book of :\Iorn1on, be carefully compared with each other, 
there will be found not bing contradicting in history, in pro­
phecy, or in doctrine. 

" If the miracles of the Book of ~Iormon be compared with 
the miracles of the Bible, there cannot be found in the former 
any thing that would be more difficult to believe, than what we 
find in the latter. 

" If we compare the historical, prophetical and doctrinal 
parts of the Book of ~Iormon with the great truths of science 
and nature, we find no contradictions, no absurdities, nothing 
unreasonable. The most perfect harmony therefore exists 
between the _great truths reYealedl in the Book of l\1ormon and 
all known truths, whether religious, historial, or scientific.'' 

APPENDIX. 

MRS. MATILDA SPA ULDI~G MCKINSTRY'S ST AT EMENT REGARDING THE 11MANU• 

SCRIPT FOl;~D:" 

W ASIIINGTON, D. c. April 3rd. 1880. 

So much has been pnbfo;J1ed that- is erroneous concerning the ")Ianuscript 
Fournl," written by my father, the Rev. Solomon Spaulding, and its supposed 
connel'tion with the book ralled the :'.Iormon Bible, I have willingly consented 
to make the following statement regarding it, repeating all that I remember 
pen;onally <>f this manuscript, and all tbat is of importance which my mother 
r<'latetl to me in conne<·tion with it, at the same time affirming that I am in 
tolerable health and vigor, and that my memory, in common with elderly 
people, is cleare r in regard to the e,euu of my earlier years, rather than those 
of my maturer life. 

During the war of 1812, I was residing with my pa.rents in a little town in 
Ohio callecl Conneaut. I was then in my sixth year. My father was in busi­
ness there, and I remember bis iron foundry and the men he had at work, 
but that he reruaine<l at home most of the time, ancl was reading and writing 
a great deal. He frequently wrote little stories, which he read to me. There 
were some round mounds of earth near our house which greatly interested 
him, an<l be !o-aicl a tree on the top of one of them was a thousand years old. 
He set some of bis men to work digging into one of t hese mounds, and I 
vi'\"idly rememher how excited he became when he heard t.hit they had 
exhumed some human bones, portions of gigantic skeletons, and various relics. 
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Ile talked with my mother of these discoveries in the mound, and was writ­
ing e,ery day us the work progresse<l. Aftennrnl be r<'ad the mnnu ~cript 
which I had seen him writing, to the neighbors, and t o a clergyman, a friend 
of his who came to see him. S01ue of the names that he mentioned while 
reading to these people I have never forgotten. They are as fresh to me 
to-day as though I heard them yesterday. They were .,'1Iormon, .. 'f.1aronl, Lanum­
ite, Nephi. 

,ve removed from Conneaut to Piltshurg while I was still very young, but 
e,ery circumstance of this removal is (listinct in my memory. Ju that city 
my father had an intimate friend named Patterson, and I frequently ,isiteu 
Mr. Patterson's library with him, and heard my father talk alJout 
hooks with him. In 1$16 my fatllcr died at Amity, Pennsylvania, 
and directly a fter bis death my mother and myself wen t to dsit at the 
residence of my mother's brother, William II. Sabine, at Onondaga Yalley, 
Ono ndaga county, ~ew York. Mr. Sa.bine was a lawyer of distinction and 
wealth, and g reatly respected. 1Ye rarried all our personal effects with us, 
and one of these was an old trunk, in which my mother had placed all m y 
father's writings which had bet>n presen-ed. I perfectly remember the appear­
ance of this trunk, and of looking at its contents. There were sermon:s aml 
other papers, and I saw a manuscript about an inch thick, closely writt€n, 
tied with some of the stories my father bad written for me, one of which he 
called "The Frogs of 1Vynd ham." On t he outside of th is manuscript were 
written the words, "~Ianuscript F ound." I did not read it, but looked t hrough 
it and had it in my han<ls many times, and saw th e names I had hearu at 
Conneaut, when my father read it to bis frienus. I was about eleYen years of 

• age at this time. 
After we had been at ruy uncle's for some time, my mother left me t here 

anrl went to her father's house at P omfret, Connecticut, hut did not take h er 
furniture nor the old trunk of manuscript with her. In 1820 she married 
Mr. Da;dson, of H artwicks, a vilhige near Cooperstown, ~ ew York, and sent 
for the t bings she had left at Onon1.faga Yaney, and I remember that the old 
trunk, with its contents, reach her in safe ty. In 1828, I was married to Dr. 
A. McKinstry, of Hampden county, )lassachusetts, and went there to reside. 
Yery soon after my mother joined me there, and was with me most of the 
time until her lleath in 1844. ,ve heard, not long after she came to lh·c with 
me-I do not remember just how long-something of Mormonism, and t he 
report that it had been taken from my father's ")Ianuscript Found;" and 
then came to us direct an account of the )[ormon m eeting at Conneaut, Ohio, 
and that, on one occasion, when the )formon Bible was read the re in puhlic, 
my father's brother, .John Spaulding, ] [r. Lake anu many other persons who 
were present, at once recognizeu its similarity to the ".Manuscript Found," 
which they had beard read years before by my fat her in the same town.* 
1 here was a great deal of t alk and a great deal published at this t ime about 
Mormonism all o,er the country. I belie,e it was in 1834 that a man uamell 
Hurlburt came to my house at ~Ionson to see my mother, who told us that he 
ha<l been sent hy a committee to procure the ":Manuscript Found" written hy 
the Re,. Solomon Spaulding, so as to compare it with the Mormon Bible. H e 

'-- A gentleman who resided near Conneaut at tlrnt time sta.te<l, soon after 
the first publication of this story regarding Mr. John Spauhling, that he 
(J. S.) never lived in Conneaut to the writer's most positive knowledge. 
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i,resented a letter to my mother from my uncle, ,vm. H . Sabine, of Onondaga 
Valley, in which he requested her to loan tli i!~ manuscr1pt to Hurlburt, as h e (my 
mac1e) was desirou s " to U}Jroot" (as h e e:xpressed it ) "t his )Iormon fraud." Hurl­
lm1i represe11ted that be lsa<l l,een a co1n·ert to )fonnonism, hut had given it 
up, and through tlie ")1anu~<:ript F ound" wished to expose its wickedness. 
:\Jy mot her was careful to barn me with her in all tl1e conversations she h ad 
witL H urlburt, who spent a day at my h ouse. She ~lid n ot like his arapear­
ance, and mist ru,;ted hi::; 1nc",t i res, but h,l\·i ug great n :spett for h er brot he t's 
wbbes aud OJ>inio n=--, she re]u<:tautly con:-entcu to his reqne:-t. 'l'he ()1'} trunk , 
containing the <leisired "){anuscript F ouHd," ~he had 1,laced hi the care of 
)Ir. Jer,Jme ('Ja.rk, 11 f H art wicks, when she came tcJ )lonson , intending to 
send for it. 11n the re1,eated 1,ro1ui.,;e 1Jf H urlburt to r etunl the 111anuscript 
to us, ~he ga,·e him a letter to ) I r. ('Jark to open t lw trunk and deli Yer it to 
him. W e afterward h eard that he had rt><·eived it from )Ir. Clark, at Hart­
wick~, hu t from that time we ha,·e never ha<l it in our possession, and I h ave 
n1J present kuowlerlge of i ts exist~nce, Hur11)Lfft u e Yer returning it or 
a n~wering letters request ing him to do so. Two year:-- ago l l1 eard he was 
st i1l living iu Ohio, and with my eonsent h e wa~ a:--ked fo r the ".Mauuscript 
F onnd." H e rna<le no re:--p rrn:-e. alt ho1:gh we have e vidence that he received 
the letter containing tl1c reque:--t. So far I h ave stated facts within rny 
k B CJ w ledge. )f y 1rnJther me11 t io11ed Ill an y othe r ci rcu m sta D C'e:-,; to me iu ('On­

ueet iou with tlJis subject whid1 arc· i11tc1 e:-;ting, <> f my fa t he r':- literary rnste:-;, 
h i:,; fine education an,t peculiar temperamellt. S h e ~t a t<·d t o rne that she h a<l 
heard tl1e lllanuscript a lluded to read 1,y rny fathe r, was fa111iliar with its con­
tt.>nt~, aud s li e d eeply regretted that lH.'r husband, as she li<•liPn~d, hau in110 · 

ceutly l.wen the 111Pans fJf fur11bhing :natter fo r a relig ious uelusion. RIH.' 
sai«l that my father loaw•,l this '')lanusc1'i1,t Found" to )I r. Patte rson, of 

l 'ittsburg, a))(l that when l1e retnr11t>d it to my fatb ,•r, he :-~i<l: "Polish it up, 
fini:-.h it, awl yon will rnake mo1wy out <Jf it." :,\Jy rnoth er confirmed 111 y 
r em~rnbrances of my fat lie r ':; fornlne:-s for history, and told m e of his fJ e­
quent eu11vc·r:--ations reganliug a thl'o17 which he h a<l of a pi ehi:;toric rac·e 

w liic::11 liad il1hahited this cu11ti1Je11t, e t c., all showing that liis mind dwelt on 
tlti;; sul,jeet. The C:)falluseriJJt Fu1111d ," :-;lie :--ai<l, wn., a romance writte n in 
Bil,lkul :-,tyle, awl that wliile :".'he !ward it read :-h (' had 1111 .,1,cdal mltufration 
fur it 111ore tlia11 ot lier r<J111 a11('c:- lw wrote awl read to lwr. \Ye ueYer, either 
•>f us, ever isa w, or in a 11y way co11iruu11ic·atc,l wit h tl1 e :'.\lorn1011s, :::a,·e Ilur ]­
Lurt, as ab<ffe c.l~:-crilw1l; autl while l\'l' han· 1w fil'rs1111al knowledge t hat t he 
)lurrnou B iblt: wa:- tak(· n fn,w tl11..· " )L11111~cri1,1 Fouwl," there are rnany evi­
d t"nt·c:- to us tliat it wa-; awl t liat lf 11rlln1r t awl others at thet irne thoug htso . 
.A ccrnvincing proc,fto u~ tJf t li b lJ1:li1·t"wa., that my u 1wle, William JI. 8ahine, 
had 1111tl11uht•·<lly read tlw 111anu ..... cri1,t wliile it was i11 lib 11011:--c, a ud hi:s faith 
tliat ib prodrn:t.iuu would :--111,w to t he wurld that thc)lormonBil,le had been 
takl'u fr<J1t1 it, 11r wa., the :-;a111e with :-Jig-ht altL·ruti<•IJi. I liave fre(1uent ly 
a11:-we1·t>d 411e:-tio11:- that li:n·e l,ee11 a:-k1·cl 1,y dill'l·re11t J1trsons rt•gardi ug the 
" )la 1111:-criJ,t }-'.,uwJ.'' but m1til 1111w lrn'"~ Jll'Yer lll ade a s taterne11i at 
lcugth for pul.,licatiou. 

l~ignt-cl) )L :-:. )kKI~S fRY. 

:,,won1 anu sub:--cril,,.,t to l,efore 111e t hi:s 3rd clay vf April , A. D. 1880, at t he 
city of Waslii11gtu11, lJ. C. 

C H ARLES W .\LTl!:R, ~otary Pu1lic. 




